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“D&O Defendants”), by and through their attorneys of record, HOLLAND & HART LLP, hereby 

submit this Reply in support of their Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint for 

Damages filed by Plaintiff Daniel E. Wolfus (“Wolfus” or “Plaintiff”) pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1), 

(2) and (5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure (“NRCP”). 

DATED this 2nd day of May 2018. 
 

 
 

By __/s/ David J. Freeman__________________ 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
David J. Freeman, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134     
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 
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REPLY MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

Defendants’ Motion conclusively demonstrated that the Plaintiff’s Second Amended 

Complaint should be dismissed for failure to state a claim.  Plaintiff’s Opposition reflects a 

desperate attempt to avoid dismissal of his meritless claims.  Unable to articulate a reasoned 

response to the legal arguments presented in the Motion, Plaintiff’s Opposition consists primarily 

of cutting and pasting the factual allegations from the Second Amended Complaint, and offering 

conclusory arguments that he has sufficiently pled the elements of each claim.  Plaintiff ignores 

many of the arguments presented in the Motion, the Opposition is replete with misstatements 

regarding Defendants’ positions, and Plaintiff badly misconstrues and misrepresents the holdings 

of the cases he relies on to oppose the Motion. 

The Motion should be granted because (1) Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that his 

breach of fiduciary duty claims are direct as opposed to derivative under the direct harm test in 

the Parametric Sound Corp. decision, as the harm suffered by Defendants’ alleged failure to 

disclose material facts was the loss in company value; (2) Plaintiff cannot avoid the plain language 

of the California securities law statute that provides that the exercise of a right to purchase stock 

is not a purchase or sale under the statute; (3) California law does not govern the fraud and 

negligent misrepresentation claims, and Plaintiff cannot show that either Nevada or British 

Columbia would recognize Plaintiff’s holder claims; (4) Plaintiff’s fraud and misrepresentation 

claims fail independently for failure to sufficiently plead reliance and causation (among others); 

and (5) Nevada lacks personal jurisdiction over the D&O Defendants other than Mr. Yu. 

Because Plaintiff has tried and failed in three opportunities to assert viable legal claims 

against the Defendants, the Court should dismiss the Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”) with 

prejudice. 

/// 

/// 
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II. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiff’s Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Aiding and Abetting Claims are 

Derivative. 

As with his initial Opposition, Plaintiff offers no meaningful response to the arguments 

that the internal affairs doctrine applies or that British Columbia law requires leave from the 

British Columbia Supreme Court to assert any derivative claims against the officers and directors 

of Midway.1  EDCR 2.20(e).  Nor does Plaintiff cite to any British Columbia law that would 

support the assertion of his breach of fiduciary duty claims.   

Instead, Plaintiff offers the conclusory argument that his claims are direct, not derivative, 

because “if there is a recovery, damages would go to Wolfus for money lost in purchasing and 

holding his stock, not to the corporation.”  Opp. at Sec. III.B.2  But Plaintiff clearly 

misunderstands the Parametric Sound Corp. decision.  The Nevada Supreme Court found that to 

distinguish between direct and derivative claims, Nevada “courts should consider only ‘(1) who 

suffered the alleged harm (the corporation or the suing stockholders, individually); and (2) who 

would receive the benefit of any recovery or other remedy (the corporation or the stockholders, 

individually)?’” 401 P.3d at 1100, 1107-08 (quoting Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin, & Jenrette, 

Inc., 845 A.2d. 1031, 1033 (Del. 2004)).   Plaintiff’s simplistic argument that he lost money in 

purchasing and holding stock and therefore he would receive any recovery is entirely without 

merit.  Plaintiff still alleges that the directors and officers failed to report negative information 

regarding Midway’s Nevada operations, and that the value of Plaintiff’s stock diminished as a 

result.  SAC ¶ 65, 66, 86, 95, 96.  Accordingly, the harm suffered by the D&O Defendants’ 

omission of alleged material facts was a loss in the value of Midway stock.  But this Court 

                                                 
1 As discussed in the Motion, Nevada recognizes the internal affairs doctrine, which requires that 
British Columbia law applies (Mot. at 8-9), and Plaintiff’s derivative claims fail to satisfy two 
separate and necessary preconditions for bringing an action on behalf of a British Columbian 
corporation: (1) providing notice to the directors prior to initiating the action; and (2) obtaining 
judicial permission from the Supreme Court of British Columbia to bring the derivative action 
prior to filing suit.  Mot. at 9 (citing BCA §§ 232 & 233). 
2 Because Plaintiff did not number his pages in the Opposition, Defendants can only cite to the 
Sections of the Opposition brief. 
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previously analyzed these same claims and correctly determined that in applying the direct harm 

test in Parametric, the company suffered the alleged harm and any benefit recovered based upon 

the non-disclosure of the 2013 and 2014 “Undisclosed Facts” would be recovered by all of the 

company’s shareholders. See Order Granting Defs.’ Mot. to Dismiss Am. Compl. Without 

Prejudice (filed Jan. 5, 2018).  Nothing in the Second Amended Complaint or in the Opposition 

changes this Court’s analysis.  Because Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claims are still 

derivative in nature, Plaintiff lacks standing to assert them.   

Plaintiff’s reliance upon Citigroup v. AHW Investment, 140 A.3d 1125 (Del. 2016) is 

entirely misplaced.  In that case, the court merely determined that the direct harm test in Tooley 

did not apply in determining whether the plaintiff’s “holder” claims were direct or derivative 

because both New York and Florida state law provided that holder claims belong to the 

stockholder and not the corporation.  But the Citigroup court was not analyzing breach of 

fiduciary duty claims, but rather “holder” claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation.  

Plaintiff’s improper conflation of the arguments concerning breach of fiduciary duty and “holder” 

claims—whether intentional or not—must be rejected.3  The breach of fiduciary duty claims in 

the SAC still seek recovery for the diminution in value that the company—and in turn all 

stockholders—would have suffered from the D&O Defendants’ alleged failure to disclose 

material facts, which means they are derivative under the direct harm test adopted in Parametric. 

Plaintiff’s effort to isolate himself from the harm suffered by all shareholders fails. Feldman v. 

Cutaia, 951 A.2d 727, 733 (Del. 2008) (“Where all of a corporation’s stockholders are harmed 

and would recover pro rata in proportion with their ownership of the corporation’s stock solely 

because they are stockholders, then the claim is derivative in nature.”); Lee v. Marsh & McLennan 

Companies, Inc., 17 Misc. 3d 1138(A), 856 N.Y.S.2d 24 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2007) (holding that the 

wrong is “entirely derivative, since [a]ny devaluation of stock is shared collectively by all the 

shareholders, rather than independently by the plaintiff or any other individual shareholder.”).  

Consequently, Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty claims are derivative and should be dismissed. 

                                                 
3 Plaintiff’s holder claims fail independently for the reasons set forth in the Motion and Section 
II.C, infra. 
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B. The California Securities Law Claim Still Fails as a Matter of Law 

As we explained in detail in the Motion, Plaintiff’s California securities law claim fails 

because Plaintiff cannot allege any misrepresentation by the D&O Defendants “in connection 

with a purchase or sale of a security.”  Mot. at 13-16.  Plaintiff’s Opposition argues that because 

Plaintiff “twice bought Midway stock in California directly from Midway,” and “paid money for 

the shares,” the transaction constitutes “a sale of a security for value” and he has a viable 

California securities law claim.  Opp. at Sec. III.B.  But Plaintiff’s “purchases” were actually 

exercises of stock options, as demonstrated by Plaintiff’s allegations and as reflected in the Form 

4s. See SAC ¶¶ 66, 87; Mot. Exs. I, J.  Under the plain language of the California statute, purchases 

and sales of stock options are deemed to occur at the time the stock options are granted, not at the 

time the options are later exercised.  CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(e).  That provision explicitly 

states that: 
 
Every sale or offer of a warrant or right to purchase or subscribe to 
another security of the same or another issuer, as well as every sale 
or offer of a security which gives the holder a present or future right 
or privilege to convert the security into another security of the same 
or another issuer, includes an offer and sale of the other security only 
at the time of the offer and sale of the warrant or right or convertible 
security and neither the exercise of the right to purchase or 
subscribe or to convert nor the issuance of securities pursuant 
thereto is an offer or sale.  

Id. (emphasis added).4  Plaintiff frivolously argues that “[a] buy of Midway common stock (by 

exercise of an option) does not fall into the wording of the exception.” Opp. Sec. III.B.  But 

Plaintiff provides no analysis explaining how his acquisition of the Midway stock options does 

not fall squarely within the language of Section 25017. Nor do the cases upon which he relies 

support such a proposition.5  D&O Defendants are not required to offer case law to support the 

                                                 
4 A stock option clearly fits within this definition. See https://thelawdictionary.org/option/ (“An 
option is a privilege existing in one person, for which he has paid money, which gives him the 
right to buy certain merchandise or certain specified securities from another person, if he chooses, 
at any time within an agreed period, at a fixed price, or to sell such property to such other person 
at an agreed price and time.”) (emphasis added). 
5 Contrary to the statement in Plaintiff’s Opposition (Sec. III.B), the California Supreme Court in 
Stormedia v. Superior Court, 976 P.2d 214 (Cal. 1999), neither cited to nor discussed Section 
25017(e). The court did address Section 25400(e), but that section is completely irrelevant to the 
exercise of stock options and therefore does not support Plaintiff’s argument here. 
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plain language of the statute.  Because Plaintiff acquired his stock options in 2009 (see Mot. Exs. 

I, J) and there is no allegation of any misrepresentation in connection with his acquisition of the 

options in 2009, Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted and the California 

securities law claim must be dismissed. 

Nor does the Second Amended Complaint sufficiently allege that the D&O Defendants 

made specific statements upon which Plaintiff supposedly relied.  Instead, Plaintiff merely alleges 

in conclusory fashion, and without any factual support, that “defendants caused Midway to make 

material misstatements of fact.” SAC ¶ 1, 66, 87.  But there are no allegations of facts 

demonstrating that the D&O Defendants knew about the “2013 Undisclosed Facts” or the “2014 

Undisclosed Facts” or that Defendants knew they were false at the time those statements were 

supposedly made.  Further, there is no allegation that the D&O Defendants made any statements 

with the “intent to deceive or defraud” the Plaintiff. 

Plaintiff relies upon Arei II Cases, 216 Cal. App. 4th 1004, 1015, 157 Cal. Rptr. 3d 368, 

376 (2013) for the unremarkable proposition that officers and directors can be “secondary actors” 

who assist in a primary violation.  But the Arei II court found that the plaintiff in that case failed 

to sufficiently allege a securities fraud claim where the plaintiff did not provide specific 

allegations regarding the role of the defendants in the preparation or distribution of the private 

placement memorandum or facts showing that that it provided material assistance to the violation. 

Id.  Plaintiff’s claim suffers the same deficiencies here – Plaintiff does not allege the specific role 

of each of the D&O Defendants in preparing the public statements or allege how each D&O 

Defendant supposedly knew about the allegedly “Undisclosed Facts.”  Plaintiff merely alleges 

that the each of the Defendants “was responsible for insuring that Midway publicly disclosed all 

material information . . . .” SAC ¶ 64. But merely identifying their capacities is insufficient to 

demonstrate each of the D&O Defendants’ participation in preparing the public disclosures, their 

knowledge of the Undisclosed Facts, or their knowledge of the falsity or incompleteness of the 
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public disclosures.  Accordingly, Plaintiff has failed to allege facts sufficient to state a claim 

against any of the D&O Defendants.6 

Finally, as discussed in the Motion, the D&O Defendants cannot be secondary violators 

when Plaintiff cannot establish a primary violation by Midway.7  Because Plaintiff’s claims relate 

to his exercise of options which were granted in 2009, Plaintiff cannot allege a primary violation 

of Section 25501 by Midway, and therefore Plaintiff cannot state claims against the D&O 

Defendants for secondary liability under Sections 25403 or 25504. 

For these reasons, the California securities law claim must be dismissed, with prejudice. 

C. Plaintiff’s Fraud and Negligent Misrepresentation Claims Must Be 

Dismissed. 

As discussed at length in the Motion, Plaintiff’s fraud and negligent misrepresentation 

claims must be dismissed pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) for at least three reasons: First, California 

law does not apply to Plaintiff’s claims and neither Nevada nor British Columbia law recognizes 

holder claims. Second, even if the Court applies California law, Plaintiff’s fraud and negligent 

misrepresentation claims fail because Plaintiff has failed to show reliance or causation. Third, 

Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails to allege scienter on the part of the D&O Defendants. And fourth, 

Plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation claim fails because the D&O Defendants cannot 

negligently misrepresent omitted facts as a matter of law. 

 

 

/// 
 

                                                 
6 Nor can Plaintiff amend his complaint based upon a self-serving declaration submitted in 
Opposition to a Motion to Dismiss.  Barbera v. WMC Mortgage Corp., C 04-3738 SBA, 2006 WL 
167632, at *2 n.4 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 19, 2006) (“It is axiomatic that the complaint may not be amended 
by briefs in opposition to a motion to dismiss.”) (quoting Car Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 
745 F.2d 1101, 1107 (7th Cir. 1984)).  Accordingly, Plaintiff cannot rely on his declaration to 
correct deficiencies in the Second Amended Complaint. 
7 In arguing that privity is not required for a secondary violation, Plaintiff misses the point of the 
D&O Defendants’ argument regarding privity. The D&O Defendants’ argument is that Plaintiff 
cannot assert a claim against the D&O Defendants as primary violators under Section 25501 
because Plaintiff did not purchase the stock options from the D&O Defendants, and therefore there 
is no privity between Plaintiff and the D&O Defendants. Mot. at 15-16. 
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1. California Law Does Not Apply to the Fraud and Negligent 

Misrepresentation Claims and the Court Should Not Recognize Holder 
Claims. 

Plaintiff argues that California law governs his common law fraud claims, but fails to offer 

any analysis refuting the well-settled case law in the Motion demonstrating that under Nevada 

law, the internal affairs doctrine applies.  In doing so, Plaintiff grossly misrepresents that 

Defendants do not “argue against application of California law on the inducement to purchase 

part of the claim.”8  Opp. at Sec. III.E.  In fact, the Motion says the exact opposite. See Mot. at 

18:10-11 (“because Midway is a Canadian corporation Canadian substantive law governs 

Plaintiff’s fraud and misrepresentation claims, not California law.”) (emphasis added).  

Plaintiff has failed entirely to respond to the D&O Defendants’ analysis in the Motion 

demonstrating that the internal affairs doctrine requires application of Canadian law here. 

Nor does Plaintiff dispute that the vast majority of jurisdictions in the United States refuse 

to recognize “holder” claims for a variety of reasons, including because such claims are too 

speculative.  E.g., Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 421 U.S. 723, 734-735, 95 S. Ct. 

1917, 44 L. Ed. 2d 539 (1975) (refusing to recognize holder claims under federal securities law, 

primarily due to their speculative nature and difficulties in proof); Rivers v. Wachovia Corp., 665 

F.3d 610, 619 (4th Cir. 2011) (holding that holder claims are “too speculative to litigate” as they 

“involve only a hypothetical transaction”); The Calibre Fund, LLC v. BDO Seidman, LLP, 2010 

WL 4517099 at *5 (Conn. Super. 2010) (“A decision not to sell but to hold onto securities may 

be regrettable, but such decisions must always be made without the power of hindsight... . failure 

to sell claims are ‘too speculative to be actionable”); WM High Yield Fund v. O’Hanlon, 2005 

WL 6788446 at *13 (E.D. Pa. 2005) (“the Court declines to find that the Pennsylvania Supreme 

Court would find a cause of action in fraud for investors who were allegedly injured by holding 

securities”).  Plaintiff has cited no Nevada law, no British Columbia law, and no analysis of the 

laws of either jurisdiction suggesting that either would recognize holder claims.  And this Court 

                                                 
8 Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint alleges that his fraud claim is based upon Small v. Fritz, 
30 Cal. 4th 167, 171, 65 P.3d 1255 (Cal. 2003). SAC ¶ 128.  Although Small concerned only a 
holder claim—not a fraud in the inducement claim, Defendants’ arguments in the Motion apply to 
both the fraudulent inducement and holder aspects of Plaintiff’s fraud claim. 
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should decline the invitation to legislate new Nevada law (or British Columbia law) by 

recognizing such speculative holder claims.9 

2. Plaintiff’s Holder Claims Fail to Sufficiently Allege Reliance and 

Causation10 

Even if the Court were to find that California law applies to the fraud and negligent 

misrepresentation claims, the claim is still subject to dismissal because Plaintiff’s Complaint fails 

to allege reliance and causation necessary to support the claims.  Even in those jurisdictions, like 

California, which recognize holder claims, the courts have specifically recognized the risk of 

meritless and vexatious strike suits, and expressly limited “holder claims” to “stockholders who 

can make a bona fide showing of actual reliance upon the misrepresentations.” E.g. Small, 30 Cal. 

4th at 184-85. The Small court found that to allege specific reliance, a plaintiff must allege “for 

example, that if the plaintiff had read a truthful account of the corporation's financial status the 

plaintiff would have sold the stock, how many shares the plaintiff would have sold, and when 

the sale would have taken place.” Id. (emphasis added). The court also found that a plaintiff 

“must allege actions, as distinguished from unspoken and unrecorded thoughts and decisions, that 

would indicate that the plaintiff actually relied on the misrepresentations.” Otherwise, the plaintiff 

would “not stand out from the mass of stockholders who rely on the market....” Id. 

Similarly, in Anderson, the district court on remand dismissed the plaintiff’s holder claim 

because he did not “sufficiently explain when exactly he relied on th[e] representations; how 

many [] shares he would have sold, had he known of the company's financial troubles; or when 

he would have executed that sale.” Anderson, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 111217, at *19 (N.D. Ill. 

                                                 
9 Plaintiff also states that Defendants have “dropped the claim that the common law fraud claim 
was derivative.” Opp. Sec. III.E.  Not so.  While Citigroup v. AHW Investment, 140 A.3d 1125 
(Del. 2016) observed that holder claims are direct under New York and Florida state law, other 
courts have found such fraud claims to be derivative in nature. E.g., Rivers v. Wachovia Corp., 
665 F.3d 610, 616 (4th Cir. 2011) (plaintiff’s claim that he was induced to continue to hold his 
Wachovia shares through a price decline was derivative because such losses were “common to all 
Wachovia shareholders during the credit crisis”); Arent v. Distribution Sciences, Inc. 975 F.2d 
1370, 1373-74 (8th Cir. 1992) (same). The Court need not address the issue here because Plaintiff’s 
fraud claim fails for several independent reasons. 
10 As discussed in the Motion, Plaintiff’s exercises of stock options are not covered by the Small 
decision because the exercise of stock options is an acquisition, not a holding, of shares. Mot. at 
17. 
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Sept. 29, 2011).  On a second appeal, the Seventh Circuit affirmed dismissal with prejudice for 

failure to “explain how [plaintiff] could have avoided a loss on the shares he held, had [defendant] 

made an earlier disclosure.” Anderson v. Aon Corp., 674 F.3d 895, 897 (7th Cir. 2012). 

Plaintiff alleges that he “carefully followed the public announcements and filings by 

Midway.” SAC ¶ 87.  But the Second Amended Complaint still does not specifically allege when 

he decided to hold his stock; what specific information he relied on regarding the company’s 

statements in order to hold his stock; what his plan was for selling the stock; how many Midway 

shares he would have sold if he had known the “Undisclosed Facts;” or when he would have 

executed each such sale.  And, not surprisingly, Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint (and the 

Opposition) fails to allege any facts demonstrating how Plaintiff would have known to sell his 

shares at Midway’s February 2014 peak. SAC ¶ 106; Chanoff v. U.S. Surgical Corp., 857 F. Supp. 

1011, 1018 (D. Conn. 1994) (“plaintiffs have not alleged cognizable loss because plaintiffs cannot 

claim the right to profit from what they allege was an unlawfully inflated stock value”). Unable 

to present such particularized allegations of reliance and causation, Plaintiff must stand with the 

millions of other stockholders—including the D&O Defendants—who lost money when 

Midway’s declared bankruptcy in 2015.  Plaintiff’s claim should be dismissed with prejudice. 

3. Plaintiff’s Fraud Claim Fails For Lack of Scienter. 

 Plaintiff’s fraud claim fails for the additional and independent reason that he has failed to 

plead scienter by the D&O Defendants.  Plaintiff argues that paragraphs 105 and 110 of the SAC 

adequately plead scienter. Opp. Sec. III.A.5. But paragraph 110 makes only the conclusory 

allegation that “the failure by the 2014 Control Defendants to disclose the 2014 Undisclosed Facts 

was intentional and done to encourage investors to retain and purchase Midway’s common stock.” 

SAC ¶ 110.  While Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint identifies “Undisclosed Facts” 

allegedly known by the D&O Defendants but not disclosed to the public generally or to him (SAC 

¶¶ 64, 65, 66, 70, 86), Plaintiff does not allege how the D&O Defendants knew of the Undisclosed 

Facts or how they had knowledge of any alleged misrepresentations in the public statements that 

were made.  Nor does Plaintiff allege with particularity how each of these particular alleged 

omissions contributed to Midway’s filing of bankruptcy—as opposed to constituting mere 
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mismanagement of Midway.  Of course, Midway’s mismanagement in connection with the 

operation of the Pan Mine cannot support fraud (or negligent misrepresentation) allegations in a 

holder action. See Anderson, 614 F.3d at 367 (explaining that any alleged fraud merely “deferred 

the time when the stock’s price accurately reflected the value of Aon’s business”). 

4.  The Negligent Misrepresentation Claim Fails Because the D&O 

Defendants Could Not Negligently Misrepresent Omitted Facts. 

Plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation claim fails because Plaintiff has not alleged false 

statements of fact made by the D&O Defendants, but rather that they omitted certain “Undisclosed 

Facts.”  Specifically, the SAC merely lists certain “Undisclosed Facts” allegedly known by the 

D&O Defendants but not disclosed to the public generally or to Plaintiff (SAC ¶¶ 65, 66, 70, 86).  

But there are no allegations regarding which statements, if any, in Midway’s press releases and 

SEC filings are false or misleading. Nor does Plaintiff sufficiently alleged how any Defendant 

made such alleged misrepresentations of a past of existing material fact “without reasonable 

ground for believing it to be true.” In his Opposition, Plaintiff argues that paragraph 63 alleges 

that Midway issued a press release regarding the Record of Decision for the Pan project. See Opp. 

Sec. III.F.  But the SAC does not allege that this press release contained false statements. Nor 

does Plaintiff allege that the other public statements listed in the SAC were false.  However, 

California law—upon which Plaintiff purportedly relies to support his claim—requires a “positive 

assertion” by the defendant to sustain a claim for negligent misrepresentation.  Wilson v. Century 

21 Great Western Realty, 15 Cal. App. 4th 298, 306, 18 Cal. Rptr. 2d 779 (1993); Byrum v. Brand, 

219 Cal. App. 3d 926, 942, 268 Cal. Rptr. 609 (1990).  Because Plaintiff does not allege the D&O 

Defendants made a false representation, but rather omitted material facts, the claim for negligent 

misrepresentation should be dismissed. Gentry v. eBay, Inc., 99 Cal. App. 4th 816, 835, 121 Cal. 

Rptr. 2d 703 (2002) (“An essential element of a cause of action for negligent misrepresentation 

is that the defendant must have made a misrepresentation as to a past or existing material fact.”) 

(citation omitted). 

/// 

///   
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D. The Court Should Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint With 

Prejudice. 

Plaintiff has now had three opportunities to properly plead a claim upon which relief can 

be granted.  Each time he has failed, and he has not demonstrated in the Opposition facts sufficient 

to show that he can plead legally cognizable claims. As discussed above, Plaintiff’s Complaint 

does not suffer from mere “technical pleading arguments”—Plaintiff’s claims fail as a matter of 

law. Courts have routinely dismissed complaints with prejudice where a plaintiff has been given 

an opportunity to correct the pleading deficiencies and has failed to do so. E.g., Anderson, 2011 

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 111217, at *19 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 29, 2011), aff’d, 674 F.3d 895 (7th Cir. 2012) 

(dismissing holder claims with prejudice).  The Court should dismiss the SAC with prejudice. 

E. The Court Should Dismiss the D&O Defendants For Lack of Personal 

Jurisdiction 

1. Plaintiff Concedes This Court Does Not Have General Jurisdiction Over 

the D&O Defendants. 

In the Opposition, Plaintiff contends this Court has general jurisdiction over a single D&O 

Defendant, Frank Yu. See Opp. Sec. IV.A. The Court’s general jurisdiction over Mr. Yu is not 

and has never been at issue before this Court.  The D&O Defendants specifically acknowledged 

the Court’s general jurisdiction with respect to Mr. Yu in the Motion.  See Mot. at 26 n.28.  

Nevertheless, the claims asserted against Mr. Yu are still ripe for dismissal because this Court 

lacks subject matter jurisdiction and the SAC fails to state a claim upon which relief may be 

granted. 

In the Motion, the non-resident D&O Defendants demonstrated that this Court should 

dismiss the SAC, pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2), because exercising personal jurisdiction over the 

nonresident D&O Defendants, other than Mr. Yu, would be improper and offend due process. 

See Mot. at 28:4-29:21.  Specifically, the D&O Defendants’ contacts with the form state are not 

so “‘continuous and systematic’ as to render [the defendant] essentially at home in the forum 

State.”  See also Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 342 P.3d 

997, 1002 (2015) (citing Viega GmbH v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 328 
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P.3d 1152, 1156-57 (2014) (quoting Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations, S.A. v. Brown, --- U.S. 

----, 131 S. Ct. 2846, 2851 (2011)) (emphasis added); see also Daimler AG v. Bauman, --- U.S. -

---, 134 S. Ct. 746, 761 (2014).  Because Plaintiff failed to respond entirely with respect to this 

issue (see generally Opp. Sec. IV.A.-B.), Plaintiff concedes this Court cannot exercise general 

jurisdiction over the remaining D&O Defendants.  See EDCR 2.20(e) (“Failure of the opposing 

party to serve and file written opposition may be construed as an admission that the motion and/or 

joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same.”).  Accordingly, the Motion should be 

granted and the SAC dismissed pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2). 

2. Plaintiff’s Contrived Personal Jurisdiction Standard is Fictitious, Not 

Recognized By the Supreme Court of Nevada and Impermissibly Broad. 

Plaintiff repeatedly misrepresents the scope of this Court’s personal jurisdiction in an 

attempt to cast an overly broad net to improperly reel the non-resident D&O Defendants into this 

action.  The Opposition is riddled with erroneous and misleading legal citations that do not 

support the propositions with which the citation is associated.  By way of example only, Plaintiff 

cites to Fulbright for the proposition that general jurisdiction exists when a party has simply 

“sustained contacts with the forum state” and specific jurisdiction exists when a non-resident has 

“minimum contacts with the forum state which are related to the complaint.”  Opp. Sec. IV. 

(emphasis added).  Similarly, Plaintiff cites to Trump v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 Nev. 

687, 700, 857 P.2d 740, 748 (1993), for the proposition that specific jurisdiction exists when a 

party “intentionally involves the forum.”  Id. (emphasis added); id. Sec. IV.B. (“Defendants 

intentionally involved Nevada.”).  As demonstrated in the Motion, neither Fulbright, Trump nor 

any other Nevada authority support these misleading propositions, which erroneously purport to 

expand the actual scope of this Court’s personal jurisdiction.11  Plaintiff is playing fast and loose 

                                                 
11 In Fulbright, the Supreme Court of Nevada recognized that a court may exercise general 
jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant only when its contacts with the forum state are so 
“‘continuous and systematic’ as to render [the defendant] essentially at home in the forum State.”  
Fulbright, 342 P.3d at 1001–02 (emphasis added). The standard for general jurisdiction is not, as 
Plaintiff contends, when “a party has sustained contacts with the forum state.” Opp. Sec. IV. The 
Supreme Court further recognized that, unlike general jurisdiction, specific jurisdiction is proper 
only where “‘the cause of action arises from the defendant's contacts with the forum.’” Id. at 
1002 (quoting Trump, 109 Nev. at 699, 857 P.2d at 748) (emphasis added).  The standard for 
specific jurisdiction is certainly not, as Plaintiff states, when the “minimum contacts with the 
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by making the representation that these standards were adopted by the Supreme Court of Nevada.  

Because Plaintiff’s contrived jurisdictional standards cannot serve to expand the scope of this 

Court’s jurisdictional powers by giving it authority to unjustly reach across this continent and pull 

the non-resident D&O Defendants into a Nevada courtroom, the Motion must be granted and the 

case dismissed for a lack of personal jurisdiction. 

3. The Cases Cited in the Opposition Demonstrate That This Court Lacks 

Specific Jurisdiction over the D&O Defendants. 

None of Plaintiff’s cited cases support the exercise of specific jurisdiction.  For example, 

the breach of fiduciary claims asserted by the former clients in Fulbright & Jaworski LLP v. 

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 342 P.3d 997 (2015) (“Fulbright I”) and Fulbright & Jaworski v. 

Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 2017 WL 1813958 (June 27, 2017) (“Fulbright II”), arose directly 

out of the investment meetings conducted in Nevada by the law firm’s attorney.  In this case, 

Plaintiff’s claims arise out of his alleged reliance upon purported material omissions contained in 

Midway’s SEC filings and press releases (see SAC ¶¶ 101, 106, 126, 127, 135, 136), which were 

entirely drafted in and issued from the state of Colorado where Midway’s principal place of 

business and executive offices are located and were received and purportedly acted upon by 

Plaintiff in the state of California (see SAC ¶ 1).  Because Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot 

allege, that any of the D&O Defendants’ allegedly tortious conduct (material omissions in public 

filings) took place in Nevada, the D&O Defendants are not subject to specific personal jurisdiction 

in Nevada. 

Similarly, in Trump v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 Nev. 687, 857 P.2d 740 (1993), 

the Court exercised specific jurisdiction over Trump because he and his agent actively pursued a 

future employee who lived in Nevada, negotiated an employment agreement with the employee 

over a period of months while the employee lived in Nevada, and set up a trust in Nevada as part 

of the agreement. Id. at 701-702.  The Court reasoned that because the action directly related to 

                                                 
forum state [] are related to the complaint” (Opp. Sec. IV) or “when a party intentionally involves 
a forum” (id.).  The standards recognized by the Supreme Court are significantly more narrow than 
those proffered by Plaintiff so as not to offend due process. 
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Trump’s contacts with Nevada and arose, in part, from the consequences of Trump’s conduct 

in Nevada, Trump should have reasonably anticipated being haled into court in Nevada.  Unlike 

in Trump, each of the Plaintiff’s claims arise out of his reliance upon purported material omissions 

contained in SEC filings and press releases drafted in and issued from the state of Colorado and 

received and purportedly acted upon by Plaintiff in the state of California.  Because none of the 

D&O Defendants’ allegedly tortious conduct took place in Nevada or was directed toward 

Nevada, the Court lacks specific jurisdiction over the D&O Defendants. 

Finally, in Consipio Holding, BV v. Carlberg, 282 P.3d 751 (2012), the Nevada Supreme 

Court held that Nevada courts can exercise personal jurisdiction over nonresident officers and 

directors who directly harm a Nevada corporation, reasoning that “[w]hen officer or directors 

directly harm a Nevada corporation, they are harming a Nevada citizen. By purposefully 

directing harm towards a Nevada citizen, officers and directors establish contacts with Nevada 

and affirmatively direct conduct toward Nevada.” Id., 128 Nev. at ___, 282 P.3d at 755 (emphasis 

added).  But Consipio does not support the exercise of specific jurisdiction here because Plaintiff 

is not a Nevada citizen and Midway is not a Nevada corporation.  Plaintiff, a California citizen, 

purports to assert direct claims against directors and officers, which makes the exercise of 

personal jurisdiction even more tenuous.12  Furthermore, the D&O Defendants did not perform 

any of the alleged wrongful acts in Nevada, but rather Colorado, where the purported material 

omissions were made in Midway’s SEC filings and press releases.  See SAC ¶¶ 101, 106, 126, 

127, 135, 136.  The only connection the D&O Defendants have to Nevada is attending the 

ceremonial groundbreaking of the Pan Mine and the occasional board meeting, which did not give 

                                                 
12 Even with respect to a Nevada corporation, mere affiliation with a Nevada operation is not 
enough to confer jurisdiction on nonresident defendants.  See Southport Lane Equity II, LLC v. 
Downey, 177 F. Supp. 3d 1286 (D. Nev. 2016).  In Southport Lane, the court concluded that 
accepting a position as an officer or director of a Nevada corporation does not demonstrate that a 
defendant has purposefully availed himself of the privilege of conducting activities within the 
forum state, and is thus insufficient to satisfy due process. 177 F. Supp. 3d at 1294.  The Court 
further concluded that “[s]ubjecting the directors or officers of a corporation to jurisdiction in any 
forum in which a corporation operates or is incorporated when the directors or officers have no 
personal contacts whatsoever with the forum state denies them due process protection.”  Id. 
Ultimately, “what matters most in this analysis is not the corporation’s own contacts with Nevada 
but the individual Defendants’ contacts with the State.” Id. (emphasis added). 
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rise to any of the claims asserted in the SAC. Because no Nevada corporation is involved in this 

suit and the D&O Defendants did not expressly aim any conduct at Nevada associated with 

Plaintiff’s allegations of wrongdoing, this Court has no specific jurisdiction and must dismiss the 

SAC. 

4. Plaintiff’s Claims Do Not Arise Out of Defendants’ Purported Forum-

Related Activity. 

Plaintiff’s self-serving declaration fails to make a prima facie showing of specific 

jurisdiction.  In the declaration, Plaintiff contends Blacketor and Moritz were “often in Nevada” 

as officers and/or directors of Nevada companies that were “involved with Midway and the Nevada 

gold mines.” See Opp. Sec. IV.B.  Plaintiff further declares that Blacketor, Newell, Sheridan, 

Sawchak, Knutson and Yu participated in various committees organized on behalf of the 

nonresident Midway Gold.  See id.  Lastly, Plaintiff declares that one or more of the D&O 

Defendants attended “frequent meetings,” fundraising events, project review meetings, BLM 

meetings with government officials, and board and staff meetings in Nevada.  Id.  But even if this 

Court assumes all of these allegations are true, this Court would still not have specific jurisdiction 

over the D&O Defendants because Plaintiff’s claims have absolutely nothing to do with (1) the 

D&O Defendants’ conduct as officers and/or directors of third-party Nevada entities, (2) the 

knowledge the D&O Defendants’ obtained from serving on committees or (3) the meetings the 

D&O Defendants’ purportedly attended in Nevada.  Trump, 109 Nev. at 699, 857 P.2d at 748 

(specific jurisdiction is proper only where “the cause of action arises from the defendant's contacts 

with the forum.”).  

The events that are the subject of this lawsuit are the purported material omissions made in 

Midway’s SEC filings and press releases (see SAC ¶¶ 101, 106, 126, 127, 135, 136), which were 

drafted and issued in Colorado and purportedly received by Plaintiff in California, not the Nevada 

actions of the D&O Defendants as executives of other, Nevada-based, non-party entities.  

Tellingly, Plaintiff does not even attempt to explain how the material omissions contained in the 

SEC filings and press releases “arose out of” the D&O Defendants’ conduct as executives of the 

Nevada entities, committee members or the meetings identified in the declaration. As a result, 
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Plaintiff failed to meet his burden of demonstrating his claims arise out of the D&O Defendants’ 

purported forum-related conduct.  Absent such evidence there is no basis for the exercise of 

specific jurisdiction, and dismissal of Plaintiff’s SAC must follow. 

F. Plaintiff’s Request For Jurisdictional Discovery Should Be Denied. 

Plaintiff’s request for discovery and an evidentiary hearing with respect to personal 

jurisdiction (see Opp. Sec. IV.C.) should likewise be denied.  As discussed above, Plaintiff’s 

theories of personal jurisdiction fail to support the exercise of personal jurisdiction as a matter of 

law.  Accordingly, discovery would serve no purpose. 

Moreover, Plaintiff has not identified any particular facts not currently available to him 

that would otherwise be relevant to any of the jurisdictional issues currently before the Court. 

stated above, even if Plaintiff were able to establish each of the theories identified above, such 

activities do not constitute the purposeful availment necessary to give rise to personal jurisdiction 

in Nevada. 

Jurisdictional discovery is proper only where a plaintiff “demonstrate[s] how further 

discovery would allow it to contradict the affidavits of [the defendant].”  Terracom v. Valley Nat’l 

Bank, 49 F.3d 555, 562 (9th Cir. 1995).  The plaintiff must “specify the discovery it would 

propound and how that discovery would lead to information that would help it overcome the 

jurisdictional deficiencies” in its case.  Baca Gardening & Landscaping, Inc. v. Prizm Vinyl Corp., 

2008 WL 4889030, at *6 (C.D. Cal. Nov. 12, 2008).  Jurisdictional discovery is not warranted 

where the parties “do not dispute pivotal facts bearing on the question of jurisdiction” and the 

plaintiff “fails to meet its burden of establishing a prima facie case of personal jurisdiction against 

[the defendant].”  Digitone Industrial Company, Ltd. v. Phoenix Accessories, Inc., 2008 WL 

2458194, at *3 (D. Nev. Jun. 13, 2008).   

Where, as here, a plaintiff fails to demonstrate that jurisdictional discovery would yield 

sufficient facts to support the exercise of jurisdiction, the request for jurisdictional discovery is 

properly denied.  See Forsythe v. Mukasey, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11755, at *9 n.5 (N.D. Cal. 

Feb. 17, 2009) (denying jurisdictional discovery where plaintiffs “have failed to identify a theory 

that, if established, would be sufficient to support a finding of either general or specific 
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jurisdiction”); Home Gambling Network, Inc. v. Betinternet.com, PLC, 2006 WL 1795554, at *5 

(D. Nev. June 26, 2006) (Dawson, J.) (jurisdictional discovery denied where it “would not 

demonstrate sufficient facts to constitute a basis for jurisdiction”); In re Dynamic Random Access 

Memory Antitrust Litig., 2005 WL 2988715, at *9 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 7, 2005) (denying 

jurisdictional discovery where “plaintiffs have made no showing that any sworn testimony 

presented by defendants is disputed, and have not pointed out the existence of any facts that, if 

shown, would warrant the exercise of personal jurisdiction”); Abraham v. Agusta, S.P.A., 968 F. 

Supp. 1403, 1411 (D. Nev. 1997) (denying jurisdictional discovery where requested discovery 

would not confer general jurisdiction).  Accordingly, Plaintiff’s request for jurisdictional 

discovery should be denied. 

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, and those expressed in the Motion, the Court should dismiss 

the claims asserted in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint with prejudice.  Alternatively, the 

Court should dismiss the Second Amended Complaint as to all of the D&O Defendants (other 

than Mr. Yu) for lack of personal jurisdiction. 

DATED this 2nd day of May 2018. 
 
 
 

By __/s/ David J. Freeman__________________ 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
David J. Freeman, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134     
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 
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served a true and correct copy of the foregoing D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
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Tel: (702) 272-0406 
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jim@jchristensenlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Daniel E. Wolfus 
 

Eric B. Liebman, Esq. 
MOYE WHITE LLP 
16 Market Square, 6th Floor 
1400 16th Street 
Denver, CO 80202 
Tel: (303) 292-7944 
Fax: (303) 292-4510 
eric.liebman@moyewhite.com 
 
Attorneys for Kenneth A. Brunk

Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. 
Christopher Miltenberger, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Pkwy Ste. 400 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
Tel:  (702) 792-3773 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Martin M. Hale, Jr. Trey 
Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC

 
 

  /s/ Valerie Larsen  
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MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; 
RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; 
JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A 
NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 
NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; 
EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25. 
 
                                      Defendants. 

 

 Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.:  XXVII 
 

REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 
DISMISS AND JOINDER TO D&O 
DEFENDANTS’ REPLY IN SUPPORT 
OF MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND 
AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
Date of Hearing: May 9, 2018 
Time of Hearing: 10:30 a.m. 
 
 
 
 

 Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 

EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC (collectively, the “Hale Defendants”), by and through 

their counsel of record, Greenberg Traurig LLP, hereby submit their Reply in Support of Motion 

to Dismiss and Joinder to D&O Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss Second 

Amended Complaint (the “Reply and Joinder”).   

Case Number: A-17-756971-B

Electronically Filed
5/2/2018 6:21 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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This Reply and Joinder is made pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(1), (2) and (5) and is based upon 

the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities set forth below and in the Hale 

Defendants’ Motion and Joinder, the D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss, the D&O 

Defendants’ Reply, the Declarations of Messrs. Hale, Anderson and Klein submitted in 

connection with the underlying Motion and Joinder, the other pleadings and papers file in this 

action, and any argument of counsel the Court may allow at the time of hearing. 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Try as he may, Plaintiff Daniel Wolfus (“Plaintiff”) failed to demonstrate how any of his 

claims against any of the defendants can survive the motion to dismiss stage. As articulated in all 

of the defendants’ moving papers and again in the D&O Defendants’ Reply, Plaintiff’s claims 

are each either plainly barred as a matter of law or are otherwise insufficiently pled. Even if 

those deficiencies were not fatal to Plaintiffs’ Second Amended Complaint (the “SAC”), which 

they are, Plaintiff has not satisfied his burden of demonstrating how the exercise of personal 

jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants would be reasonable or proper under these facts. 

For all of these reasons, Plaintiff’s SAC fails and it should be dismissed with prejudice.  

II. ANALYSIS 
 
A. Each of Plaintiff’s Claims Fail as a Matter of Law. 

As an initial matter, each of Plaintiff’s claims in his SAC are woefully deficient when 

viewed under the applicable law. Whether it is because his claims are improper derivative claims 

under Canadian law, his failure to plead an actual “sale” under California securities law, the 

impermissibility of his holder claims, or his simple failure to plead reliance, causation or 

scienter, among other reasons, each of Plaintiff’s claims fail as a matter of law. While Plaintiff 

attempted to ignore or otherwise sidestep the applicable law, the D&O Defendants concisely 

addressed all of Plaintiff’s legal shortcomings in its initial Motion, to which the Hale Defendants 

previously joined, as well as in their Reply, to which the Hale Defendants now join. In the 

interests of judicial economy, those arguments need not be repeated herein and, instead, the Hale 
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Defendants join each and every argument set forth in the D&O Defendants’ Reply pursuant to 

EDCR 2.20(d).  
 

B. Plaintiff Failed to Satisfy His Burden of Demonstrating that Exercise of Personal 
Jurisdiction Over Any of the Hale Defendants Is Reasonable or Proper. 

 

It is a bedrock principle that the exercise of personal jurisdiction over any defendant must 

be reasonable. Fulbright & Jaworski v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 342 P.3d 

997, 1001 (2015); Baker v. District Court, 116 Nev. 527, 532, 999 P.2d 1020, 1023 (2000). 

Plaintiff bears the burden of demonstrating the reasonable exercise of jurisdiction, “and the 

burden of proof never shifts to the party challenging jurisdiction.”  Trump v. District Court, 109 

Nev. 687, 693, 857 P.2d 740, 744 (1993).  While Plaintiff is correct in noting it is his burden to 

present “some evidence” to support jurisdiction, merely producing a conclusory, vague 

declaration is not enough to satisfy this standard. Rather, Plaintiff was required to produce “some 

evidence in support of all facts necessary for a finding of personal jurisdiction” and such 

presentation must be done through the introduction of “competent evidence of essential facts 

which establish a prima facie showing that personal jurisdiction exists.” Id., 109 Nev. at 693, 

857 P.2d at 743-44 (emphasis added; internal quotation and citation omitted).  Plaintiff failed on 

all accounts. 

Fulbright & Jaworski I is instructive as it demonstrates the steps a plaintiff must go in 

order to satisfy its burden of demonstrating the reasonable exercise of personal jurisdiction.  In 

Fulbright & Jaworski I, the plaintiff presented “some evidence” purportedly relating to the law 

firm defendant’s activities in Nevada, including pro hac vice applications and lobbyist 

registrations. 342 P.3d at 1002. The plaintiff in that case also presented evidence in the form of 

correspondence with individuals in Nevada and evidence of a firm representative’s participation 

in multiple investor presentations in Nevada.  Id., 342 P.3d at 1002-03. Despite this evidentiary 

presentation, certainly far more than a conclusory declaration from the plaintiff, the Nevada 

Supreme Court found this was not enough to even meet the “some evidence” standard upon 

which Plaintiff relies. Id., 342 P.3d at 1004-05. That is because, even when taken as a whole, that 
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evidence did not establish necessary, essential facts to support a prima facie showing of personal 

jurisdiction or its reasonableness. Id.   

In order to exercise specific personal jurisdiction1 over any of the Hale Defendants 

Plaintiff was required to present evidence sufficient to demonstrate facts supporting a prima face 

case that: (1) each defendant purposefully availed him or itself of the privilege of serving the 

market in the forum or of enjoying the protection of the laws of the forum; (2) plaintiff’s claim 

asserted in the complaint arises from each of the defendant’s purposeful contact with the forum 

state; and, (3) the exercise of jurisdiction as a result is reasonable under the circumstances.  

Budget Rent-A-Car v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 108 Nev. 483, 487, 835 P.2d 17, 20 (1992); 

see also Viega GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 328 P.3d 1152, 1157 

(2014).  As demonstrated in the Hale Defendants’ Motion, the declarations of Messrs. Hale, 

Klein, and Anderson attached thereto, and as highlighted below, Plaintiff has not presented this 

Court with “some evidence” sufficient to establish essential facts supporting the exercise of 

jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants, and dismissal is appropriate. 
 

1. Plaintiff’s SAC Must Be Dismissed as to the Investment Entities. 

Plaintiff’s Opposition is wholly silent with respect to any purported contacts that 

Defendants INV-MID, LLC, EREF-MID II, LLC, or HCP-MID, LLC (the “Investment Entities”) 

have with the State of Nevada or any argument as to how exercise of jurisdiction over any of 

them is reasonable. Such an intentional failure “may be construed as an admission that the 

motion and/or joinder is meritorious and a consent to granting the same.” EDCR 2.20(e). 

Nevertheless, even if the Court chose to look beyond the arguments raised in Plaintiff’s 

Opposition and try to create an argument for Plaintiff by reading between the lines of Plaintiff’s 

declaration, the factual allegations contained therein do nothing to save Plaintiff’s claims against 

these Investment Entities. 

                                                 
1 Plaintiff concedes that this Court cannot reasonably exercise general personal jurisdiction over 
any of the Hale Defendants. See Opp., p. 28. 

PA0972



 

5 
FTL 111728900v3 

G
R

E
E

N
B

E
R

G
 T

R
A

U
R

IG
, L

L
P

 
37

73
 H

ow
ar

d 
H

ug
he

s 
P

ar
kw

ay
, S

ui
te

 4
00

 N
or

th
 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

16
9 

T
el

ep
ho

ne
:  

(7
02

) 
79

2-
37

73
 

F
ac

si
m

il
e:

  (
70

2)
 7

92
-9

00
2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

At best, Plaintiff makes passing references to the Investment Entities in his declaration 

alleging that Hale, Klein and/or Anderson were “appointed a director” by the Investment Entities 

at various times. See Wolfus Decl., ¶ 47. Even if Hale, Klein or Anderson’s actions could be 

attributed to the Investment Entities under Plaintiff’s conclusory and unexplained agency theory, 

that would not render personal jurisdiction proper or reasonable under these circumstances. As 

set forth in the Hale Declaration attached as Exhibit A to the Hale Defendants’ Motion, the 

Investment Entities are sole-purpose entities formed for the purpose of making equity 

investments in Midway (a Canadian corporation) for which none of its members reside or 

otherwise conduct business in the State of Nevada.  Hale Defs.’ Mot., Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶¶17-

25. Most notably, Plaintiff does not allege, nor can he, that any of these Investment Entities were 

involved in any way in the disclosures made by Midway based on which all of Plaintiff’s claims 

arise.  As any purported contacts the Investment Entities may have through their investment in a 

Canadian company do not relate to the facts underlying Plaintiff’s claims, exercise of personal 

jurisdiction over them is not proper nor is it reasonable. The Investment Entities must be 

dismissed from the case. 
 

2. Plaintiff’s SAC Must Be Dismissed as to Anderson. 

Plaintiff’s insistence on continuing to assert claims against Anderson is dumbfounding. 

On the face of the SAC, Plaintiff alleges that his claims are based on purported 

misrepresentations or omissions that took place either in December 2013 (SAC, ¶ 65) or in 

August 2014 (SAC, ¶85). At the same time, Plaintiff acknowledges that Anderson was not 

appointed to Midway’s board of directors until November 2014. SAC, ¶ 92; Wolfus Decl., ¶ 57. 

As a result, it was impossible for any of Plaintiff’s claims to arise from any of Anderson’s 

purported contacts with the State of Nevada while he was a member of Midway’s board of 

directors. Exercise of jurisdiction over Anderson is both improper and unreasonable under these 

circumstances and the SAC must be dismissed as to him as well. 
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3. Plaintiff’s SAC Must be Dismissed as to Hale and Klein. 

Plaintiff’s SAC, Opposition, and declaration do little more than assert that Hale and Klein 

served as a members of Midway’s board of directors and on certain of the board’s committees. 

See, e.g., Wolfus Decl., ¶¶ 44-50. Serving as a member of a board of directors of a Canadian 

company with certain operations in Nevada does not make an individual subject to this State’s 

personal jurisdiction for all purposes. Nor does making an investment in such a company. 

Instead, “what matters most in this analysis is not the corporation’s own contacts with Nevada 

but the individual Defendants’ contacts with the State.” Southport Lane Equity II, LLC v. 

Downey, 177 F.Supp.3d 1286, 1296 (D. Nev. 2016). Nevertheless, Plaintiff ignores Defendants’ 

minimal contacts with the State, instead focusing on the activities of the company itself. Such 

allegations do not support jurisdiction. Id.  

While Plaintiff alleges without explanation that Hale “was actively involved in managing 

Midway’s mining operations” and that Klein “was very actively involve [sic] involved in 

managing Midway’s mining operations in Nevada” he does nothing to present evidence as to any 

facts to support these bare conclusions that would demonstrate that either of them had actual 

contacts with the State of Nevada.  See Wolfus Decl., ¶¶ 44, 50. The Declaration is largely silent 

as to when Hale or Klein were present in Nevada, what contacts or interactions they purportedly 

had with the State of Nevada other than their roles as directors of a Canadian company with 

operations in Nevada, or how those purported contacts allegedly gave rise to the claims at issue 

in the SAC. See Wolfus Decl., ¶¶ 44-50. That is because Hale’s and Klein’s contacts with the 

State, as demonstrated by their Declarations, were minimal and transitory at best. See Hale Defs.’ 

Mot., Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶¶ 3-15, Ex. B, Klein Decl., ¶¶ 3-15. As set forth in the Hale 

Defendants’ Motion, such contacts are not a reasonable or proper basis to exercise jurisdiction 

over Hale, Klein or any other defendant. 

More importantly, Plaintiff fail to make any effort to demonstrate how any of Hale’s or 

Klein’s purported contacts with the State of Nevada purportedly gave rise to the claims asserted 

in the SAC.  Plaintiff does not shy away from the fact that his claims are entirely based upon 
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purported misrepresentations or omissions contained in certain SEC filings or press releases. See, 

e.g., Opp., p. 2. However, Plaintiff completely ignores that those filings and press releases were 

created and disseminated entirely out of the State of Colorado and received by Plaintiff in 

California. See Brunk Mot., Ex. A, Brunk Decl., ¶20; SAC, ¶ 7. Even if Hale or Klein were 

involved in reviewing or approving such filings and press releases, such are not contacts with the 

State of Nevada nor would they relate in any way to the reasonableness of exercising jurisdiction 

over them within this State.  

Similarly, Plaintiff again tries to lead this Court astray by alleging that Klein “spent 

substantial time in Nevada” performing due diligence in “August through November 2012” as 

supposedly supporting the exercise of jurisdiction over him. See Wolfus Decl., ¶ 46. Again, 

Plaintiff’s SAC is based on alleged misrepresentations and omissions in December 2013 and 

August 2014, one to two years after those purported due diligence visits. Plaintiff makes no 

attempt, because he cannot, to link those due diligence visits to the purported misrepresentations 

or omissions in the subsequent years on which he bases his claims. Accordingly, those due 

diligence trips are irrelevant to this Court’s analysis of whether to exercise specific personal 

jurisdiction over Klein or any other defendant as a result of this purported contact. 

Finally, Plaintiff’s argument in his declaration that Klein “is silent as to the length of time 

he spent in Nevada” is simply false. See Wolfus Decl., ¶ 50. Klein addressed that very issue in 

his own declaration previously submitted to the Court. See Hale Defs.’ Mot., Ex. B, Klein Decl., 

¶¶ 14-15. Regardless, it is Plaintiff’s burden to present this Court with facts, not conclusory 

allegations without any specificity, demonstrating each defendant’s contacts with the State of 

Nevada in order to justify the exercise of personal jurisdiction over any of the defendants. 

Trump, 109 Nev. at 693, 857 P.2d at 744. Plaintiff did no such thing. 

Plaintiff has not presented “some evidence” of facts sufficient upon which to base 

specific personal jurisdiction over either Hale or Klein and the SAC must be dismissed as to each 

of them as well. 
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C. This Court Should Not Grant Plaintiff’s Last-Ditch Request to Permit 

Jurisdictional Discovery. 
 

Without any meaningful explanation or justification, Plaintiff requests the Court permit 

him to conduct jurisdictional discovery and to conduct an evidentiary hearing if the Court is 

inclined to grant the motions to dismiss. See Opp., p. 30. In order to justify a request for 

jurisdictional discovery, a plaintiff “must provide some basis to believe that discovery will lead 

to relevant evidence providing a basis for the exercise of personal jurisdiction and courts are 

within their discretion to deny requests based ‘on little more than a hunch that [discovery] might 

yield jurisdictionally relevant facts.’” Pfister v. Selling Source, LLC, 931 F.Supp.2d 1109, 1118 

(D. Nev. 2013) (quoting Boschetto v. Hansing, 539 F.3d 1011, 1020 (9th Cir. 2008)). Mere 

statements that a party believes discovery would yield information supportive of jurisdiction is 

not enough to grant such a request. Pfister, 931 F.Supp.2d at 1118. 

There is no legitimate basis for Plaintiff’s request for jurisdictional discovery in light of 

the well-developed record before the Court. In response to the Hale Defendants’ declarations 

itemizing their minor, intermittent contacts with the State of Nevada, Plaintiff merely proffers his 

own declaration conclusively stating that certain of the defendants were “actively involved” in 

Midway’s operations. Plaintiff’s bare allegation is not enough to confer jurisdiction. Moreover, 

and as the Pfister court found, when a request for jurisdictional discovery is “attenuated and 

based on bare allegations in the face of specific denials made by the defendants, the Court need 

not permit even limited discovery.’” Pfister, 931 F.Supp.2d at 1118 (quoting Pebble Beach Co. 

v. Caddy, 453 F.3d 1151, 1160 (9th Cir. 2006)).  Plaintiff has not articulated any discovery that 

may change the facts or any reason why he could not present any other evidence that he believes 

exists refuting the Hale Defendants’ declarations. Plaintiff’s request for jurisdictional discovery 

and an evidentiary hearing is a mere afterthought and is not sufficiently supported to grant such a 

request. Plaintiff’s request should be denied. 
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III.   CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth in this Reply, the underlying Motion and Joinder, and the D&O 

Motion and Reply, the Hale Defendants respectfully request that this Court dismiss the SAC in 

its entirety as to each of them with prejudice.   

 DATED this 2nd day of May, 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Christopher R. Miltenberger    
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Counsel for Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this 2nd day 

of May, 2018, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing Reply in Support of Motion to 

Dismiss and Joinder to D&O Defendants’ Reply in Support of Motion to Dismiss Second 

Amended Complaint to be filed and e-served via the Court’s E-Filing System on all parties with 

an email address on record this action.  The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in 

place of the date and place of deposit in the U.S. Mail. 
 
 

/s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill 
An employee of GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
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MDSM 
JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9691 
SANTORO WHITMIRE 
10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Tel.: (702) 948-8771 / Fax: (702) 948-8773 
Email: jsmith@santoronevada.com 
 
ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ.  
REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 
MOYE WHITE LLP 
1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
Tel.: (303) 292-2900 / Fax: (303) 292-4510 
Email: eric.liebman@moyewhite.com 
 becky.decook@moyewhite.com 
 
Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 

 
DISTRICT COURT 

 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
 v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, 
JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD 
SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. 
SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY 
D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-
MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability 
Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware 
Limited Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25, 
 
   Defendants. 

Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.: XXVII 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK’S MOTION TO 
DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 

 

Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk (“Brunk”), by and through his counsel, hereby moves this 

Court to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint for lack of personal jurisdiction as to all claims 

Case Number: A-17-756971-B

Electronically Filed
3/16/2018 4:00 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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asserted against him. Brunk also joins the Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint 

("Motion") filed by Defendants Richard D. Moritz ("Moritz"), Bradley J. Blacketor 

("Blacketor"), Timothy Haddon ("Haddon"), Richard Sawchak ("Sawchak"), John W. Sheridan 

("Sheridan"), Frank Yu ("Yu"), Roger A. Newell ("Newell") and Rodney D. Knutson 

("Knutson") (collectively, the "D&O Defendants"), except for those portions of the Motion that 

relate to personal jurisdiction as to the D&O Defendants. This Motion is made pursuant to Rule 

12(b)(2) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure ("NRCP") and is based on the attached 

Memorandum of Points and Authorities and the Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, attached as, 

Exhibit "A," together with the exhibits, the pleadings and papers on file herein, and any oral 

argument this Court may allow. 

DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

4848-8922-4543.1 

. SMIT , ESQ. 
N ada Bar No. 9691 
10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. 
REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 
MOVE WHITE LLP 
1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: ALL INTERESTED Pft ... RTIES A}~D TP£IR COUNSEL: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing KENNETH A. BRUNK'S MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O DEFENDANTS' 

MOTION TO DISJ\tfiSS SECOND AlVIENDED COMPLAINT will be brought before 

Department XXVII of the above-entitled Court on the __ day of _______ , 2018, 

at .m. -----
DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

4848-8922-4543.1 

SANTORO WHITMIRE 

~i'Kf D. SMITH, ESQ. 
evada Bar No. 9691 

10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. 
REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 
MOVE WHITE LLP 
1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 
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25                   Apr.
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
KENNETH A. BRUNK’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

INTRODUCTION 

In his Second Amended Complaint for Damages (hereinafter, “Complaint”), Plaintiff 

asserts against Brunk: (1) a claim for violation of California's Corporate Securities Act of 1968, 

California Corporations Code § 25000, et seq.; (2) a claim under California common law for 

breach of fiduciary duty; (3) a claim under California common law for aiding and abetting 

Midway’s breach of fiduciary duty; (4) a claim under California common law for fraud; and (5) a 

claim under California common law for negligent misrepresentation.  See Complaint, ¶¶ 99-147. 

Brunk moves the Court to dismiss the claims asserted against him in the Complaint under 

Rule 12(b)(2) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure (“NRCP”) on the ground that this Court 

lacks personal jurisdiction over him.  Brunk is not subject to general jurisdiction in Nevada 

because he does not reside, much less domicile, in Nevada, and his very limited contacts with 

Nevada do not render him at “home” in Nevada.  Furthermore, Plaintiff’s claims arise out of 

alleged material omissions contained in Midway’s SEC filings and press releases, which were 

drafted in and issued from Colorado and communicated to the investing public in general.  

Because the claims asserted in this lawsuit do not arise from Brunk’s purported contacts with the 

state of Nevada, this Court cannot exercise specific jurisdiction over Brunk.  

Further, Brunk joins the D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended 

Complaint and the Memorandum of Point and Authorities in support thereof, except for those 

portions of the motion and memorandum that address the Court’s personal jurisdiction as to the 

D&O Defendants and urges the Court to dismiss the Complaint as to Brunk for all the reasons 

stated therein.  Like the claims asserted against the D&O Defendants, Plaintiff has failed to 

allege any misrepresentations by Brunk with the specificity required by law and he cannot show 

that he was in privity with Brunk as required by California law, given that Brunk did not 

personally sell any Midway stock to Plaintiff.   See Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, Exh. A ¶ 

23. 
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FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

Brunk joins in the factual background set forth in the D&O Defendants’ Motion.  In 

addition, Brunk provides the following additional facts:   

1. Midway Gold Corp. (“Midway”) is a Canadian Corporation, incorporated under 

the Company Act of British Columbia.  Complaint ¶ 17.1  

2. At all times relevant to this litigation, the headquarters of Midway was located in 

Englewood, Colorado.  See Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, Exh. A ¶ 15.   

3. From May 2010 to May 2012, Brunk served as the president and Chief Operating 

Officer (“COO”) of Midway.  Complaint ¶ 36.  In May 2012, Brunk became the Chief Executive 

Officer (“CEO”) and Chairman of the Board of Midway.  Id.  He served as Chairman of the 

Board until August 2014 and as CEO until December 2014.  Id. 

4. During the time Brunk served as the President and the COO of Midway, his 

business office was located in Colorado.  He did not frequently visit Nevada to perform his 

duties as President and COO.  In fact, during this time, he visited Nevada approximately three to 

five times per year.  All such visits were made in furtherance of his duties as President and COO.  

Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, Exh. A ¶ 16. 

5. During the time Brunk served as the CEO and Chairman of the Board of Midway, 

his business office was located in Colorado.  He did not frequently visit Nevada to perform his 

duties as CEO and Chairman of the Board.  In fact, during this time, he visited Nevada 

approximately three to five times per year.  All such visits were made in furtherance of his duties 

as CEO and Chairman of the Board.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 17. 

6. During the time he served as President, COO, and CEO of Midway, Brunk also 

made regular trips on behalf of Midway to New York City, New York, Toronto, Ontario, and 

Vancouver British Columbia.  During this time period, he visited each of these locations 

approximately three to five times per year.  All such visits were made in furtherance of his duties 

                                                 
1 For purposes of this Motion, the factual allegations in the Complaint are taken as true as they are stated.  
Brunk does not admit any of the allegations through this Motion and reserves the right to change any of 
the allegations at any further stage of this litigation. 
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as President, COO and/or CEO, or as a board member of Midway.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 18. 

7. Throughout the time Brunk was on the board of Midway, board meetings were 

held either in Canada or Colorado, except there may have been one or two meetings held in 

Nevada.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 19. 

8. Midway caused numerous SEC filings and press releases to be issued.  These 

filing and releases were entirely drafted in and issued from the state of Colorado where 

Midway’s principal place of business and executive offices are located.  And, to the extent Brunk 

was involved in the preparation and issuance of these filings and releases, that involvement 

occurred in Colorado, and all discussions and decisions related to them occurred in Colorado.  

Id., Exh. A ¶ 20. 

9. In 2012, Midway and representatives of Hale Capital Partners, LP (“Hale”) 

engaged in negotiations for Hale to invest in Midway.  Brunk was involved in these negotiations.  

These negotiations occurred in New York and Colorado.  None of the negotiations surrounding 

this transaction occurred in Nevada.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 22. 

10. During the time Brunk served as President and CEO of Midway, he attended 

Midway’s annual shareholder meetings.  These meetings occurred primarily in Canada or 

Colorado.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 21. 

11. Brunk is a resident of Colorado and has been a resident of Colorado since 1991.  

He does not currently reside in Nevada and has not resided in Nevada since 1991.  Id., Exh. A ¶¶ 

4-6.  Brunk does not own any real property, personal property, or other assets in Nevada. Id., 

Exh. A, ¶¶ 7-8. 

12. Brunk does not hold any Nevada licenses.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 9. 

13. Brunk does not own or maintain any bank accounts in Nevada.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 10. 

14. He does not maintain any telephone, facsimile or telex number in Nevada.  Id., 

Exh. A ¶ 11. 

15. He has never been a party to a lawsuit in Nevada, except for the instant case.  Id., 

Exh. A ¶ 12. 

16. Since 1991, Brunk has had only occasional and intermittent contact with Nevada 
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for personal or business visits.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 13. 

17. He does not have family in Nevada.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 14. 

18. Brunk has not personally sold any stock in Midway to the Plaintiff.  Id., Exh. A ¶ 

23. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 12(b)(2), a party may move to dismiss an action for lack of personal 

jurisdiction.  In reviewing a motion to dismiss, the court must construe the pleadings liberally 

and accept all factual allegations in the complaint as true.  Vacation Village v. Hitachi Am., 110 

Nev. 481, 874 P.2d 744 (1994).  Once a court determines that it lacks jurisdiction, it “can 

proceed no further and must dismiss the case on that account.”  Sinochem Int’l Co. v. Malay Int’l 

Shipping Corp., 127 S. Ct. 1184, 1193 (2007). 

ARGUMENT 

A. This Court Lacks Personal Jurisdiction Over Mr. Brunk. 

The Complaint should be dismissed pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2) because the court lacks 

personal jurisdiction over Brunk, a nonresident.  The exercise of jurisdiction under the 

circumstances would be improper and offend due process.  The sole basis upon which Plaintiff 

alleges jurisdiction is proper in this state is his assertion that that one of the Defendants resides in 

Nevada.  Complaint ¶¶ 15, 22.  Neither Plaintiff, nor any other Defendant, including Brunk, 

resides in Nevada.  Midway is not a Nevada corporation and is not headquartered in Nevada. 

Simply put, the domicile of one individual defendant does not convey jurisdiction over any of the 

other defendants.  Furthermore, like the other Defendants, Brunk’s contacts with Nevada were 

not so continuous and systematic as to render any of them at “home” in this forum such that 

exercising general jurisdiction in Nevada would be proper.   

Moreover, each of the claims asserted in the Complaint arises out of Plaintiff’s reliance 

upon purported material omissions contained in Midway’s SEC filings and press releases, which 

were drafted in and issued exclusively from the state of Colorado, where Midway’s principal 

place of business and its offices are located.  Because Brunk’s contacts with Nevada are 

insufficient as a matter of law and the claims asserted in this lawsuit do not arise from Brunk’s 
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purported contacts with the Nevada, this Court cannot exercise jurisdiction over Brunk. 

1. Legal Standard for Personal Jurisdiction. 

Jurisdiction over a non-resident defendant is proper only if the plaintiff shows: (1) the 

requirements of Nevada’s long-arm statute have been satisfied; and (2) due process is not 

offended by the exercise of jurisdiction.2  Nevada’s long-arm statute provides that “a court of this 

state may exercise jurisdiction over a party to a civil action on any basis not inconsistent with the 

constitution of this state or the Constitution of the United States.”  NRS 14.065(1).  Nevada 

courts have determined that the long-arm statute reaches the limits of due process set by the 

United States Constitution.3  The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment of the 

United States Constitution requires a nonresident defendant to have “minimum contacts” with 

the forum state sufficient to ensure that exercising personal jurisdiction over him would not 

offend “traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.”4 

Due process requirements are satisfied if the nonresident defendant’s contacts are 

sufficient to obtain either (1) general jurisdiction, or (2) specific personal jurisdiction, and it is 

reasonable to subject the nonresident defendants to suit in the forum state.5  Courts may exercise 

general or “all-purpose” personal jurisdiction over a defendant “to hear any and all claims 

against it” only when the defendant’s affiliations with the forum state “are so constant and 

pervasive as to render it essentially at home in the forum State.”6  By contrast, specific personal 

jurisdiction comports with due process only where “the defendant’s suit-related conduct” creates 

                                                 
2 See Viega GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156 (2014) (citing 
Arbella Mut. Ins. Co. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. at 512, 516, 134 P.3d at 712, 714; Trump 
v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 109 Nev. 687, 698, 857 P.2d 740, 747 (1993); see also Int’l Shoe Co. v. 
Washington, 326 U.S. 310 (1945); see also Casentini v. Ninth Judicial Dist. Court, 110 Nev. 721, 726, 
877 P.2d 535, 539 (1994). 
3 Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1156; see also Baker v. Dist. Ct., 116 Nev. 527, 531, 999 P.2d 1020, 1023 
(2000). 
4 Id. at 531-32, 999 P.2d at 1023; see also Int’l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945); see 
also Arabella at 712. 
5 Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1156 (2014) (citing Arbella, 134 P.3d at 712, 714); Daimler AG v. Bauman, 
134 S.Ct. 746, 762 n. 20, 187 L.Ed.2d 624 (2014)).   
6 Daimler, 134 S. Ct. at 751. 
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“a substantial connection with the forum state.”7 

As set forth in detail below, Plaintiff has not established, and indeed cannot establish, that 

Brunk’s contacts with Nevada are sufficient for the Court to obtain either general or specific 

jurisdiction over him.  Therefore, the Complaint must be dismissed because the exercise of 

jurisdiction over Brunk would violate the requirements of due process. 

2. This Court Lacks General Jurisdiction Over Brunk. 

General jurisdiction over a defendant allows a plaintiff to assert claims against that 

defendant unrelated to the forum.  Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157.  Such broad jurisdiction is 

available only in limited circumstances, when a non-resident defendant’s contacts with the forum 

state are so “‘continuous and systematic’ as to render [it] essentially at home in the forum State.”  

Id. (internal citations omitted).  As recently stated by the United States Supreme Court, there are 

“only a limited set of affiliations with a forum [that] will render a defendant amenable to general 

jurisdiction there,” and for an individual, “the paradigm forum for the exercise of general 

jurisdiction is the individual’s domicile. . . .”  Bauman, 134 S. Ct. at 760 (citations omitted) 

(emphasis added). 

As Plaintiff acknowledges, Brunk is not a resident of Nevada.  Complaint ¶ 8.  With no 

supporting facts, Plaintiff concludes that Brunk‘s contacts with Nevada were “so continuous and 

systematic as to render him at home in Nevada” and that, to perform his job duties, Brunk was 

frequently in Nevada.  Complaint, ¶¶ 8, 36.  On the contrary, the supporting Declaration 

establishes that, with a few isolated exceptions, Brunk has had virtually no contact with Nevada.  

In addition to the fact Brunk is not a resident of Nevada (Declaration of Kenneth A. Brunk, Exh. 

A ¶¶ 4-6), he: does not own personal or real property, or have any other personal assets in 

Nevada (Exh. A ¶¶ 7-8); does not hold any Nevada licenses (Ex. A ¶ 9); does not own or 

maintain any bank accounts in Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 10); does not maintain any telephone, facsimile 

or telex number in Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 11); and has never been a party to a lawsuit in Nevada, 

except for the instant case (Ex. A ¶ 12).  Moreover, Brunk has only occasionally traveled to 

                                                 
7 Walden v. Fiore, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 1121-22 (2014); Goodyear Dunlop Tires Operations S.A. v. Brown, 
564 U.S. 915 (2011). 
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Nevada, primarily to fulfill his official corporate duties as COO or CEO or as a member of the 

board of Midway.  (Ex. A ¶¶ 13, 16-19, 21).  

In sum, Brunk does not have the continuous and systematic contacts with Nevada 

required to support a finding of general jurisdiction. 

3. This Court Also Lacks Specific Jurisdiction Over Brunk. 

In determining whether the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction over a defendant is 

appropriate, the Court considers a three-prong test: 

[1] [t]he defendant must purposefully avail himself of the privilege of acting in 
the forum state or of causing important consequences in that state, [2] the cause of 
action must arise from the consequences in the forum state of the defendant's 
activities, and [3] those activities, or the consequences thereof, must have a 
substantial enough connection with the forum state to make the exercise of 
jurisdiction over the defendant reasonable. 

Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157; Arbella, 134 P.3d at 712.   

Whether a forum state may assert specific jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant 

focuses on “the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.”  Walden, 134 

S.Ct. at 1122 (internal citations omitted).  For a state to exercise jurisdiction consistent with due 

process, the “defendant’s suit-related conduct” must create a substantial connection with the 

forum state.  Id. 

For an exercise of specific jurisdiction to comport with due process, the lawsuit must 

arise “out of contacts that the ‘defendant himself’ creates with the forum State.”  Walden, 134 

S.Ct. at 1122 (quoting Burger King Corp., 471 U.S. at 475, 105 S. Ct. 2174) (emphasis in 

original).  The Supreme Court has “consistently rejected attempts to satisfy the defendant-

focused ‘minimum contacts’ inquiry by demonstrating contacts between the plaintiff (or third 

parties) and the forum State.”  Id. at 1122, 1125 (concluding that causing an “injury to a forum 

resident is not a sufficient connection to the forum,” and “the plaintiff cannot be the only link 

between the defendant and the forum”).  In other words, the “minimum contacts” analysis looks 

to the defendant’s contacts with the forum state itself, not the defendant’s contacts with persons 

who reside there.  Id. at 1122. 

In this case, Plaintiff has not alleged that Brunk engaged in any specific “suit-related 
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conduct” that would create a substantial connection between him and Nevada.  See generally, 

Complaint.  The only basis for jurisdiction asserted by Plaintiff is that at least one Defendant 

resided and still resides in Nevada.  See Complaint ¶15.  The claims asserted by Plaintiff all arise 

out of Plaintiff’s reliance upon purported material omissions contained in Midway’s SEC filings 

and press releases.  See Complaint ¶¶ 106, 111, 129, 130, 131, 132, 135, 136, 144 and 145.  

Importantly, Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, that Brunk’s allegedly tortious conduct 

(material omissions in public filings) took place in Nevada.  See generally, Complaint.  As stated 

in the Declaration, the SEC filings and press releases were entirely drafted in and issued from the 

state of Colorado where Midway’s principal place of business and executive offices are located.  

Exh. A ¶ 20.  These filings and press releases were also received and purportedly acted upon by 

Plaintiff in the state of California.  See Complaint ¶ 7.  Absent evidence to the contrary, there is 

no connection between these claims and Nevada that would serve as a basis for the exercise of 

specific jurisdiction.8  Plaintiff’s Complaint must be dismissed. 

Even if Midway was a Nevada corporation, which it is not, mere affiliation with a 

Nevada operation is not enough to confer jurisdiction on nonresident defendants.  See Southport 

Lane Equity II, LLC v. Downey, 177 F.Supp.3d 1286, 1296 (D. Nev. 2016)(in shareholder direct 

and derivative action against a corporation’s directors and officers, court held that non-resident 

director and officer defendants’ mere affiliation with the Nevada corporation was insufficient for 

personal jurisdiction).  The “mere connection between a defendant and a plaintiff that has 

contacts with the forum state or that has been injured in the state is insufficient for personal 

jurisdiction under the Due Process Clause.”  Id.  “What matters most in this analysis is not the 

corporation’s own contacts with Nevada but the individual Defendants’ contacts with the 

State.”  Id. (emphasis added). 

Here, the exercise of personal jurisdiction is even more tenuous because not only is 

                                                 
8 See Graziose v. Am. Home Prods. Corp., 161 F.Supp.2d 1149 (D. Nev. 2001) (press statements made 
outside of the forum state and transmitted into the forum cannot provide the basis for personal 
jurisdiction).  Here, again, personal jurisdiction is even more tenuous because Plaintiff alleges no 
relationship between Nevada and the purported wrongful press releases and SEC filings, and he 
acknowledges he received them and purportedly acted on them in California, not Nevada.  Complaint ¶ 1. 
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Plaintiff not a Nevada citizen and Midway is not a Nevada corporation, Plaintiff has alleged no 

facts alleging that Brunk had ~flY contact \vith ~Nevada related to the purportedly wrongful 

conduct alieged in the Complaint, and the Declaration establishes he has not had such contacts. 

Brunk did not perform any of the acts alleged against him in the Complaint in Nevada. The only 

connection Brunk has to Nevada is occasional and intermittent travel to Nevada for business 

reasons. However, Plaintiff's claims do not arise out of or relate to any representations made 

during such travel. 

Because no Nevada corporation is involved in this suit and Brunk did not engage in any 

suit-related conduct in Nevada in connection with the claims Plaintiff has asserted against him, 

this Court has no specific jurisdiction as to Brunk. The Complaint must be dismissed. 

CONCLUSION 

In addition to joining in the relief sought by the D&O Defendants by way of Defendant 

Brunk's Joinder, this Court has no basis to exercise personal jurisdiction over Brunk because his 

contacts with Nevada are insufficient as a matter of law, and because Brunk did not engage in 

any suit-related conduct in Nevada in connection with the claims Plaintiff has asserted against 

him. Brunk, therefore, respectfully requests that the Court grant this Motion and enter an order 

dismissing the Complaint in its entirety. 

DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

4848-8922-4543.1 

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. 
(pro hac vice forthcoming) 
REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 
(pro hac vice forthcoming) 
MOYE WHITE LLP 
1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that, on the 16th day of March, 2018, a true and correct copy of 

the OF KENNETH A. BRUNK’S MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 

COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT was served electronically with the Clerk of the Court 

using the Eighth Judicial District Court’s eFileNV system to the following:  

James R. Christensen PC 
  Contact: Email:  
  James R. Christensen, Esq.  jim@christensenlaw.com  
Attorneys for Plaintiff Daniel E. Wolfus 
     
Holland & Hart LLP 
 Contact: Email:  
 Robert J. Cassity, Esq. bcassity@hollandandhart.com  
 David J. Freeman, Esq. dfreeman@hollandandhart.com  
 Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. hsteinsollod@hollandhart.com  
 Valerie Larsen vllarsen@hollandandhart.com  
 Susann Thompson sthompson@hollandandhart.com  
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz, Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon, Richard Sawchak, John 
W. Sheridan, Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and Rodney D. Knutson 
    
Greenberg Traurig LLP 
 Contact: Email:  
 Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
 Christopher Miltenberger, Esq. miltenberferc@gtlaw.com  
Attorneys for Martin M. Hale, Jr. Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, EREF-MID 
II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 
 

/s/ Rachel Jenkins      
An employee of SANTORO WHITMIRE 
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DECL 
JASON D. SMITH, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 9691 
SANTORO WHITMIRE 
10100 W. Charleston Blvd., Suite 250 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Tel.: (702) 948-8771 I Fax: (702) 948-8773 
Email: jsmith@santoronevada.com 

ERIC B. LIEBMAN, ESQ. 
REBECCA DECOOK, ESQ. 
MOYE WHITE LLP 
1400 16th Street, 6th Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
Tel.: (303) 292-2900 I Fax: (303) 292-4510 
Email: eric.Iiebman@moyewhite.com 

becky .decook@moyewhite.com 

Attorneys for Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, 
JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD 
SA WCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. 
SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; RODNEY 
D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL KLEIN; !NV­
MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability 
Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware 
Limited Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and DOES 
1 through 25, 

Defendants. 

Case No.: A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.: XXVII 

DECLARATION OF KENNETH A. BRUNK IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT AND JOINDER IN D&O DEFENDANTS' 

MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

I, Kenneth A. Brunk, pursuant to NRS 53.045 and under penalty of perjury in the state of 
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Nevada, hereby declare the following are true and correct to the best of my knowledge: 

1. I am a Defendant in the above-captioned matter and am familiar with the facts and 

circumstances of such matter. 

2. I am over the age of eighteen and am competent to testify about the matters 

contained herein, of which I have personal knowledge. If called as a witness to testify, I could 

and would truthfully testify to the matters set forth herein. 

3. I make this Declaration In Support Of the Motion to Dismiss of Kenneth A. 

Brunk and Joinder in D&O Defendants' Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint. 

4. I am a resident of Colorado. 

5. I have been a resident of Colorado since 1991. 

6. I am not currently a resident of Nevada and have not resided in Nevada since 

1991. 

7. I do not own any real property in Nevada. 

8. I do not own any personal property or other assets in Nevada. 

9. I do not hold any Nevada licenses. 

10. I do not own or maintain any bank accounts in Nevada. 

11. I do not maintain any telephone, facsimile, or telex number in Nevada. 

12. I have never been a party to a lawsuit in Nevada except for the instant case. 

13. Since 1991 , I have had only occasional and intermittent contact with Nevada for 

personal or business visits. 

14. I do not have family in Nevada. 

15. At all times relevant to this litigation, the headquarters of Midway Gold 

Corporation ("Midway") were located in Englewood, Colorado. 

16. During the time I served as the president and chief operating officer ("COO") of 

Midway, my business office was located in Colorado. I did not frequently visit Nevada to 

perform my duties as President and COO. In fact, during this time, I visited Nevada 

approximately three to five times per year. All such visits were made in furt~erance of my 

duties as President and COO. 

- 2 -
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17. During the time I served as the chief executive officer ("CEO") and Chairman of 

the Board of Midway, my business office was located in Colorado. I did not frequently visit 

Nevada to perform my duties as CEO and Chairman of the Board. In fact, during this time, I 

visited Nevada approximately three to five times per year. All such visits were made in 

furtherance of my duties as CEO and Chairman of the Board. 

18. During the time I served as President, COO, and CEO of Midway, I also made 

regular trips on behalf of Midway to New York City, New York, Toronto, Ontario, and 

Vancouver British Columbia. During this time period, I visited each of these locations 

approximately three to five times per year. All such visits were made in furtherance of my 

duties as President, COO, CEO, or as a board member of Midway. 

19. Throughout the time I was on the board of Midway, board meetings were held 

either in Canada or Colorado, except there may have been one or two meetings held in Nevada. 

20. Midway caused numerous SEC filings and press releases to be issued. These 

filing and releases were entirely drafted in and issued from Colorado, where Midway's principal 

place of business and executive offices were located. To the extent I had any involvement with 

the preparation or issuance of these filings and releases, such involvement occurred in 

Colorado, and all discussions and decisions related to the filings and releases occurred in 

Colorado. 

21. During the time I served as President and CEO of Midway, I attended Midway' s 

annual shareholder meetings. To the best of my recollection, these meetings occurred primarily 

in Canada or Colorado. 

22. In 2012, Midway and representatives of Hale Capital Partners, LP ("Hale") 

engaged in negotiations relating to the investment by Hale in Midway. I was involved in these 

negotiations. These negotiations occurred in New York and Colorado. None ofthe negotiations 

surrounding this transaction occurred in Nevada. 

- 3 -
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1 23. I have never personally sold any stock in Midway to Plaintiff. 

2 Pursuant to NRS 53.045, I declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the State of 

3 

4 

Nevada that the forego~ is true and correct to the best of my knowledge. 
Dated this /6Ciay of March, 2018. 
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6 
KENNETH A. BRUNK 
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OPPS 

JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN ESQ. 

Nevada Bar No. 3861 

James R. Christensen PC 

601 S. 6th St.   

Las Vegas NV 89101 

(702) 272-0406 

(702) 272-0415 fax 

jim@jchristensenlaw.com 

SAMUEL T. REES ESQ. 

Admitted Pro Hac Vice 

26 Muirfield Place 

New Orleans, LA 70131 

(213) 220-9988 

streesesq@earthlink.net 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiff, DANIEL E. WOLFUS 

 
 

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT 

 
DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 
DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
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vs. 

 

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD 

D. MORITZ; BRADLEY J. 

BLACKETOR; TIMOTHY 

HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, JR.; 

TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD 

SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. 

SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL; 

RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 

NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, 

LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability  

Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a 

Delaware Limited Liability Company; 

HCP-MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited 

Liability Company; and DOES 1 

through 25. 

 

Defendants. 

 
  CASE NO.: A-17-756971-B 
  DEPT NO.: 27 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED MEMORANDUM OF 
POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN 
OPPOSITION TO MOTIONS TO 
DISMISS PLAINTIFF’S SECOND 
AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
 
Date of hearing:  5.9.18 

Time of hearing: 10:30 a.m. 

 
 

Case Number: A-17-756971-B
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4/18/2018 4:56 PM
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I. INTRODUCTION 

 Company disclosures provide information for informed investment decisions.  

Both good and bad information must be disclosed to make investing as fair as possible 

for everyone.1 

 When bad information is withheld, an investment may be made (or held) when - 

had bad information been disclosed - a different investment opportunity may have 

been pursued instead.  That is, full and fair disclosure promotes the efficient 

functioning of markets, which is good for us all. 

 When the disclosure obligation is broken, harm may be caused to an investor.  

The law provides a remedy to an investor harmed by a breach of the disclosure 

obligation.  The existence of a legal remedy promotes the overriding public policy 

goal of an efficient market by encouraging disclosure. 

 Defendants were Midway control persons.  Midway made false disclosures and 

omitted bad information.  Wolfus reasonably relied upon the false disclosures and was 

harmed by holding and buying more stock.  Wolfus has a remedy.2 

II. FACTS 

 In 1996, Midway was chartered in Canada.  (SAC ¶23.)  Midway was listed on 

the New York Stock Exchange, was subject to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 

and was obligated to file periodic reports with the SEC.  (SAC ¶23.) 
                     
1 See, generally; the Securities Act of 1933; the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and, the Sarbanes- 

  Oxley Act. 
2 “For every wrong there is a remedy.”  Small v. Fritz Companies, 65 P.3d 1255 (Cal. 2003)    

  (“Persons claiming that, for reasons of policy, they should be immune from liability for intentional  

  fraud bear a very heavy burden of persuasion”); citing, Civ. Code §3523. 
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 Prior to 2008, Midway was an exploration company which acquired and 

explored gold and silver mineral properties located almost exclusively in Nevada.  

(SAC ¶24.) 

 In February 2008, Wolfus began buying Midway common stock.  (SAC ¶29.) 

 Prior to November 2008, Midway created a Disclosure Committee comprised of 

members of its Board of Directors to ensure that Midway complied with its disclosure 

obligations under United States securities laws.  (SAC ¶25.) 

In October 2008, Midway entered into an exploration and possible joint venture 

agreement with a subsidiary of Barrick Gold Corp., for its Spring Valley project, 

located 20 miles northeast of Lovelock, Nevada.  (SAC ¶31.) 

 In November 2008, Wolfus became an outside director of Midway.  (SAC ¶26.) 

 In 2009, Wolfus became the Chairman of the Board and the CEO of Midway; 

until May 18, 2012, when he was replaced by Brunk.  (SAC ¶27.) 

 In 2009, Midway was active in gold exploration at its Nevada properties of Pan, 

Gold Rock (formerly the Monte), Spring Valley, Thunder Mountain, Roberts Creek, 

Creek and Burnt Canyon.  (SAC ¶30.) 

 Prior to May 2010, Midway decided to change from an exploration company to 

a gold mining production company using the Pan project as its first production mine.  

(SAC ¶35.)  Pan is located about 22 miles southeast of Eureka, Nevada.  (SAC ¶32.) 

 In May 2010, Brunk was hired as Midway’s President and COO with the 

primary job of bringing the Pan project into production.  Brunk was required to 

PA0904
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personally oversee mining and permitting in Nevada and was frequently in Nevada to 

perform his job duties.  Brunk was on the Disclosure Committee.  (SAC ¶36.)  

 On July 20, 2010, Midway publicly announced the results of a favorable 

preliminary economic assessment ("PEA") for the Pan project. The PEA included an 

independent audit of an updated Midway mineral resource estimate.  (SAC ¶37.) 

 On February 3, 2011, Midway filed an 8-K and Press Release with the SEC 

which reported the Pan project was moving forward with "possible production as early 

as 2013" and that Midway was working on a Prefeasibility Study for the Pan project.  

The same day, Midway reported in the Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the 

SEC, it was "currently transitioning itself from an exploration company to a gold 

production company with plans to advance the Pan gold deposit located in White Pine 

County, Nevada through to production by as early as 2013."  (SAC ¶39.)  

 On April 4, 2011, Midway issued a press release filed with the SEC which 

reported it had secured a "positive Prefeasibility Study" for the Pan project.  The PEA 

was also filed with SEC and SEDAR.  (SAC ¶40.)  

 In a September 12, 2011 press release filed with the SEC, Midway reported its 

engineering team was finishing a mine plan and a Feasibility Study for the Pan project 

and that the environmental team was working to complete a plan of operations for the 

Pan mine to submit to the BLM for the Environmental Impact Statement.  (SAC ¶41.)  

 On November 15, 2011, Midway reported by press release filed with the SEC 

the favorable results of a Feasibility Study for the Pan project.  (SAC ¶44.)  
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 On December 20, 2011, Midway filed the Feasibility Study with the SEC.  The 

Study detailed the mineral exploration of the Pan project, estimated gold deposits, a 

mining plan, a project budget of ~$100 million, with a detailed breakdown of the 

needed equipment, and a projection of anticipated revenue.  The Feasibility Study was 

never publicly updated or amended, and it was the basis on which all permits were 

sought.  (SAC ¶45; and, excerpts of study attached to the SAC at Exhibit 1.)  

 On January 9, 2012, Midway announced by press release that it qualified as a 

Development Stage Entity under SEC guideline and that it had submitted a mine plan 

of operations to the BLM and the NDEP.  The mine plan followed the Feasibility 

Study, with capital costs of ~$100 million.  (SAC ¶47.)  

 Prior to May of 2012, Wolfus was approached by Hale, of Hale Capital 

Partners, with a financing proposal.  Wolfus opposed the Hale proposal while Brunk 

was a supporter.  (SAC ¶49.)  

 By May 1, 2012, Wolfus owned 1,629,117 Midway shares.  (SAC ¶29.) 

 In May of 2012, Brunk replaced Wolfus as CEO and Chairman of the Board.  

(SAC ¶36 & 50.)  Wolfus was then excluded from management.  (SAC ¶50.)  

 On August 2, 2012, the Midway Board of Directors went from 5 to 6 members 

when Klein was appointed.  Klein was a Vice President of Hale Capital Partners.  Hale 

and Hale Capital Partners had access to Midway's books, records and staff through 

Klein.  (SAC ¶51.)  
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 On August 16, 2012, Midway and Brunk reported by a press release that Pan 

project engineering and permitting was advancing at a "rapid pace."  (SAC ¶52.)  

 On September 10, 2012, Midway and Brunk reported by press release that the 

Pan project was on schedule for "start-up of production in mid-2014".  (SAC ¶53.)  

 On November 12, 2012, Midway announced by an 8-K and press release filed 

with the SEC that a deal had been reached for private placement of $70 million in 

Midway Series A Preferred Shares to the Hale Investors; and, creation of a Budget 

Work Plan Committee, which allowed Hale to control Midway and the Pan project.  

(SAC ¶54; and, SAC Exhibits 2 & 3.) 

 On December 13, 2012, Midway filed an 8-K and Press Release with the SEC 

which confirmed the Hale private placement and creation of the Budget Work Plan 

Committee.  (SAC ¶55; and, SAC exhibit 4.)  

 On March 22, 2013, Midway announced a draft environmental impact 

statement, based on the Feasibility Study, was open for public comment.  (SAC ¶56.)  

 On June 20, 2013, Midway held its annual meeting of shareholders.  Brunk, 

Hale, Newell, Sheridan, Yu, Knutson and Klein were elected as directors.  (SAC ¶58.)  

 On July 30, 2013, a Midway press release that was issued and filed with the 

SEC reported that it was exploring ways to reduce costs for the Pan project, expected 

to issue a revised Feasibility Study in the third quarter of 2013, had made significant 

progress in permitting, was pursuing a combination of project and equipment 

financing alternatives, had received proposals from several major commercial funding 
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sources to secure the necessary capital to fund the Pan project and expected to pour 

gold in August 2014.  (SAC ¶59; and, SAC exhibit 5.)  

 On November 17, 2013, a Midway press release issued and filed with the SEC 

reported that tests of ore from South Pan determined that leaching uncrushed ore could 

be used, called Run of Mine, and would avoid the cost of crushing equipment until 

operations moved to other areas of the Pan project.  Midway also reported hiring 

Sierra Partners to help find capital to fund operations.  (SAC ¶60; and, SAC exhibit 6.)  

 On December 20, 2013, a Midway press release issued and filed with the SEC 

announced receipt of the Record of Decision for the Pan project which completed the 

BLM permitting process.  (SAC ¶63; and, SAC exhibit 7.)  

 As of December 31, 2013, Brunk, Hale, Newell, Sheridan, Yu, Knutson and 

Klein were directors of Midway; Brunk was the Chairman, President, and CEO;  

Blacketor was a Senior Vice President and CFO; Moritz was the Senior Vice President 

of Operations; Brunk, Blacketor, Newell, Yu and Klein were on the Disclosure 

Committee; Sheridan, Yu and Knutson were on the Audit Committee; Brunk, Hale, 

Sheridan, Yu and Klein were on the Budget/Work Plan Committee; and, Newell, 

Sheridan and Yu were on the Environment, Health and Safety Committee.  Each 

Defendant was responsible for insuring that Midway publicly disclosed all material 

information about the Pan project and that all the Pan project publicly disclosed 

information was true and complete, was not misleading and did not omit material 

facts; and, are collectively referred to as the 2013 Control Defendants.  (SAC ¶64.)  
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 As of December 13, 2013, the 2013 Control Defendants knew each of the 

following 2013 Undisclosed Facts to be true, knew that each of the following facts 

would be material to any reasonable investor in Midway including Wolfus, and knew  

that none of those facts had been disclosed to the public or to Wolfus.  The 2013 

Undisclosed Facts at SAC ¶65 are: 

A. Midway had been unable to raise sufficient cash either in the form of 

equity or debt to allow it to complete the Pan project in the manner set forth in 

the Feasibility Study as well as fund on-going operations until the Pan project 

produced sufficient revenues to cover those expenses; 

 

B. Hale and the Hale Investors had blocked any consideration of the sale of 

either Midway's interest in the Spring Valley project or the Gold Rock project 

or any other material assets to generate additional revenues; 

 

C. The environmental and other permits secured by Midway for the Pan 

project were based upon and required Midway to conduct mining operations in 

accordance with the mining plan submitted which called for the crushing and 

agglomeration of ore before it was placed on the leach pads and Midway had 

taken no steps to cause those permits to be modified to allow Midway to 

proceed using Run of Mine for the South Pit of the Pan project; and, 

 

D. Modifying the permits to permit Run of Mine would have been time 

consuming delaying the time when Midway could start the leaching process. 

 In late December and in early January 2014, Wolfus decided to exercise some 

of his Midway stock options.  The decision was based on careful review and 

consideration of Midway's press releases and public filings, primarily those which 

were issued after he ceased to be Midway's Chief Executive Officer.  At the time, 

Wolfus accepted Midway public statements and filings as true and complete, and 

relied upon them in making the decision to buy stock.  (SAC ¶66.)  
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On January 7, 2014, Wolfus notified Midway of his intention to exercise some 

of his stock options.  The 2013 Control Defendants were aware of this exercise.  At 

the time Wolfus was not aware of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and would not have 

bought stock had he been aware.  Instead, Wolfus would have sold his position when 

Midway's stock peaked in February 2014.  (SAC ¶66.)  

 On January 15, 2014, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release 

which reported that the Pan project was "fully permitted and construction is underway 

with completion estimated for Q3 2014."  (SAC ¶67; and, SAC at exhibit 8.)  

 On January 23, 2014, Wolfus closed his stock option exercise and bought 

200,000 shares for $100,636.00 USD.  (SAC ¶69.)  

 Following the January purchase, Wolfus closely followed Midway stock price.  

When Midway's stock peaked on or about February 14, 2014, at $1.39, Wolfus 

decided to continue to hold his shares.  Wolfus made the decision to hold based on 

public statements of Midway, including the statements that the Pan project was fully 

permitted.  Had Wolfus known any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts or that the Pan 

project was not fully permitted, he would have sold his shares.  (SAC ¶70.)  

 On March 13, 2014, the Midway Annual Report on form 10-K reported that ore 

from the South Pan pit would be processed Run of Mine.  (SAC ¶71.)  

 On March 13, 2014, Midway issued a press release reporting that the Pan 

project was fully permitted and that construction was underway.  (SAC ¶72.)  
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 On March 19, 2014, Midway announced in a Press Release that it had selected 

Ledcor CMI as a mining contractor for the Pan project.  (SAC ¶73.)  

 On April 24, 2014, Midway announced in a press release a plan to reduce 

capital costs for the Pan project by using contract miners and by using Run of Mine on 

the South Pit of the Pan project.  Midway stated that Moritz had approved the release 

and that Midway was "well-funded."  (SAC ¶74; and, SAC exhibit 9.)  

 On May 21, 2014, Midway's SEC Form 10-Q quarterly report confirmed the use 

of contract miners and Run of Mine.  (SAC ¶76.)  

 On May 22, 2014, Midway issued and filed a press release with the SEC that 

announced the execution of a $55 million credit facility with Commonwealth Bank of 

Australia for the Pan project.  (SAC ¶77; and, SAC exhibit 10.)  

 On May 30, 2014, Midway filed with the SEC a prospectus for a prearranged 

sale of ~$25 million of common stock.  The prospectus updated an earlier registration 

statement.  The funds were to be used in large part for the Pan project.  The prospectus 

did not disclose any of the 2013 or 2014 Undisclosed Facts.  In June 2014, Midway 

filed a press release with the SEC that announced completion of the sale. (SAC ¶78.)  

 On July 21, 2014, Midway filed a press release with the SEC that announced it 

had closed on its credit facility with the Commonwealth Bank.  (SAC ¶80.)  

 In its August 6, 2014, quarterly report filed on Form 10-Q with the SEC, 

Midway reported that it had made a 5-year contract mining deal with Ledcor and had 

paid a $500,000 mobilization fee.  (SAC ¶82.)  
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 As of August 31, 2014, Brunk, Hale, Sawchak, Sheridan, Yu, Haddon and Klein 

were each directors of Midway; Haddon was Chairman of the Board, Brunk was the 

President and CEO; Blacketor was a Senior Vice President and CFO; Brunk, 

Blacketor, Yu and Klein were each members of the Disclosure Committee; Sheridan, 

Yu and Sawchak were each members of the Audit Committee; Brunk, Hale, Sheridan, 

Yu and Klein were each members of the Budget/Work Plan Committee; and, Haddon, 

Sheridan and Yu were each members of the Environment, Health and Safety 

Committee.  In those capacities, each Defendant was responsible for insuring that 

Midway publicly disclosed all material information concerning the Pan project and 

that all publicly disclosed information concerning the Pan project was true and 

complete, was not misleading, and did not omit material facts; and, are collectively 

referred to as the "2014 Control Defendants."  (SAC ¶85.)  

 As of August 31, 2014, the 2014 Control Defendants knew each of 2013 

Undisclosed Facts and the following 2014 Undisclosed Facts to be true, knew that 

each of those facts would be material to any reasonable investor in Midway including 

Wolfus, and knew that none of those facts had been disclosed to the public generally 

or to Wolfus.  The 2014 Undisclosed Facts at SAC ¶86 are: 

A. Ledcor was poised to commence mining operations at Pan loading ore 

directly on the leach pads, but Midway did not have either a "qualified" person 

or a knowledgeable employee on site to supervise the loading of the ore on the 

leach pads; 

 

B. Midway had not sought or received modified permits to allow it to 

deviate from the mining plan submitted for the permits and as contained in the  

Feasibility Study; and, 
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C. Midway did not have the necessary facilities to process the gold solution 

once the leaching had been completed and it would be a considerable period 

before those facilities were constructed and permitted for operation. 

 

 In late August and early September 2014, Wolfus decided to exercise some of 

his Midway stock options.  Wolfus made his decision based on careful review, 

consideration and reliance upon Midway's press releases and public filings, primarily 

those which were issued after he purchased shares in January 2014.  At the time, 

Wolfus believed all Midway statements were true and that no material information had 

been omitted.  (SAC ¶87.)  

On September 5, 2014, Wolfus notified Midway of his decision to exercise 

some of his stock options.  Wolfus made his decision in reliance upon Midway 

disclosures.  At the time Wolfus decided to buy stock, he did not know any of the 

2013 or 2014 Undisclosed Facts, had no way of learning the Undisclosed Facts except 

from the 2014 Control Defendants, and would not have bought stock had he known 

the Undisclosed Facts.  (SAC ¶87.)  

 On September 15, 2014, Midway filed a press release with the SEC that 

announced a flood had occurred at the Pan project in July of 2014.  (SAC ¶81.)  

On September 15, 2014, Midway filed a press release with the SEC that 

reported Ledcor mobilized on July 21, 2014.  Midway did not disclose the lack of a 

qualified employee to supervise the loading of ore onto leach pads.  (SAC ¶82.)  
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 On September 15, 2014, Midway filed a press release with the SEC that 

announced that Ledcor had begun mining operations.  The release suggested that 

processing facilities would be ready by the end of the month.  (SAC ¶90.)  

 On September 19, 2014, Wolfus closed a purchase of 1,000,000 shares for 

$783,778 USD.  (SAC ¶89.)  

 On December 1, 2014, Midway filed a press release with the SEC which 

reported that it had begun receiving funds on its Credit Facility.  (SAC ¶94.)  

 On June 22, 2015, Midway announced its bankruptcy.  (SAC ¶95.)  

III. THE SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT IS CORRECTLY PLED 

 Midway ran gold mining operations in Nevada.  Midway had a large Nevada 

footprint, including 11 wholly owned Nevada subsidiaries.  In 2013 & 2014 Midway 

issued press releases and filed SEC disclosures which painted a rosy picture of the 

status of its Nevada gold mining operations, especially the Pan project. 

 The Pan project was important to the success of Midway.  Pan was identified as 

a viable gold mine, and Midway efforts concentrated on making Pan its first 

production gold mine.  (See, e.g., SAC ¶32 & 35-47.) 

 The press releases and disclosures were false and misleading, the reality on the 

ground at the Nevada Pan mine was not accurately described.  In 2015, the reality on 

the ground at Pan overcame the false picture of success, and Midway failed. 

 Wolfus bought stock in reliance on the false and misleading press releases and 

SEC disclosures that described untrue progress at the Pan mine.  Wolfus also held 
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stock in reliance on the false and misleading disclosures that described false progress 

at the Pan mine.  Wolfus suffered a loss caused by his reasonable reliance on the false 

and misleading statements about the Pan mine. 

 A. The SAC lays a sufficient factual predicate for all claims. 

 The SAC lays out a proper foundation for the claims of Wolfus.  Wolfus 

provides factual detail of the who, what, when, where and how.  Taking the facts 

alleged as true, the motion to dismiss must be denied. 

1.  The fraudulent and misleading statements are identified.   

Fraudulent and misleading press releases and/or SEC disclosure/filings are 

identified in the SAC.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶47, 52, 53, 59, & 63, and SAC exhibits 5 & 

7.  Each statement is identified by date, its nature (SEC disclosure, press release) and 

its relevant content.  After identifying and describing the relevant content of each 

press release and/or SEC disclosure/filing, the specific information which was 

omitted, false or misleading is listed.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶65 & 86. 

2.  How each statement was false or misleading is explained.   

The identified statements were fraudulent and misleading mainly because they 

did not disclose material facts-bad information about the Pan project.  The undisclosed 

material facts are listed in the SAC.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶ 65 & 86. 

Affirmative false statements about current events were also made.  For example, 

¶ 63 and SAC exhibit 7 describe the false statement that permitting was completed at 
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the Pan project in December of 2013, when the Run of Mine method of operation had 

not been permitted. 

3.  The when and where for each statement is provided.   

The SAC identifies each fraudulent or misleading statement by date and how 

the statement was made. 

4.  Those responsible are identified.   

Midway is the primary violator for each fraudulent and misleading statement 

under Cal. Corp. Code 24401.  SAC at ¶103, 105, 108 & 110.  Each defendant is 

identified as a control person for joint and several secondary violator liability under 

Cal. Corp. Code 25504.  SAC at ¶64, 85, 104 & 109.  The collaborative role of each 

Defendant in drafting and/or approving each fraudulent and misleading statement, by 

their membership in Midway committees, is described.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶64 & 85.  

Collaboration creates liability.  Apollo Capital Fund v. Roth Capital, 158 Cal.App.4th 

226, 242 (2007).   

 5.  Scienter is alleged.   

Allegations of scienter are made.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶105 & 110.  SAC at ¶110:

  

In violation of California Corporations Code § 25401, the pre-September 2014 

public filings by Midway which discussed the Pan project were materially false 

and misleading by failing to timely disclose each of the 2014 Undisclosed Facts 

and the failure by the 2014 Control Defendants to disclose the 2014 

Undisclosed Facts was intentional and was done to encourage investors to retain 

and purchase Midway's common stock.   
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On their own, the allegations in ¶105 & 110 are sufficient.  However, the 

paragraphs are supported and must be read in context with the other factual assertions. 

For example, on the non-disclosure of the Pan Run of Mine operations permit issue:  

• ¶ 25, 64 & 85 explain the purpose of the Disclosure Committee is to ensure 

accurate information is disclosed. 

• ¶64 & 85 list Disclosure Committee members.  More detail is provided 

elsewhere.  For example, ¶ 36 & 38 describe the role of Brunk and Moritz in 

personally overseeing the Pan mine. 

• ¶44, 45 & 46, detail the workings of the Pan mine as set forth in the 

Feasibility Study (SAC at exhibit 1), and the permitting process. 

• ¶47, 52, 53, 59, & 63, list the disclosures which relate to permitting the Pan 

project, which was based upon the Feasibility Study method of operation. 

• ¶ 60 described the change in operation at Pan to Run of Mine-which required 

different permits from the Feasibility Study method of operation.   

• ¶ 63 describes the December of 2013 press release which stated permitting 

for Pan was complete.  SAC at exhibit 7.   

• ¶65 describes the misleading nature of the permitting disclosures (especially 

exhibit 7), because permits were not obtained for a Run of Mine operation at 

Pan, which would delay gold extraction from mined ore. 
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• ¶64 alleges how defendants knew the truth of the permitting issue at Pan by 

their membership in the governance committees, and that they knew the 

public was not told the truth. 

Each cause of action provides more information.  The SAC is factually detailed 

and provides what Defendants knew about Pan permitting, how they knew, why it was 

important, describes the public statements that did not tell the truth about Pan 

permitting, and asserts the intent to deceive.  The same is true for the other important 

omissions and false statements detailed in ¶65 & 86. 

6.  Reasonable reliance for buying, holding, causation, and damages are 

alleged.  

  

Reliance by Wolfus Midway public disclosures when deciding to buy and hold 

stock are described in the SAC.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶50, 66, 70 (holding), 87, 106 & 

111.  Wolfus had left the company, Wolfus relied upon public disclosures when 

making the decision to buy or hold stock, and Wolfus acted reasonably upon the 

disclosures.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶ 50, 66, 70 (holding), 87, 106 & 111. 

There is no confusion over which public disclosures Wolfus relied upon: 

In purchasing the 200,000 shares in January 2014, Wolfus had carefully read 

and reviewed and relied on the public filings of Midway and was unaware of 

the 2013 Undisclosed Facts.  

 

SAC at ¶106; see also, ¶111.  Wolfus relied on all public filings. 

 The who, what, when, where and how (number of shares and price) are 

described for the holding claim in ¶70.  Wolfus satisfies causation by explaining had 
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he known the truth, he would not have purchased additional stock, and would instead, 

have sold his entire position.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶64, 65, 70, 85 & 86.  Resulting 

damages are alleged in the SAC at ¶70, 112, 117-119, 126, 138 & 147. 

 B. The First Cause of Action for Securities Fraud. 

 Defendants dropped their claim that the securities fraud claim is derivative. 

 The cases cited by the defense hold that California’s securities law provides a 

private right of action by a buyer of a security, who purchased in reliance on public 

filings which contain a material misstatement or omission.  California Amplifier v. 

RLI Ins., 94 Cal.App.4th 102, 108-109 (2001); Apollo Capital Fund v. Roth Capital 

Partners, 158 Cal.App.4th 226, 249 (2007); and, Cal. Corp. Code §§ 25401 & 25501.  

The defense cases also recognize that California expends the liability of the seller of 

the security to create joint and several liability for all persons who are directors, 

officers or controlling persons of the seller.  Apollo, 158 Cal.App.4th at 255-56; and, 

Cal. Corp. Code § 25504. 

 California securities law applies when a purchase of stock originates in 

California.  Cal. Corp. Code § 25008; and, Hall v. Superior Court, 150 Cal App. 3d 

411 (2003) (choice of forum and law provisions against public policy).3 

 Wolfus twice bought Midway common stock in California directly from 

Midway.  SAC ¶5A, 66, 89, 100, 102 & 107. Midway stock is a security.  Cal. Corp. 

                     
3 This is a securities case.  It is not a commercial contract case.  NAF Holdings v. Li & Fung, 118  

  A.3d 175 (Del. 2015) does not apply.  California law applies to a security purchase in California.   

  Hall, 150 Cal App. 3d 411. 
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Code §25019.4  Wolfus paid money for the shares (SAC ¶69 & 89), which is a sale of 

a security for value.  Cal. Corp. Code §25017(a).  Accordingly, Wolfus may pursue a 

private right of action, pursuant to Cal. Corp. Code §25501 & 25504, for securities 

fraud under Cal. Corp. Code §25401.  Cal. Corp. Code §25401 states: 

It is unlawful for any person to offer or sell a security in this state, or to buy or 

offer to buy a security in this state, by means of any written or oral 

communication that includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to 

state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the 

circumstances under which the statements were made, not misleading. 

Cal. Corp. Code §25401 creates liability for a primary securities violator.  Joint and 

several liability for security violations is extended to others, who are secondarily 

liable, by Cal. Corp. Code § 25504: 

Every person who directly or indirectly controls a person liable under Section 

25501 or 25503, … , every principal executive officer or director of a 

corporation so liable, every person occupying a similar status or performing 

similar functions, every employee of a person so liable who materially aids in 

the act or transaction constituting the violation, … , are also liable jointly and 

severally with and to the same extent as such person, unless the other person 

who is so liable had no knowledge of or reasonable grounds to believe in the 

existence of the facts by reason of which the liability is alleged to exist. 

Joint and several liability is also extended by Cal. Corp. Code § 25504.1:  

Any person who materially assists in any violation of Section … 25401, … with 

intent to deceive or defraud, is jointly and severally liable with any other person 

liable under this chapter for such violation. 

 

A purchaser does not need privity with a secondary violator for imposition of 

joint and several liability under § 25504 or §25504.1.  Moss v. Kroner, 197 Cal. App. 

4th 860, 875 (2011); and California Amplifier, 94 Cal.App.4th at 109.  To state a claim 

against a secondary violator, a Plaintiff must allege a primary violation of § 25401; 

                     
4 Midway stock traded as “MDW”.   
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and, privity with the primary violator.  Ibid. Wolfus alleged a primary violation by 

Midway and privity with Midway, who sold Wolfus the stock.  (SAC at ¶99-112.) 

 Control persons, directors and/or principal executives are secondarily liable 

under §25504 for any primary violations of §25401 by Midway.  Defendants are all 

control persons, directors and/or principal executives of Midway.  (SAC ¶64 & 85.) 

 A person may also be secondarily liable if they provide material aid and/or 

assistance by preparing or assisting in the preparation of documents or otherwise 

facilitating the securities fraud, even if they are not a control person, executive or 

director.  Arei II Cases, 216 Cal. App. 4th 1004 (2013).  Wolfus described how each 

Defendant was responsible for the accuracy of press releases and disclosures by their 

membership on various corporate governance committees.  (SAC at ¶64 & 85 (“In 

those capacities, each was responsible for insuring that Midway publicly disclosed all 

material information concerning the Pan project and that all publicly disclosed 

information concerning the Pan project was true and complete, was not misleading 

and did not omitted (sic) material facts.”).) 

 A stock buy in California is regulated by the Cal. Corp. Code.  There is a 

regulation exception for warrants and convertible securities.  Cal. Corp. Code 

§25017(e).  A buy of Midway common stock (by exercise of an option) does not fall 

into the wording of the exception.  No warrants or convertible securities were 

involved; thus, the buy is subject to California Securities law.  National Auto. & Cas. 

Ins. v. Payne, 261 Cal. App. 2d 403 (1968); and, People v. Boles, 95 P.2d 949 (Cal. 
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1939).  No case is offered by the defense to support its claim of an exception.   In 

Stormedia v. Superior Court, 976 P.2d 214 (Cal. 1999), the California Supreme Court 

found that Stormedia was a seller of securities with regard to its employee stock 

purchase plan.   While §25017(e) was cited, no exception was found.   

 The SAC states in detail all the elements for a violation of California Security 

law.  Mueller v. San Diego Entertainment Partners, 260 F.Supp.3d 1283 (2017).  As 

described in Section A above, the SAC lays out the who, what, when, where and how.  

Scienter is described in detail, as are the false statements, reliance, causation and loss. 

Wolfus alleged the specific written public filings and press releases containing 

the false and misleading statements and omissions.  SAC at ¶ 37, 39-45, 47, 52-57, 59, 

60, 63, 65, 71-78, 80-84 and 86.  The SAC at ¶46, 60, 63 and 67 alleges the knowingly 

false representations regarding permitting.  SAC ¶ 78 alleges an Offering Circular 

where everything needed to be fully and accurately disclosed. 

 Falsity and materiality are alleged at SAC ¶ 65, 86, 105 and 110. 

 Wolfus has clearly and specifically alleged scienter.  Mueller holds that all that 

need be alleged is that the securities law violation was intentional or grossly negligent.  

Wolfus alleged intentional misconduct by all Defendants, particularly the executive 

officers and the members of the Disclosure and Audit committees who helped in the 

drafting of the press releases alleged.  See, e.g., SAC at ¶105, 110, 66, and 86. 
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 Reasonable and actual reliance is alleged with specificity at SAC ¶ 50, 66, 70, 

86-88, 106 and 111.  While not required as part of his prima facie case, Wolfus 

alleged when he learned of the true facts at SAC ¶ 97. 

 Defendants status imposing joint and several liability is alleged at SAC ¶ 64 and 

85.  While not required, also Wolfus alleged Defendants' participation in the drafting 

and dissemination of the false and misleading statements by their status as either 

executive officers and/or members of the Disclosure Committee, Audit Committee 

and Budget/Work Plan Committee. 

 C. The Second Cause of Action for Breach of Fiduciary Duty. 

 The elements for breach of fiduciary duty are: (1) a fiduciary relationship; (2) 

breach; and, (3) damages.  City of Atascadero v. Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & 

Smith, 68 Cal.App.4th 445 (1998); and, Apollo, 158 Cal.App.4th 226 (a properly 

alleged fiduciary relationship can serve as the basis for an action for breach of a 

fiduciary duty in a securities case).    

 Corporate officers and directors owe stockholders a fiduciary duty.  Meister v. 

Mensinger, 230 Cal. App. 4th 381 (2014).  Defendants were officers and/or directors.  

As such, Defendants owed stockholder Wolfus a fiduciary duty. 

 Section A above describes how the SAC details the false and misleading 

statements made, and scienter.  Intentionally lying about a material issue is dishonest 

dealing and a breach of fiduciary duty.  Ibid.  Section A above describes how but for 
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Wolfus reliance on the false statements about progress at the Pan mine, he would not 

have bought additional shares, but would have instead sold his position. 

 Wolfus claim is direct, it is not a derivative claim captured by the bankruptcy or 

subject to Canadian law.  The SAC describes a breach of the fiduciary duty to disclose 

material information, not a diminution of value or a mismanagement claim.  Claims 

related to purchase (or holding) of stock are personal to the stockholder and therefore 

direct.  Citigroup v. AHW Investment, 140 A.3d 1125 (Del. 2016). 

 Wolfus holds the claim for breach of the fiduciary duty to disclose, as he was 

owed the duty, he was the recipient of the false statements, and he acted in reliance 

upon them.  Wolfus suffered the harm.  Secondly, if there is a recovery, damages 

would go to Wolfus for money lost in purchasing and holding his stock, not to the 

corporation.  Defendants do not and cannot explain how damages on the claim 

described in the SAC could be received by Midway.  As such, the claim is direct 

under Parametric Sound v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Ct., 401 P.3d 1100 (Nev. 2017).   

 The fact that all stockholders suffered when the stock price went down does not 

change a direct claim into a derivative one.    The special injury rule was abandoned in 

Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, 845 A.2d 1031 (Del. 2004) (a stockholder 

may sue for their direct injury even when all stockholders suffered the same injury).      

 D. The Third Cause of Action for Aiding and Abetting a Breach of  

  Fiduciary Duty. 

 

 The elements for aiding and abetting are: (1) the person knows the conduct of 

another constitutes a breach of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement 
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to the person to so act; or, (2) the person gives substantial assistance to the other in 

accomplishing a tort and the person’s own conduct, considered separately, constituted 

a breach of duty to a third person.  American Master Lease v. Idanta Partners, 225 

Cal.App.4th 1451, 1475 (2014).  An aiding and abetting Defendant does not have to 

owe an independent duty to the Plaintiff.  Id., at 1476. 

 Defendants were members of the Board, corporate governance committees of 

Midway and/or principal executive officers.  One purpose of the committees was to 

ensure that Midway did not breach its fiduciary duty to honestly disclose information 

to stockholders and the public.  Section A above describes how Defendants aided and 

abetted the false disclosures, despite their knowledge of the truth.  The SAC satisfies 

the elements for aiding and abetting set forth in American Master Lease.   

 The aiding and abetting claim is direct for the same reasons as the breach of 

fiduciary duty claim. 

 E. The Fourth Cause of Action for Common Law Fraud. 

 The elements for fraud are: (1) a misrepresentation-that is, a false 

representation, concealment or nondisclosure; (2) knowledge of falsity or scienter; (3) 

intent to defraud-that is, to induce reliance; (4) justifiable reliance; and, (5) damage.   

Lazar v. Superior Court, 909 P.2d 377, 380-81 (Cal. 1996). 

 Section A above describes all the elements of common law fraud detailed in the 

SAC.  The SAC properly identifies the who, what, when, why and where of the fraud 

claim. 
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 The claim is for fraud in inducing Wolfus to purchase shares and in inducing 

Wolfus to hold shares.  SAC at ¶128.  Defendants argue that California law does not 

apply to holder claims (D&O MTD at 18:1-11), but does not argue against application 

of California law on the inducement to purchase part of the claim.   Small holds that 

by stating an intentional securities fraud claim, Wolfus stated all the elements of a 

common law fraud claim.   Small, 65 P.3d 1255. 

 California law applies to a holder claim for purchase of a security in California.  

NAF Holdings was a commercial contract case and does not apply here.   

 Common law fraud claims are direct.  Holder claims are direct.  Citigroup v. 

AHW Investment, 140 A.3d 1125 (Del. 2016).    The defense dropped the claim that 

the common law fraud claim was derivative.    

 F. The Fifth Cause of Action for Negligent Misrepresentation. 

 The elements for negligent misrepresentation are: (1) a misrepresentation of a 

past or existing material fact; (2) without reasonable grounds for believing it to be 

true; (3) with intent to induce another's reliance on the fact misrepresented; (4) 

ignorance of the truth and justifiable reliance thereon by the party to whom the 

misrepresentation was directed, and (5) damages.  Fox v. Pollack, 181 Cal.App.3d 

954, 962, 226 Cal.Rptr. 532 (1986). 

 Section A above describes how the SAC states all the elements of negligent 

misrepresentation.  Scienter and/or intent to defraud is not an element.  Small v. Fritz 
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Companies, 65 P.3d 1255 (Cal. 2002).  However, the scienter facts alleged satisfy the 

second element. 

 The false facts described in Section A are not future events.  For example, ¶63 

describes the press release of December 20, 2013, which claimed that the permitting 

process for Pan was completed.  The press release addressed a past event, and was an 

affirmative misrepresentation.       

 The claim for negligent misrepresentation is direct.   The defense dropped the 

argument that the common law fraud claim was derivative.    

 G. Leave to Amend. 

 The motion to dismiss focuses on technical pleading issues that were not 

addressed in the ruling on the first motion to dismiss.  Technical pleading arguments 

should not absolve a Defendant of fraud.  Apollo, 158 Cal App. 4th at 242 (2007). 

Leave to amend is requested to address any areas of concern held by the Court. 

Schaffer Family Investors v. Sonnier, 120 F.Supp.3d 1028, 1038 (C.D. Cal. 2015) 

(leave to amend should be freely granted). 

IV. NEVADA HAS JURISDICTION OVER DEFENDANTS 

General jurisdiction exists when a party has sustained contacts with the forum 

state.  Specific jurisdiction exists when a non-resident has minimum contacts with the 

forum state which are related to the complaint.  Fulbright Jaworski v. Eighth Judicial 

Dist. Ct., 342 P.3d 997, 1001-02 (Nev. 2015).   
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The Nevada long arm provides jurisdiction over a non-resident if the exercise of 

personal jurisdiction would not violate due process.  NRS 14.065(1).  “Due process 

requires ‘minimum contacts' between the defendant and the forum state ‘such that the 

maintenance of the suit does not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial 

justice.’” Trump v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 857 P.2d 740, 747 (Nev. 1993) (quoting 

Mizner v. Mizner, 84 Nev. 268, 270, 439 P.2d 679, 680 (1968)). “[T]he defendant's 

conduct and connection with the forum State [must be] such that he should reasonably 

anticipate being haled into court there.” World–Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 

444 U.S. 286, 297, 100 S.Ct. 559 (1980).”  Consipio Holding v. Carlberg, 282 P.3d 

751 (Nev. 2012). 

 Specific jurisdiction exists when a party intentionally involves the forum. 

Trump, 109 Nev. at 700, 857 P.2d at 748, citing, Brainerd v. Governors of the 

University of Alberta, 873 F.2d 1257, 1259 (9th Cir. 1989) (specific jurisdiction exists 

if “the defendant intentionally directed his activities into the forum”). 

 When challenged, the party seeking jurisdiction must introduce “some 

evidence” to establish a prima facie showing of jurisdiction. Trump, 857 P.2d at 743-

45 (1993).  Once competent evidence of jurisdiction is presented, the court must 

accept the proffered evidence as true; and, any remaining dispute over jurisdiction is 

resolved at trial.  Ibid. 
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 A. The Court has General Jurisdiction over Defendant Yu. 

 Defendant Yu is a Nevada resident.  Nevada has general jurisdiction over its 

residents.  Defendant Yu has not moved for dismissal based on jurisdiction. 

 B. The Court has Specific Jurisdiction over the Remaining Defendants. 

 Wolfus provides sufficient evidence of minimum contacts with Nevada, which 

are related to the complaint, to establish a prima facie showing of specific jurisdiction. 

Competent evidence establishes Defendants intentionally involved Nevada. 

Brunk, Blacketor and Moritz, were officers and/or directors of Midway US a 

Nevada Corp., which was involved with Midway gold mining in Nevada.  Dec., at ¶3-

9.  Brunk, Blacketor and Moritz were paid by Midway US.  Brunk, Blacketor and 

Moritz were also officers and/or directors of 11 Nevada companies that were involved 

with Midway and the Nevada gold mines, including the Pan project.  Dec., at ¶3-9.  

Brunk, Blacketor and Moritz were often in Nevada at the Midway Ely office to 

oversee mine operations, especially those at Pan.  Moritz spent over half his time in 

Nevada, primarily working on the Pan project.  Dec., at ¶7-8. 

Brunk, Blacketor, Newell, Yu and Klein were members of the Disclosure 

Committee.  One of the purposes of the Disclosure Committee was to ensure honest 

disclosure of facts on the ground.  Much of the disclosure was aimed at Nevada.  

Brunk and Moritz based their Disclosure work on the knowledge gained during their 

frequent visits to the operations in Nevada.  Dec., at ¶10-13. 
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Frequent meetings were held in Ely and Las Vegas, Nevada.  Brunk and Moritz 

consistently attended, Newell concedes attendance at least once as well.  The dates, 

location and content of some meetings are described in detail in the Declaration at 

¶14-22.  Progress at Pan was a big topic, as was permitting efforts.  Both topics are 

integral to the Complaint.   

Brunk, Hale, Sheridan, Yu, Klein, Sheridan, Sawchak and Knutson were on 

Audit and Work/Budget Midway committees.  The committees had express 

knowledge of events on the ground at Pan regarding operations, including permitting 

and finances, which are integral to the complaint.  Dec., at 23-26. 

Brunk, Moritz and Yu attended fund raising events in Nevada.  Dec., at 32.  

Brunk and Moritz attended project review meetings in Wendover.  Dec., at 42.   

Brunk and/or Moritz attended BLM meetings, meet with Nevada lobbyists, 

government officials, including Governor Sandoval, engineers, and geologists 

concerning Midway Nevada operations, including the Pan project.  All meetings 

occurred in Nevada.  Dec., at 33-42. 

Blacketor attended all Board meetings held in Nevada and at least three staff 

meetings in Ely.  Dec., at 43. 

Klein and Hale were on several committees, gained knowledge of the truth on 

the ground, and did not disclose the truth.  Hale was active in managing Midway, 

including the Pan project.  Klein was also active and spent a considerable amount of 

time in Nevada.  Dec., at 44-50. 
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Newell was an active manager of mining in Nevada, worked in Nevada, and 

drafted press releases based on knowledge gained from his work.  Dec., at pg. 13. 

Defendants had more extensive contacts with Nevada.  The contacts were all 

related to mine business, including the Pan project; which is integral to the Complaint. 

C. Jurisdictional Discovery and Evidentiary Hearing. 

 The contacts described are much greater than minimum, and satisfy all notions 

of due process.  For example, Brunk and Moritz were present in Nevada many more 

times than Jane Macon in Fulbright I & II, and each visit dealt with gold mining in 

Nevada, primarily the Pan project, and necessarily related to honest disclosure-which 

is the focus of this case.  However, should the Court elect to further explore  

jurisdiction at an evidentiary hearing, Wolfus requests an opportunity to perform 

jurisdictional discovery. 

Dated this  18th   day of April 2018.  
 

     /S/ James R. Christensen   

      JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN ESQ. 

      Nevada Bar No. 3861 

      James R. Christensen PC 

      601 S. 6th St.   

      Las Vegas NV 89101 

      (702) 272-0406 

      jim@jchristensenlaw.com 

      SAMUEL T. REES ESQ. 

Admitted Pro Hac Vice 

26 Muirfield Place 

New Orleans, LA 70131 

(213) 220-9988 

streesesq@earthlink.net 

     Attorneys for Plaintiff DANIEL E. WOLFUS 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I CERTIFY SERVICE of PLAINTIFF’S CONSOLIDATED MEMORANDUM 

OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN OPPOSITION TO MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

PLAINTIFF’S SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT was made this date by electronic 

service (via Odyssey) to all parties currently shown on the Court’s e-serve list of 

recipients this   18th   day of April, 2018. 

       /s/ Dawn Christensen  

an employee of James R. Christensen 
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Robert J. Cassity, Esq. (9779)  
David J. Freeman, Esq. (10045) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134 
Tel: (702) 669-4600 
Fax: (702) 669-4650 
bcassity@hollandhart.com 
dfreeman@hollanhart.com 
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
Tel: (303) 295-8085 
Fax: (303) 295-8261 
hsteinsollod@hollandhart.com 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE, 
JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD 
SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W. 
SHERIDAN; ROGER A NEWELL; 
RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL 
KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; HCP-
MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability 
Company; and DOES 1 through 25. 
 

Defendants. 
 

CASE NO.:  A-17-756971-B 
DEPT. NO.:  XXVII 

 
 
 
D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 

Defendants Richard D. Moritz (“Moritz”), Bradley J. Blacketor (“Blacketor”), Timothy 

Haddon (“Haddon”), Richard Sawchak (“Sawchak”), John W. Sheridan (“Sheridan”), Frank Yu 

(“Yu”), Roger A. Newell (“Newell”) and Rodney D. Knutson (“Knutson”) (collectively, the 

Case Number: A-17-756971-B

Electronically Filed
3/16/2018 3:44 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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“D&O Defendants”), by and through their attorneys of record, HOLLAND & HART LLP, hereby 

move this Court to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint for Damages filed by Plaintiff Daniel 

E. Wolfus (“Wolfus” or “Plaintiff”) on February 5, 2018 (the “SAC”). 

This Motion is made pursuant to Rules 12(b)(1), (2) and (5) of the Nevada Rules of Civil 

Procedure (“NRCP”) and is based on the attached Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

Declarations of Rodney D. Knutson, Bradley J. Blacketor, Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan, 

Timothy Haddon, Roger A. Newell, and Richard D. Moritz, which are attached hereto as Exhibits 

“A” through “G,” respectively, together with the exhibits, the pleadings and papers on file herein, 

and any oral argument this Court may allow. 

DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 
 

 
 

By __/s/ David J. Freeman__________________ 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
David J. Freeman, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134     
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO:  ALL INTERESTED PARTIES AND THEIR COUNSEL: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the foregoing D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT will be brought before Department XXVII of 

the above-entitled Court on the ___ day of _________________, 2018, at _______ a.m./p.m. 

DATED this __ day of March, 2018. 
 
 
 

By __/s/ David J. Freeman__________________ 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
David J. Freeman, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134     
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice) 
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 

 
 
  

25th              April                                 10:00           xxx
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES IN SUPPORT OF 
D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT 

I. 

INTRODUCTION 

This is Plaintiff’s second attempt to state a claim against the former officers and directors 

and certain investors in Midway Gold Inc. (“Midway”), a now bankrupt Canadian corporation 

with its principal place of business in Englewood, Colorado.  Plaintiff, a California resident, is 

the former CEO and Chairman of the Board of Midway.  Plaintiff started buying and selling 

Midway stock in 2008 when he became a director of Midway.  Over the years, Plaintiff actively 

traded Midway stock such that by May 2012, Plaintiff had accumulated 1,629,117 shares of 

Midway stock at favorable prices. Plaintiff was ousted as the CEO and Chairman in 2013, but 

continued as a director until June 2013.   

Plaintiff seeks to recover the amounts he paid to exercise his expiring stock options on 

two occasions in 2014 allegedly in reliance upon false statements or omissions in Midway’s press 

releases and SEC filings. Plaintiff also seeks to recover the market value of the stock he and his 

family owned in February 2014 when Midway’s shares traded at their peak.  Thus, relying on the 

false clarity of hindsight, Plaintiff alleges that had he known certain allegedly undisclosed facts, 

he would not have exercised the stock options in 2014; rather, he would have omnisciently sold 

all his common stock when Midway’s stock reached its peak in February 2014.       

On January 5, 2018, this Court entered an order granting Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss 

the Amended Complaint without prejudice for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. See Order 

Granting Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss Amended Complaint Without Prejudice (filed Jan. 5, 

2018) (the “Order”). The Court concluded that Plaintiff’s claims, which were premised on harm 

caused by the reduction in value of shares of stock, were inherently derivative in nature under the 

Direct Harm test adopted by the Nevada Supreme Court in Parametric Sound Corp. The Court 

further concluded it lacked subject matter jurisdiction because, under the internal affairs doctrine, 

British Columbia law vests exclusive jurisdiction in the Supreme Court of British Columbia to 
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adjudicate Plaintiff’s derivative claims. Plaintiff fares no better in this, his second bite at the apple, 

and the SAC should now be dismissed with prejudice.1   

First, as this Court previously found, it lacks subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s 

claims for breach of fiduciary duty and aiding and abetting Midway’s breach of fiduciary duty.  

These claims are still inherently derivative in nature under the Direct Harm test adopted by the 

Nevada Supreme Court in Parametric Sound Corp. and British Columbia law vests exclusive 

jurisdiction in the Supreme Court of British Columbia to adjudicate derivative claims. 

Accordingly, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s derivative claims and the 

claims must be dismissed.   

Second, Plaintiff fails to state a primary violation of the California Corporate Securities 

Act of 1968, which creates a private right of action for a purchaser of a security where the seller 

engages in a material misrepresentation or omission of fact in connection with the purchase or 

sale of said security. Because Plaintiff did not “purchase” a security in 2014 as a matter of law, 

failed to allege any defendant made a statement directly to Plaintiff, let alone a false statement, 

and failed to allege any defendant actually sold securities to Plaintiff, the SAC fails to state a 

primary violation of the Act and the California state securities claim must be dismissed.  

Next, the Court should dismiss with prejudice Plaintiff’s so-called “holder claims” under 

California law for common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation because  (1) California law 

does not apply to a publicly-traded Canadian corporation; (2) even if California law applied, 

claims arising out of the exercise of stock options are not “holder claims”; (3) Plaintiff fails to 

allege reliance and causation with the particularity required for asserting holder claims; and (4) 

Plaintiff fails to plead scienter with the required specificity under Rule 9(b).  

Lastly, the D&O Defendants are not subject to personal jurisdiction in Nevada.  The D&O 

Defendants are not subject to general jurisdiction because, with one exception, they do not reside, 

                                                 
1 The SAC alleges five causes of action: (1) a claim for violation of California's Corporate Securities Act of 

1968, California Corporations Code § 25000, et seq.; (2) a claim for California common law breach of fiduciary duty; 
(3) a claim for California common law aiding and abetting Midway’s breach of fiduciary duty; (4) a claim for 
California common law fraud; and (5) a claim for California common law negligent misrepresentation.  A redlined 
version of the SAC is attached hereto as Exhibit “H” for the Court’s convenience. 
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much less domicile, in Nevada and their contacts with Nevada certainly do not render them at 

“home” in this forum.  Furthermore, Plaintiff’s claims arise out of his purported reliance upon 

alleged material omissions contained in Midway’s SEC filings and press releases, which were 

drafted in and issued from the state of Colorado and communicated to the investing public.  

Because the claims asserted in this lawsuit do not arise from the D&O Defendants’ purported 

contacts with the state of Nevada, this Court cannot exercise specific jurisdiction over them.  

II. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND2 

A. The Parties. 

Non-party Midway Gold Corp. (“Midway”) was a publicly traded Canadian Corporation 

incorporated under the Company Act of British Columbia3 with its principal executive offices 

located in Englewood, Colorado.4  SAC ¶ 23.  Midway was engaged in the business of exploring 

and mining gold, primarily from mines located in Nevada and Washington.  Id. ¶ 30.  Midway 

filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy on June 22, 2015. SAC ¶ 95.   

Plaintiff, currently a California resident, became an outside director of Midway in 

November 2008.  SAC ¶¶ 7, 26.  In 2009, Plaintiff became Chairman of the Board and the Chief 

Executive Officer of Midway, serving in both capacities until May 18, 2012 when he was replaced 

by Defendant Kenneth Brunk.  Id. ¶ 27.   

Plaintiff began purchasing common stock of Midway in the open market in February 2008. 

SAC ¶ 29. Plaintiff also acquired Midway stock option grants pursuant to an employee stock 

option plan on January 7 and September 10, 2009. See SEC Form 4 for January 7 and September 

                                                 
2 For the purposes of this motion only, the factual allegations are taken as true as they are stated in the 

Second Amended Complaint. The D&O Defendants do not admit to any of the allegations by this Motion and reserve 
the right to challenge any of the allegations at any further stage of this litigation. 

3 The Business Corporations Act of British Columbia (“BCA”) replaced the former Company Act of British 
Columbia on March 29, 2004. 

4 Plaintiff has not brought any claims or lawsuits arising out of the same set of facts against Midway or the 
D&O Defendants in the provincial courts of British Columbia, the place of Midway’s incorporation. 
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10, 2009, attached hereto as Exhibits “I” and “J,” respectively.5  As of May 1, 2012, Plaintiff 

and his family owned over 1,629,117 shares of Midway common stock. SAC ¶ 29.6  

B. The 2011 Pan Mine Feasibility Study. 

At the time Plaintiff became Chairman of the Board and CEO, Midway had properties in 

the exploratory stage where gold mineralization had been identified. SAC ¶ 30. One of these 

properties was the Pan Mine property located at the northern end of the Pancake mountain range 

in Western Pine County, Nevada.  Id. ¶ 32.  Prior to May 2010, Midway decided to convert from 

a purely exploration company into a gold mining production company using the Pan Mine project 

as its initial production mine.  Id. ¶ 35.   

In November 2011, when Plaintiff was still Midway’s Chairman and CEO, Midway 

reported by press release filed with the SEC the results of a feasibility study for the Pan Project 

prepared by an independent contractor, Gustavson Associates (the “2011 Pan Mine Feasibility 

Study”). SAC ¶ 44 and SAC Ex. 1 at 9.  On December 20, 2011, Midway filed the 2011 Pan Mine 

Feasibility Study with the SEC.  SAC ¶ 45. The 2011 Pan Mine Feasibility Study is attached as 

Exhibit 1 to the SAC. 

In 2012, Plaintiff claims that as CEO and Chairman of the Board of Midway, he was 

primarily involved in securing capital for Midway to fund its operations.  SAC ¶ 49.  When Hale 

Capital Partners LP offered to secure a $70 million private placement of preferred stock, Plaintiff 

purportedly opposed the transaction proposed by Hale, while Brunk was an ardent supporter.  Id.   

On May 18, 2012, Midway’s Board of Directors voted to terminate Plaintiff as its 

Chairman and CEO and replaced him with Brunk.  SAC ¶ 50.  Plaintiff, however, continued to 

serve as a director until June 2013, continued to receive board packages consisting of all 

information provided to all directors for Board meetings, and participated in the Board meetings 

until his departure in June 2013.  Id.  

                                                 
5 D&O Defendants request that the Court take judicial notice of the SEC Forms 4.  NRS 47.130; In re MGM 

Mirage Sec. Litig., 2:09-CV-01558-GMN, 2013 WL 5435832, at *4 (D. Nev. Sept. 26, 2013) (citing In re Amgen 
Inc. Sec. Litig., 544 F. Supp. 2d 1009, 1023-24 (C.D. Cal. 2008)) (observing that the court may take judicial notice 
of SEC filings). 

6 As of December 23, 2014, and after the sale of some shares (at a profit), the combined shareholdings of 
Wolfus and/or his assignors were 2,402,251 shares of Midway common stock. 
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C. Midway’s Alleged Misrepresentations and Omissions. 

Plaintiff claims that, by December 13, 2013, Midway’s management and its Board 

(including the D&O Defendants) knew the Pan Mine was being built and operated in ways that 

were materially different from those assumed in the Pan Mine 2011 Study, but the Defendants 

did not inform investors of the material impact on cash flows as a result of those differences.  

SAC ¶ 65.  Plaintiff generally alleges that “from and after May 18, 2012, Wolfus carefully read 

and considered all press releases by Midway and the public filings made by Wolfus usually within 

a day or two following their release” in order to decide whether to purchase additional shares or 

sell his shares.  Id. ¶¶ 50, 66, 87, 129, 130, 131.  Plaintiff alleges that he was primarily concerned 

with the status of the Pan project and the likelihood that this project would being profitably mining 

gold and be revenue positive.  Id.  Plaintiff claims he determined from those public statements 

and the absence of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts7 and 2014 Undisclosed Facts8 that profitable 

mining operations would result in a substantial increase in the value of his Midway shares.  Id. ¶¶ 

129-136. The SAC does not contain any allegations about any particular public statements after 

December 1, 2014 until the announcement that it was filing for bankruptcy on June 22, 2015.   

D. Plaintiff’s Exercise of Stock Options in January and September 2014. 

In late December 2013 and in early January 2014, Plaintiff alleges he “needed to decide 

whether to exercise some of his Midway stock options which would soon be expiring.”  SAC ¶ 

66. Plaintiff alleges that “in order to make this investment decision, Wolfus carefully reviewed 

                                                 
7 Plaintiff alleges that Defendants failed to disclose that (1) Midway was unable to raise sufficient cash to 

complete the Pan Mine project in the manner set forth in the 2011 Pan Mine Feasibility Study, as well as fund on-
going operations until the Pan Mine project produced sufficient revenues to cover these expenses; (2) the Hale 
Defendants blocked any consideration of the sale of Midway’s material assets to generate additional revenue; (3) 
Midway did not seek the proper permits and did not have the necessary facilities to process the gold solution once 
leaching was completed; and (4) there would be a considerable delay before the facilities were constructed and 
permitted for operations. SAC ¶ 65. 

8 Plaintiff alleges Defendants failed to disclose that Midway (1) had a mining contractor poised to begin 
loading ore directly on the leach pads at the Pan Mine despite Midway not having a qualified person on site to 
supervise the loading; (2) did not have the permits authorizing it to deviate from the 2011 Pan Mine Feasibility Study; 
and (3) did not have the necessary facilities to process the gold solutions once leaching had been completed. SAC ¶ 
86. 
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and considered Midway’s press releases and public filings, primarily those that were issued after 

he ceased to be Midway’s Chief Executive Officer.”9 Id.  

The only stock purchase alleged to have been made by Plaintiff in 2014 was the exercise 

of stock options granted to Plaintiff pursuant to an employee stock option plan on January 7 and 

September 10, 2009.   SAC ¶¶ 29, 66, 69, 87; Exs. I and J, respectively.  On January 23, 2014, 

Plaintiff exercised stock options by purchasing 200,000 shares at $0.56/share for $112,000 

Canadian Dollars ($100,636 USD). SAC ¶ 102.  At that time, Midway’s common stock was 

selling at $1.27 US dollars per share and its price was rising. Id.  

Plaintiff claims that following his exercise of stock options on January 23, 2014, 

“thereafter and on a daily basis checked the market price of Midway’s stock.”  SAC ¶ 70. He 

further contends that when Midway’s stock reached a high on February 14, 2014, of $1.39, he 

decided to continue to hold his shares. Id. The SAC also alleges that, at the time he made this 

decision to exercise his expiring options and not to sell his shares, he was unaware of the 2013 

Undisclosed Facts or that the Pan Mine project was not fully permitted and that, had he known, 

he and his family members would have sold all of the Midway shares at that time. Id. ¶¶ 70, 106, 

111, 117. 

In late August and early September 2014, Plaintiff alleges that he  again “needed to decide 

whether or not to exercise some of his options which would soon be expiring.”   SAC ¶ 87.  

Plaintiff claims to have reviewed the press releases and SEC filings “primarily those that were 

issued after he purchased shares in January 2014.”10  Id.   

On September 5, 2014, Plaintiff contends he notified Midway, once again, of his intent to 

exercise some of the stock options granted to him in 2009 pursuant to Midway’s stock option 

plan. SAC ¶ 87; Ex. J.11  On September 19, 2014, Plaintiff consummated his stock option exercise 

                                                 
9 Notably, the SAC does not specify which press releases or SEC filings Plaintiff reviewed at that time.  Nor 

does Plaintiff point to any specific misrepresentation contained in the filings upon which he purportedly relied. 

10 Notably, the SAC does not specify which press releases or SEC filings Plaintiff reviewed at that time.  
Nor does Plaintiff point to any specific misrepresentation contained in the filings upon which he purportedly relied. 

11 See supra n.5. 
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by purchasing 1,000,000 shares directly from Midway at a purchase price of $0.86/share for 

$860,000 Canadian Dollars ($783,778 USD). Id. ¶¶ 89, 107.12 

E. The Midway Bankruptcy. 

The SAC generally alleges that from mid-September 2014 until the announcement of the 

voluntary petition for bankruptcy on June 22, 2015, Midway’s press releases and SEC filings 

provided only favorable information concerning the Pan Mine project. SAC ¶¶ 90-94.  As a result 

of the Midway Bankruptcy, all or virtually all of Midway’s assets have been sold and there are 

no funds or recoveries by any common shareholders of Midway.  Thus, the value of any common 

stock held by any Midway shareholder, once Midway filed bankruptcy, became worthless. Id. ¶ 

96. 

III. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 
 
A. Plaintiff’s Breach of Fiduciary Duty and Aiding and Abetting Breach of Fiduciary 

Duty Claims Are Derivative and Governed by British Columbian Law and Must Be 
Dismissed For Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction  

Plaintiff’s claims for breach of fiduciary duty (Count II) and aiding and abetting breach 

of fiduciary duty (Count III) are derivative claims related to the D&O Defendants’ internal 

management of Midway, a Canadian corporation.  As a result, the internal affairs doctrine requires 

this Court to apply the law of the jurisdiction where the corporation was incorporated (here, 

British Columbia, Canada), to determine whether it has subject matter jurisdiction to hear the 

claims. The Business Corporations Act (“BCA”), which governs British Columbia corporations 

such as Midway, provides that the Supreme Court of British Columbia has exclusive jurisdiction 

over derivative claims involving British Columbia corporations. Accordingly, this Court has no 

subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s derivative claims contained in Counts II and III and 

must dismiss the same. 

                                                 
12 At the time of this exercise, Midway’s common stock was trading at US$1.01.   
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1. Legal Standard on a Rule 12(b)(1) Motion 

Rule 12(b)(1) allows a party to seek dismissal of a complaint for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction. NRCP 12(b)(1); Morrison v. Beach City LLC, 116 Nev. 34, 36, 991 P.2d 982, 983 

(2000). The burden of proving subject matter jurisdiction lies with the party asserting subject 

matter jurisdiction, the plaintiff or petitioner in an action. Id.  A motion to dismiss for lack of 

subject matter jurisdiction is proper “when a lack of jurisdiction over the subject matter [] appears 

on the face of the pleading.” Girola v. Roussille, 81 Nev. 661, 663 (1965); see also Nevada v. 

United States, 221 F. Supp. 2d 1241, 1248 (D. Nev. 2002).  

2. Nevada Recognizes the Internal Affairs Doctrine  

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the “most significant relationship test governs 

choice of law issues in tort actions unless another, more specific section of the Second 

Restatement applies to the particular tort.” Gen. Motors Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 122 

Nev. 466, 134 P.3d 111, 116 (2006) (emphasis added). With regard to claims of breach of 

fiduciary duty, fraud and negligence by the directors or officers of a corporation, there is a more 

specific section that applies, namely, section 309. RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONFLICT OF LAWS 

§ 309 (1971). Section 309 states that, in general, “the local law of the state of incorporation will 

be applied to determine the existence and extent of a director’s or officer’s liability to the 

corporation, its creditors and shareholders . . . .” Id.  This rule embodies the widely accepted 

choice-of-law principle often referred to as the “internal affairs doctrine.”13  The internal affairs 

doctrine is well established and generally followed throughout this country, including in 

Nevada.14 

                                                 
13 See, e.g., Atherton v. FDIC, 519 U.S. 213, 224 (1997); see also Batchelder v. Kawamoto, 147 F.3d 915, 

920 (9th Cir. 1998) (noting that, under the internal affairs doctrine, “the rights of shareholders in a foreign company, 
including the right to sue derivatively, are determined by the law of the place where the company is incorporated”); 
Vaughn v. LJ Int’l, Inc., 94 Cal. Rptr. 3d 166, 225 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009) (applying internal affairs doctrine in 
concluding that the British Virgin Islands Business Companies Act governed appellant’s standing to bring his 
derivative claims against British Virgin Islands corporation and its directors in California). 

14 See, e.g., Fagin v. Doby George, LLC, 525 Fed. App’x 618, 619 (9th Cir. 2013) (affirming a Nevada 
federal district court’s dismissal of a shareholder derivative action for lack of subject matter jurisdiction where, after 
applying the internal affairs doctrine, plaintiffs failed to obtain leave to assert said claims from Canada’s Yukon 
Supreme Court); see also Dictor v. Creative Mgmt. Servs., LLC., 223 P.3d 332, 335 (Nev. 2010) (noting that Nevada 
has adopted the RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONFLICT OF LAWS as the relevant authority for its choice-of-law 
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Because Midway is a British Columbian corporation, Plaintiff’s common law claims for 

breach of fiduciary duty and aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty are governed by 

Canadian law.  As such, the Court must dismiss these inherently derivative claims because it lacks 

subject matter jurisdiction.   

a. The BCA Vests Exclusive Jurisdiction in the Supreme Court of 
British Columbia to Adjudicate Plaintiff’s Derivative Claims. 

This Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction to hear Plaintiff’s derivative claims because 

exclusive jurisdiction is vested in the Supreme Court of British Columbia pursuant to Canadian 

law. Specifically, Plaintiff’s derivative claims fail to satisfy two separate and necessary 

preconditions for bringing an action on behalf of a British Columbian corporation: (1) providing 

notice to the directors prior to initiating the action; and (2) obtaining judicial permission from the 

Supreme Court of British Columbia to bring the derivative action prior to filing suit.15 See BCA 

§§ 232 & 233.  

For derivative claims involving corporations that are incorporated in British Columbia, 

the BCA requires the shareholder complainant to obtain leave of the Supreme Court of British 

Columbia16 prior to asserting derivative claims against the company’s directors.  See BCA § 

232(2).  The Supreme Court of British Columbia may grant the complainant leave to assert the 

derivative claims if, among other things, notice of the application for leave has been provided to 

the company.  See BCA § 233(1). In other words, a mandatory precondition to bringing a 

derivative suit under the BCA is to apply for and obtain leave of the Supreme Court of British 

Columbia to do so. Failure to comply requires dismissal of the action. United States courts, 

including the District of Nevada and the Ninth Circuit, have similarly recognized they lack 

jurisdiction to hear shareholder claims against Canadian corporations and their directors. E.g., 

                                                 
jurisprudence in tort cases); see also Hausman v. Buckley, 299 F.2d 696, 702 (2d Cir. 1962) (internal affairs doctrine 
“is well established and generally followed throughout this country”). 

15 As set forth above, the internal affairs doctrine requires this Court to look to Canadian law. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the D&O Defendants hereby provide notice of their intent to raise an issue concerning the law 
of a foreign country, Canada, pursuant to NRCP 44.1. 

16 The BCA states that derivative proceedings must be heard by “the court,” which is defined as “the 
Supreme Court.” BCA § 1(1).  The B.C. Interpretation Act clarifies that the term “Supreme Court” refers only to the 
“Supreme Court of British Columbia.” B.C. Interpretation Act, R.S.B.C. (1996), chapter 238 § 29. 
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Fagin v. Doby George, LLC, 525 Fed. App’x 618 (9th Cir. May 31, 2013) (affirming dismissal 

from the District of Nevada for lack of subject matter jurisdiction).17 

Here, Plaintiff failed to make application to and has not obtained leave from the Supreme 

Court of British Columbia to bring a derivative action on behalf of Midway.  Because British 

Columbia law applies to Plaintiff’s claims, and because Sections 232 and 233 of the BCA requires 

Plaintiff to seek leave of the Supreme Court of British Columbia prior to bringing derivative 

claims this Court cannot properly exercise jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s derivative claims and they 

must  be dismissed.18 
 

b. Plaintiff’s Fiduciary Duty Claims are Derivative Under the Direct 
Harm Test. 

Plaintiff asserts claims for breach of fiduciary duty and aiding and abetting Midway’s 

breach of fiduciary duty against the D&O Defendants arising out their purported failure to 

disclose certain facts regarding the progress (or lack thereof) of the Pan Mine project prior to 

Plaintiff’s stock option exercises in 2014. SAC ¶¶ 114, 115.  Plaintiff’s breach of fiduciary duty 

claims, as repleaded in the SAC, are still derivative under the Direct Harm test adopted by the 

Nevada Supreme Court in Parametric Sound Corp. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 133 Nev. Adv. 

Op. 59, 401 P.3d 1100 (2017) (“Parametric”).   

Plaintiff goes to great lengths in the SAC to insist that none of his claims are brought 

derivatively on behalf of Midway.  See SAC ¶¶ 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 114.  But Plaintiff’s failure to label 

his claims “derivative” is of no moment. The Court may not simply accept a plaintiff’s conclusory 

allegation of direct harm.  See, e.g., Feldman v. Cutaia, (“Feldman I”) 956 A.2d 644, 659-60 

                                                 
17 See also Taylor v. LSI Logic Corp., 715 A.2d 837 (Del. 1998),  overruled on other grounds by Martinez 

v. E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co., Inc., 86 A.3d 1102, 1112 n. 42 (Del. 2014); Locals 302 & 612 of Int'l Union of 
Operating Engineers - Employers Const. Indus. Ret. Tr. v. Blanchard, 04 CIV. 5954 (LAP), 2005 WL 2063852 
(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 25, 2005); Hollinger Int’l, Inc. v. Hollinger Inc., 2007 WL 1029089, *10 (N.D. Ill. Mar. 29, 2007) 
(denying motion to amend complaint as futile because plaintiff “has not adequately explained why this Court has 
jurisdiction to hear its rescission claims premised on the [Canada Business Corporations Act], when the CBCA itself 
provides that those claims must be heard only in certain enumerated Canadian courts”). 

18 Alternatively, the Ninth Circuit has found when dealing with similar issues of exclusive jurisdiction 
rendered under the analogous Alberta (Canada) Business Corporations Act, derivative claims must be dismissed for 
failure to state a claim.  Seismic Reservoir 2020, Inc. v. Paulsson, 785 F.3d 330, 335-36 (9th Cir. 2015). Under either 
scenario, pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(1) for lack of subject matter jurisdiction or NRCP 12(b)(5) for failure to state a 
claim, Plaintiff’s derivative claims do not survive a motion to dismiss.  See infra Section III(B). 
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(Del. Ch. 2007), aff’d (“Feldman II”) 951 A.2d 727, 733 (Del. 2008) (recasting a derivative claim 

as direct is “disfavored by Delaware courts”). Courts determining whether a claim is direct or 

derivative must “look to the body of the complaint, not to the plaintiff's designation or stated 

intention.” Id.; see also Sweeney v. Harbin Elec., Inc., No. 3:10-cv-00685-RCJ-VPC, 2011 WL 

3236114, **2-3 (D. Nev. July 27, 2011).  

Despite Plaintiff’s attempt to replead his claims, the SAC still alleges diminution in value 

of Plaintiff’s stock holdings as a result of the Defendants’ purported concealment of corporate 

mismanagement, which diminution would have been suffered by every other Midway 

shareholder.  It is undisputed that a diminution in stock value is an injury that does not give a 

stockholder standing to sue on his own behalf.19  In such a case, the wrong is “entirely derivative, 

since [a]ny devaluation of stock is shared collectively by all the shareholders, rather than 

independently by the plaintiff or any other individual shareholder.” Lee v. Marsh & McLennan 

Companies, Inc., 17 Misc. 3d 1138(A), 856 N.Y.S.2d 24, 2007 WL 4303514 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 

2007);20 see also In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196, 226, 252 P.3d 681, 702 (2011) 

(shareholders in derivative action alleged that Board’s actions prevented corporation from 

“realizing the amount of profit it would have obtained” causing the company and shareholders to 

suffer harm). 

In Parametric, the Nevada Supreme Court concluded that, to distinguish between direct 

and derivative claims, Nevada “courts should consider only ‘(1) who suffered the alleged harm 

(the corporation or the suing stockholders, individually); and (2) who would receive the benefit 

of any recovery or other remedy (the corporation or the stockholders, individually)?’” 401 P.3d 

                                                 
19 See Manzo v. Rite Aid Corp., 28 Del. J. Corp. L. 819, 2002 WL 31926606, at *6 (Del.Ch. Dec. 19, 2002) 

(to “the extent that plaintiff was deprived of accurate information upon which to base investment decisions, and as a 
result, received a poor rate of return on her Rite Aid shares, she experienced an injury suffered by all Rite Aid 
shareholders in proportion to their pro rata share ownership,” this would give rise to a derivative claim.); In re 
Imaging3, Inc., 634 F. App’x 172, 175 (9th Cir. 2015) (“The claims in Vuksich’s state court litigation [for stock loss] 
do not allege that Vuksich suffered an injury distinct from that suffered by other shareholders, and none of his claims 
would allow him to recover any damages directly.”).   

20 Canadian law on these issues is analogous.  See, e.g., Goldex Mines Ltd. v. Revill, [1974] O.J. No. 2245 
(finding that a personal or direct action is one “not arising simply because the corporation itself has been damaged, 
and as a consequence of the damage to it, its shareholders have been injured.”);  Burt v. McLaughlan, [1992] A.J. 
No. 841 (noting the “clear acceptance” in Canadian law that “an action by a shareholder to recover for the decrease 
in the value of his shares is a derivative action rather than a personal action”). 
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at 1107-08 (quoting Tooley v. Donaldson, Lufkin, & Jenrette, Inc., 845 A.2d. 1031, 1033 (Del. 

2004)). The Direct Harm test does not permit Plaintiff to personally and directly recover for the 

diminution in value caused by purported corporate mismanagement. The Direct Harm test 

provides that such claims can only be asserted derivatively.21 Just as the Court correctly concluded 

with regard to the allegations in Plaintiff’s prior complaint, Plaintiff’s allegations in Counts II and 

III of the SAC describe classic injury inflicted on the corporation and identifies losses common 

to all Midway shareholders who held Midway stock at the time of its bankruptcy filing.22 See 

Order at ¶ 37. Nothing has changed.  In the SAC, Plaintiff still seeks a recovery for injuries to the 

corporation, which resulted in the loss of the market value of his stock.  Accordingly, the 

Plaintiff’s fiduciary duty claims are derivative and should be dismissed for lack of standing. 

Finally, it would be an unfair result if Plaintiff, a former corporate insider, is permitted to 

maintain a direct action to circumvent the predicate shareholder derivative suit procedural 

requirements of Rule 23.1 to recover his investment in Midway. See generally A.L.I., PRINCIPLES 

OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE: ANALYSIS AND RECOMMENDATIONS, § 7.01 (1992).  In addition, 

disguising derivative claims as direct is a particularly appealing strategy to those plaintiffs who 

seek to circumvent the recovery priorities of corporate creditors established in the bankruptcy 

code.23   

                                                 
21 See Manzo v. Rite Aid Corp., 28 Del. J. Corp. L. 819, 2002 WL 31926606, at *6 (Del. Ch. Dec. 19, 2002) 

(to “the extent that plaintiff was deprived of accurate information upon which to base investment decisions, and as a 
result, received a poor rate of return on her Rite Aid shares, she experienced an injury suffered by all Rite Aid 
shareholders in proportion to their pro rata share ownership,” this would give rise to a derivative claim.); In re 
Imaging3, Inc., 634 F. App’x 172, 175 (9th Cir. 2015) (“The claims in Vuksich’s state court litigation [for stock loss] 
do not allege that Vuksich suffered an injury distinct from that suffered by other shareholders, and none of his claims 
would allow him to recover any damages directly.”).   

22 See Rivers v. Wachovia Corp, 665 F.3d 610 (4th Cir. 2011) (citing  Kagan v. Edison Bros. Stores, Inc., 
907 F.2d 690, 692 (7th Cir. 1990) (“[T]he nub of the problem is that the investors' injury flows not from what 
happened to them ... but from what happened to [the company].”); Capital Z Financial Services Fund II, L.P. v. 
Health Net, Inc., 43 A.D.3d 100, 109, 840 N.Y.S.2d 16, 23 (1st Dep’t 2007) (plaintiffs’ allegation of loss of entire 
amount invested in stock to finance corporation's purchase of another corporation stated derivative not direct claim 
because plaintiff’s claim would require showing that corporation in which they invested went bankrupt, making their 
loss only incidental to the “financial ruin” stemming from acquisition). 

23 See Kagan v. Edison Bros. Stores, Inc., 907 F.2d 690, 692 (7th Cir. 1990) (noting that direct recovery 
improperly circumvents creditors in bankruptcy proceedings); Mid–State Fertilizer Co. v. Exchange National Bank, 
877 F.2d 1333, 1335–37 (7th Cir. 1989) (same). Even irrespective of the bankruptcy context, allowing direct recovery 
when the action is properly a derivative one fails to protect corporate creditors because the proceeds avoid the legal 
ordering of creditors and investors. See Kagan, 907 F.2d at 692. (“Recovery by the corporation ensures that all of the 
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B. Plaintiff Fails to State a Claim for Relief Under California Securities Law. 

The Complaint fails to state a violation of the California Corporate Securities Act of 1968 

for at least three reasons.  First, Plaintiff cannot allege that the 2013 or 2014 Undisclosed Facts 

were made in connection with the “purchase or sale” of a security because the exercise of 

Plaintiff’s stock options are deemed to be “a purchase or sale” when the options were granted in 

2009, not when they were exercised in 2014.  Second, Plaintiff also fails to allege any 

misrepresentations by the D&O Defendants with the requisite specificity. Third, because none of 

the D&O Defendants sold Midway stock to Plaintiff, he cannot show he was in privity with any 

of the D&O Defendants, as required by the California statute. 

1. Legal Standard on a Rule 12(b)(5) Motion. 

When a plaintiff fails to “state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” the Court must 

dismiss the claim upon motion under NRCP 12(b)(5). “In considering a motion to dismiss 

pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) the court accepts a plaintiff’s factual allegations as true, but the 

allegations must be legally sufficient to constitute the elements of the claims asserted.”  Sanchez 

ex rel. Sanchez v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 125 Nev. 818, 823, 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (2009) (citation 

omitted).  “To survive dismissal, a complaint must contain some ‘set of facts, which, if true, would 

entitle the plaintiff to relief.’”  In re Amerco Derivative Litig., 127 Nev. 196, 211, 252 P.3d 681, 

692 (2011) (citation omitted).  “Dismissal is proper where the allegations are insufficient to 

establish the elements of a claim for relief.”  Stockmeier v. Nevada Dep’t of Corr., 124 Nev. 313, 

316, 183 P.3d 133, 135 (2008) (citations omitted).  
 

2. Plaintiff Fails to Allege Any Misrepresentation “In Connection with a 
Purchase or Sale of a Security.” 

a. No Purchase or Sale Occurred in 2014. 

Plaintiff’s California securities fraud claim fails as a matter of law because he did not 

purchase or sell a security in 2014 in connection with the 2013 or 2014 Undisclosed Facts.  A 

claim for securities fraud in California requires a plaintiff to show that the “defendant engaged in 

                                                 
participants—stockholders, trade creditors, employees and others—recover according to their contractual and 
statutory priorities.”) 
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a material misrepresentation or omission of fact, with scienter, in connection with the purchase 

or sale of a security, and economic loss.” CAL. CORP. CODE §§ 25401, 25501 (emphasis added); 

Mueller v. San Diego Entm't Partners, LLC, No. 16CV2997-GPC(NLS), 2017 WL 2230161, at 

*8–9 (S.D. Cal. May 22, 2017); see also California Amplifier, Inc. v. RLI Ins. Co., 94 Cal. App. 

4th 102, 108-109 (2001). However, purchases and sales are deemed to occur at the time stock 

options are granted, not at the time options are exercised. CAL. CORP. CODE § 25017(e).  

Because Plaintiff acquired his stock options in 2009 (see Exs. I and J) (when he was Chairman of 

the Board and Chief Executive Officer of Midway) and there are no allegations of any 

misrepresentations or omissions made by Defendants in 2009, Plaintiff fails to state a claim upon 

which relief can be granted. 
 

b. Plaintiff Fails to Allege a False Statement or Omission by Any of the 
D&O Defendants. 

Even if Plaintiff had purchased shares of Midway stock in 2014, the SAC would fail to 

state a claim for relief because he fails to allege that any of the D&O Defendants made a false 

statement or omission either to him or to the investing public.  Rather, the SAC makes overly 

broad generalizations that “defendants caused Midway to make material misstatements of fact” 

in public filings and press releases, which were purportedly relied upon by him, caused him to 

exercise his options and caused him to hold and not sell his Midway common stock.  See SAC ¶¶ 

1, 66, 87. 

Again, a claim for securities fraud under California law requires that a plaintiff show that 

the “defendant engaged in a material misrepresentation or omission of fact, with scienter, in 

connection with the purchase or sale of a security, and economic loss.” CAL. CORP. CODE §§ 

25401, 25501 (emphasis added). Plaintiff makes conclusory allegations that two overlapping 

D&O Defendant groups, called the “2013 Control Defendants” and the “2014 Control 

Defendants,” knew the “[2013 and/or 2014] Undisclosed Facts and knew that none of those facts 

had been disclosed to the public generally or to Wolfus.” SAC ¶¶ 64, 65, 85, 86.  

The SAC is fatally flawed, however, in that it does not contain any statements made by 

the D&O Defendants. Rather, the SAC alleges—without any factual support—that all the 
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Defendants “knew each of the following facts [identified as either “2013 Undisclosed Facts” or 

“2014 Undisclosed Facts”] to be true, knew that each of the following facts would be material to 

any reasonable investor in Midway, including Wolfus and knew that none of those facts had been 

disclosed to the public generally or to Wolfus.”24 See SAC ¶¶ 65, 86.  But even liberally 

construing the allegations, the SAC does not adequately allege who made false or misleading 

statements—and even those allegations do not plead facts showing why the statements were false 

at the time they were made.  Moreover, the SAC does not allege facts showing knowledge by the 

speaker of the falsity when those statements were supposedly made. 

Relying on a fraud by hindsight theory, however, Plaintiff alleges that he did not learn of 

these Undisclosed Facts  until after Midway filed  bankruptcy  in June 2015.  But there is simply 

no factual support for Plaintiff’s allegations that any of the D&O Defendants knew about the 

Undisclosed Facts during their tenure at Midway. Without a specific misrepresentation by a 

specifically identified defendant, Plaintiff’s claim for violations of the California securities statute 

must fail. Goodman v. Kennedy, 18 Cal. 3d 335, 346 (1976) (dismissing case because plaintiff 

failed to allege that defendant made an untrue statement of material fact or omitted a material 

fact).25 For each of these reasons, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for statutory securities fraud. 
 

c. The California Securities Act Requires Privity, But the D&O 
Defendants Are Not Sellers of Securities. 

Plaintiff’s California Securities Act claim fails for the additional reason that he does not 

and cannot allege facts showing that he was in privity with any of the Defendants—which is 

required for a Section 25501 claim.  Sections 25401 and 25501 impose liability only on the “actual 

seller” of the security.  Apollo Capital Fund, LLC v. Roth Capital Partners, LLC, 158 Cal. App. 

4th 226, 253-54, 70 Cal. Rptr. 3d 199 (2007).  In other words, there must be privity between 

plaintiff and defendant—i.e., defendant must have been the party who actually sold the security 

                                                 
24 Further piling inference on top of inference, the SAC alleges that “Wolfus is informed and believes and 

thereon alleges that defendants and each of them were aware of this exercise.” SAC ¶ 87. 

25 Moreover, Plaintiff's allegations fail to allege with any particularity the specific content of the 
misrepresentations made by each Defendant to Plaintiff. Rule 9(b) “require[s] plaintiffs to differentiate their 
allegations when suing more than one defendant . .. and inform each defendant separately of the allegations 
surrounding his alleged participation in the fraud.” Swartz v. KPMG LLP, 476 F.3d 756, 764-65 (9th Cir.2007).   
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to (or purchased the security from) plaintiff.  See Apollo, 158 Cal. App. 4th at 252-54, 70 Cal. 

Rptr. 3d 199. 

Plaintiff does not (and cannot) allege that he purchased any shares of Midway stock from 

any Defendant. Rather, the Complaint clearly alleges that purchases were made directly from 

Midway.  SAC ¶¶ 100, 102, 103 (“Wolfus purchased in California 200,000 shares of Midway’s 

common stock directly from Midway.” “Midway was the issuer of the shares purchased by 

Wolfus.”) (emphasis added). Therefore, the D&O Defendants cannot be civilly liable for a 

violation of Section 25401. California Amplifier, 94 Cal. App. 4th at 109, 113 Cal. Rptr. 2d 915 

(stating that § 25501 “retain[s] the privity requirement from common law fraud”).  

Nor can Plaintiff maintain a cause of action against the D&O Defendants as joint and 

several tortfeasors or control persons of Midway under Sections 25403 or 25504. The California 

Act imposes joint and several liability on persons who “directly or indirectly” control primary 

violators of California’s securities laws or broker-dealers or agents who materially aid a primary 

violation. CAL. CORP. CODE §§ 25403, 25504. To state a claim for control person liability, 

Plaintiff must plead particularized facts establishing a primary violation of Sections 25401 and 

25501.  In re Alliance Equipment Lease Program Sec. Litig., 2002 WL 34451621, *11 (S.D. Cal. 

Oct. 15, 2002) (“Section 25504 requires a primary violation of 25501.”). Plaintiff’s claims against 

the “2013 and 2014 Control Defendants” are based on the exercise of stock options in Midway 

stock, which were granted in 2009.  Because Plaintiff does not allege violations of Section 25501, 

he cannot state a claim for secondary liability under Sections 25403 or 25504.  

Furthermore, Plaintiff failed to plead facts sufficient to support an inference that the D&O 

Defendants controlled or materially aided and abetted a primary violator under Section 25504.  

See Weiss v. NNN Capital Fund I, LLC, 2015 WL 11995251 (S.D. Cal. June 11, 2015). In the 

absence of a viable claim of primary liability against Midway, Plaintiff cannot state a claim 

against the D&O Defendants for control person liability under § 25504—particularly given that 

the claims against the D&O Defendants are based solely on statements by Midway, which 

Plaintiff has not shown to have been false or misleading when made.  
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C. Plaintiff’s Holder Claims for Common Law Fraud and Negligent Misrepresentation 

Fail to State A Claim 

The SAC asserts claims for common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation committed 

by non-party Midway and each of the Defendants for inducing Plaintiff to exercise his stock 

options in January 2014 and September 2014 and inducing Plaintiff and his assignors, to hold and 

not sell all their shares in February 2014.  See SAC ¶¶ 127-138.  Claims that are based upon a 

party who alleges it was induced to hold onto stock, as opposed to sell stock, are commonly 

referred to as “holder” claims.  Thus, Plaintiff attempts to avoid the purchase or sale requirements 

of his securities fraud claims by seeking to assert holder claims.  

The vast majority of jurisdictions in the United States have categorically rejected holder 

claims. See, e.g., Tradex Global Master Fund SPC, Ltd v. Titan Capital Group III, LP, 944 

N.Y.S.2d 527, 529 (N.Y. App. Div. 2012) (“under New York law, such a ‘holder claim’ would 

be precluded”); Lagermeier v. Boston Scientific Corp., 2011 WL 2912642 at *6 (D. Minn. 2011) 

(“Nor is such a [holder] claim cognizable under Minnesota common law”); The Calibre Fund, 

LLC v. BDO Seidman, LLP, 2010 WL 4517099 at *5 (Conn. Super. 2010) (“A decision not to sell 

but to hold onto securities may be regrettable, but such decisions must always be made without 

the power of hindsight... . failure to sell claims are ‘too speculative to be actionable”); WM High 

Yield Fund v. O’Hanlon, 2005 WL 6788446 at *13 (E.D. Pa. 2005) (“the Court declines to find 

that the Pennsylvania Supreme Court would find a cause of action in fraud for investors who were 

allegedly injured by holding securities”); Rivers v. Wachovia Corp., 665 F.3d 610, 619 (4th Cir. 

2011) (holding that holder claims are “too speculative to litigate” as they “involve only a 

hypothetical transaction”).  The Court should likewise reject Plaintiff’s attempt to allege holder 

claims because California law does not apply to a Canadian publicly-traded corporation, and there 

is no Canadian case law that recognizes holder claims. 

But even if the Court were allow Plaintiff to pursue holder claims under California law, 

(1) Plaintiff’s claims arising out of the exercise of stock options are not holder claims; (2) Plaintiff 

fails to sufficiently allege reliance and causation for both fraud and negligent misrepresentation 

claims; and (3) Plaintiff fails to plead scienter with the required specificity under Rule 9(b).  
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1. California Law Does Not Apply to Plaintiff’s Holder Claims  

Plaintiff’s argument that California’s substantive law governs his claims because he 

resides in California must be rejected. Under Plaintiff’s theory, each jurisdiction’s substantive 

decision to recognize holder claims would apply only to its own residents. The natural result 

would be a “race to the bottom,” because each jurisdiction could deprive only its own residents 

of such claims. No jurisdiction, as a matter of substantive law, could uniformly prohibit such 

claims.  For this reason, only the law of the state of incorporation can establish “reliable and 

efficient corporate laws,” NAF Holdings, LLC v. Li & Fung (Trading) Ltd., 118 A.3d 175, 181 

(Del. 2015), that protect the control of corporation’s board of directors over litigation based on 

injury to the corporation.  As set forth above, because Midway is a Canadian Corporation 

Canadian substantive law governs Plaintiff’s fraud and misrepresentation claims, not California 

law. 

2. Plaintiff’s Claims Arising Out of the Exercise of Stock Options are Not 
Holder Claims Under Small v. Fritz 

Even if California law were to apply, the Plaintiff’s claims related to the exercise of stock 

options are not holder claims.  California law defines a holder claim as “a cause of action by 

persons wrongfully induced to hold stock instead of selling it.” Small v. Fritz, 30 Cal.4th 167, 171, 

65 P.3d 1255 (Cal. 2003) (emphasis in original). Therefore, the fact that Plaintiff acquired stock 

via exercise of the stock options negates any claim of “holding.” Id. at 184, 65 P.3d at 1265 

(distinguishing holder actions from other suits in which investors claim damages from the purchase 

or sale of stock). 

3. Even if the Court Were To Apply California Law, Plaintiff Fails to 
Sufficiently Allege Reliance or Causation 

Plaintiff alleges that he decided to hold his Midway shares after he exercised his stock 

options in reliance upon Midway’s allegedly false statements in press releases and SEC filings 

concerning the Pan Mine’s prospects, a so-called “holder’s action,” based on Small v. Fritz, 30 

Cal.4th 167, 184 (2003).  A complaint alleging fraud and negligent misrepresentation in a “holder 

action” must also be pleaded with sufficient particularity, meaning that the plaintiff must plead 

“facts which show how, when, where, to whom, and by what means the representations were 
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tendered.” Lazar, 12 Cal. 4th at 645, 909 P.2d at 981 (quotation omitted); see also Small, 30 Cal. 

4th at 184, 65 P.3d at 1265 (holding that complaint for negligent misrepresentation in a holder 

action must be “pled with the same specificity required in a holder's action for fraud.”); NRCP 

9(b) (“[I]n alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with particularity the circumstances 

constituting fraud or mistake.”). See also Anderson v. Aon Corp., No. 06 C 06241, 2011 WL 

4565758, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 29, 2011), aff'd, 674 F.3d 895 (7th Cir. 2012). 

In Small, the California Supreme Court specifically recognized the risk of meritless and 

vexatious strike suits being filed in order to extract a settlement, and the risk that such cases would 

be dependent on uncorroborated oral testimony.  30 Cal. 4th at 177, 180, 184. The Court held that 

such risks mandate a “device to separate meritorious and non-meritorious cases, if possible in 

advance of trial,” and therefore require plaintiffs to show specific reliance on the challenged 

statements.  Id. at 184. Thus, the court expressly limited “holder claims” to “stockholders who 

can make a bona fide showing of actual reliance upon the misrepresentations.” Id. at 184-85. 

Conclusory assertions that plaintiff relied on the alleged misrepresentations are insufficient. As 

the Court stated: 

In a holder’s action a plaintiff must allege specific reliance on the 
defendant's representations: for example, that if the plaintiff had 
read a truthful account of the corporation's financial status the 
plaintiff would have sold the stock, how many shares the plaintiff 
would have sold, and when the sale would have taken place. The 
plaintiff must allege actions, as distinguished from unspoken and 
unrecorded thoughts and decisions, that would indicate that the 
plaintiff actually relied on the misrepresentations. Plaintiffs who 
cannot plead with sufficient specificity to show a bona fide claim of 
actual reliance do not stand out from the mass of stockholders who 
rely on the market....  

Id. (emphasis added). 

a) Fraud. 

In California, the elements of fraud are: (1) misrepresentation; (2) knowledge of falsity 

(or “scienter”); (3) intent to defraud; (4) justifiable reliance; and (5) resulting damage. Small v. 

Fritz Companies, Inc., 30 Cal. 4th 167, 173, 132 Cal. Rptr. 2d 490, 65 P.3d 1255, 1258 (2003) 

(citing Lazar v. Superior Court, 12 Cal. 4th 631, 638, 49 Cal. Rptr. 2d 377, 909 P.2d 981, 984 

(1996)). Plaintiff’s primary allegations of fraud are that the officers and directors of Midway 
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(other than himself) knew the Pan Mine was being built and operated in ways that were materially 

different from those assumed in the Pan Mine 2011 Study, but the D&O Defendants did not 

inform investors of the material impact on cash flows as a result of those differences.  Apart from 

his assertions that Midway omitted material facts regarding the development and operation of the 

Pan Mine in its press releases and SEC filings, Plaintiff identifies no other circumstances or facts, 

which support an inference of intent or scienter relevant to Plaintiff’s claims.  Plaintiff lists certain 

“Undisclosed Facts” allegedly known by the D&O Defendants but not disclosed to the public 

generally or to him (SAC ¶¶ 65, 66, 70, 86), but Plaintiff has not alleged how any of the 

“Undisclosed Facts” demonstrate the D&O Defendants’ knowledge of any alleged 

misrepresentations.  Even more significantly, Plaintiff fails to explain with specificity how each 

of these alleged omissions contributed to Midway’s filing of bankruptcy; each appears to relate 

more to Midway’s purported mismanagement than fraud. Midway’s mismanagement (as opposed 

to its fraud) is insufficient to support allegations in a holder action. See Anderson, 614 F.3d at 367 

(explaining that any alleged fraud merely “deferred the time when the stock’s price accurately 

reflected the value of Aon’s business”). 

Plaintiff has also failed to sufficiently allege that he relied on any false representations 

regarding the Pan Mine.  Plaintiff merely alleges that he relied on Midway’s press releases and 

SEC filings “primarily those which were issued after he ceased to be Midway’s Chief Executive 

Officer” (SAC ¶ 66) in choosing to exercise his stock options on January 23, 2014 at $.56/share 

when the market price was $1.27 and “its price was rising.” SAC ¶ 201.  In order to successfully 

plead “a bona fide claim of actual reliance,” a plaintiff in a holder action “must allege specific 

reliance on the defendant’s representations: for example, that if the plaintiff had read a truthful 

account of the corporation’s financial status the plaintiff would have sold the stock, how many 

shares the plaintiff would have sold, and when the sale would have taken place.” Small, 30 Cal.4th 

at 184, 65 P.3d at 1265.   

Courts addressing California’s holder’s claims since Small have noted the difficulty 

plaintiffs face in meeting this standard. See Anderson v. Aon Corp., 614 F.3d 361, 367 (7th Cir. 

2010) (remanding holder’s action for application of California law while noting that under Small 
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plaintiff had “a difficult road ahead” to show actual reliance and causal connection between 

reliance and alleged injury); see also In re Nat’l Century Fin. Enters., 846 F. Supp. 2d 828, 884 

(S.D. Ohio 2012) (“holder claims are generally disfavored and recognized only in limited 

circumstances”).  Like the plaintiff in Anderson, Plaintiff cannot show the required a causal 

connection between his reliance on Midway’s representations and his injury.   

 In Anderson, the Northern District of Illinois, applying California law on remand, 

dismissed plaintiff s claim because he did not “sufficiently explain when exactly he relied on th[e] 

representations; how many [] shares he would have sold, had he known of the company's financial 

troubles; or when he would have executed that sale.” Anderson, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 111217, 

at *19 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 29, 2011). The Court further noted that under insider trading laws, plaintiff 

would not be permitted to trade ahead of the stock price decline that allegedly would have been 

caused by the release of accurate information. Id. at *19-20; Anderson, 614 F.3d at 367 (same). 

On a second appeal, the Seventh Circuit affirmed dismissal with prejudice for failure to “explain 

how [plaintiff] could have avoided a loss on the shares he held, had [defendant] made an earlier 

disclosure.” Anderson v. Aon Corp., 674 F.3d 895, 897 (7th Cir. 2012). 

Just like the plaintiff in Anderson, Plaintiff here insists that he “carefully followed the 

public announcements and filings by Midway” (SAC ¶ 87), and recites almost every public 

announcement by Midway following his departure as CEO. But Plaintiff does not sufficiently 

explain when exactly he relied on those representations to hold his stock; how many Midway 

shares he would have sold had he known the impact on the company’s financials, or when he 

would have executed each such sale.  Nor does he sufficiently explain how he could have known 

to sell his shares in February 2014 when Midway stock hit an all-time high.  In this case, Plaintiff 

does not stand apart from the millions of other stockholders who lost money when Midway’s 

declared bankruptcy in 2015. As such, he cannot maintain a claim against the D&O Defendants 

based on the pleading requirements set forth in Small v. Fritz.   

b) Negligent Misrepresentation. 

To state a claim for negligent misrepresentation, the plaintiff must establish: “(1) the 

misrepresentation of a past or existing material fact, (2) without reasonable ground for believing 
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it to be true, (3) with intent to induce another's reliance on the fact misrepresented, (4) justifiable 

reliance on the misrepresentation, and (5) resulting damage.” Apollo Capital Fund, LLC v. Roth 

Capital Partners, LLC, 158 Cal. App. 4th 226, 243, 70 Cal. Rptr. 3d 199, 213 (Cal. Ct. App.2007) 

(citing Shamsian v. Atlantic Richfield Co., 107 Cal. App. 4th 967, 983, 132 Cal.Rptr.2d 635, 647 

(Ct.App.2003)). Under California law, the tort of negligent misrepresentation is a “species of 

deceit.” See Bily v. Arthur Young & Co., 3 Cal. 4th 370, 407, 11 Cal. Rptr. 2d 51, 834 P.2d 745 

(1992).  The SAC fails to satisfy any of the elements of a claim for negligent misrepresentation.  

First, the SAC fails to allege a misrepresentation of a past or existing material fact by any 

of the D&O Defendants.  Rather, Plaintiff merely lists certain “Undisclosed Facts” allegedly 

known by the D&O Defendants but not disclosed to the public generally or to him (SAC ¶¶ 65, 

66, 70, 86).  There are no allegations regarding which statements, if any, in Midway’s press 

releases and SEC filings are misleading. Nor does Plaintiff sufficiently alleged how any 

Defendant made such alleged misrepresentations of a past of existing material fact “without 

reasonable ground for believing it to be true.” On these grounds alone, the claim for negligent 

misrepresentation should be dismissed. Cansino v. Bank of America, 224 Cal. App. 4th 1462, 

1469, 169 Cal. Rptr. 3d 619 (2014) (“Statements or predictions regarding future events are 

deemed to be mere opinions which are not actionable.”) (citation omitted); Gentry v. eBay, Inc., 

99 Cal. App. 4th 816, 835, 121 Cal. Rptr. 2d 703 (2002) (“An essential element of a cause of 

action for negligent misrepresentation is that the defendant must have made a misrepresentation 

as to a past or existing material fact.”) (citation omitted).  

Second, Plaintiff’s allegations regarding alleged omissions or “Undisclosed Facts” (or 

failure to disclose by the Defendants) cannot be counted as false representations for purpose of 

the negligent misrepresentation claim. While the courts in some states have held that failure to 

disclose where there is a duty to disclose may suffice to support a negligent misrepresentation 

claim, the California Court of Appeal held in Wilson v. Century 21 Great Western Realty, 15 Cal. 

App. 4th 298, 18 Cal. Rptr. 2d 779 (1993) that based on the California statutory language, 

negligent misrepresentation specifically requires a “positive assertion.” Id. at 306, 18 Cal. Rptr. 
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2d 779; see also In re Daisy Sys., 97 F.3d at 1181; Byrum v. Brand, 219 Cal. App. 3d 926, 942, 

268 Cal. Rptr. 609 (1990).  

For all the foregoing reasons, the SAC fails to state a claim for fraud or negligent 

misrepresentation under California law and must be dismissed with prejudice.  

4. Plaintiff’s Holder Claims Fail to Allege Scienter With the Specificity 
Required by Rule 9(b). 

Finally, Plaintiff’s claims for fraud and negligent misrepresentation fail to satisfy the 

particularity requirements of Rule 9(b). That is, the pleader must state the time, place and specific 

content of the false representations, as well, as the identities of the parties to the misrepresentation. 

Lazar v. Superior Court, 12 Cal. 4th 631, 645, 909 P.2d 981 (1996); Swartz, 476 F.3d at 764; see 

also Vess v. Ciba–Geigy Corp. USA, 317 F.3d 1097, 1106 (9th Cir. 2003) (averments of fraud 

must be accompanied by “the who, what, when, where, and how” of the misconduct 

charged).  Rule 9(b) “requires plaintiffs to differentiate their allegations when suing more than 

one defendant.. and inform each defendant separately of the allegations surrounding his alleged 

participation in the fraud.”  Swartz v. KMG LLP, 476 F.3d 756, 764-65 (9th Cir. 2007). 

The same heightened pleading standard applies to Plaintiff’s negligent misrepresentation 

claim in California. See, e.g., Errico v. Pac. Capital Bank, N.A., 753 F. Supp. 2d 1034, 1049 

(N.D.Cal.2010) (negligent misrepresentation sounds in fraud and is subject to Rule 9(b) pleading 

requirements); see also In re Easysaver Rewards Litig., 737 F. Supp. 2d 1159, 1176–77 (S.D. 

Cal. 2010); Neilson v. Union Bank of Cal., N.A., 290 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1141 (C.D. Cal. 2003).  

As shown above, even liberally construed, the SAC does not adequately allege a false or 

misleading statement—and fails to plead facts showing why the statements were false at the time 

they were made, i.e., scienter. Moreover, the SAC does not allege facts showing knowledge (by 

the speaker) of the falsity or reliance.  To the extent plaintiff has alleged that Midway made 

statements or predictions regarding future events, such statements are not actionable.  For this 

additional reason, Plaintiff fails to state a claim for common law fraud or negligent 

misrepresentation.  
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D.  This Court Lacks Personal Jurisdiction Over the D&O Defendants. 

The SAC failed to remedy the personal jurisdiction deficiencies that plagued the prior 

complaint.26 Significantly, Plaintiff is not a Nevada resident; Midway is not a Nevada corporation; 

Midway is not headquartered in Nevada; and the D&O Defendants27 do not reside in Nevada, 

which prompts the question: Why was this matter filed in Nevada?28 The only new allegations 

in the SAC relating to personal jurisdiction are found in paragraphs 8-19, which assert self-serving 

conclusions of law that “while with Midway, [each of the defendants’] contacts with Nevada were 

so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in Nevada.”  SAC ¶¶ 8-19. However, these 

factually deficient, conclusory statements do not and cannot establish personal jurisdiction.  

Plaintiff continues to allege jurisdiction is proper in this state because one of the 

Defendants resides in Nevada. But the domicile of one individual defendant does not convey 

jurisdiction over the other defendants, each of which must be measured individually. The D&O 

Defendants’ contacts with Nevada are not continuous and systematic so as to render any of them 

at “home” in this forum for the exercise of general jurisdiction.  Furthermore, Plaintiff’s claims 

allege reliance upon purported material omissions contained in Midway’s SEC filings and press 

releases, which were drafted in and issued from Colorado where Midway’s principal place of 

business and its offices are located.  Because the claims asserted in this lawsuit do not arise from 

the D&O Defendants’ purported contacts with Nevada, Plaintiff cannot meet his burden of 

showing that specific jurisdiction exits. 

                                                 
26 During the prior hearing, the Court expressed “some concerns with jurisdictional arguments . . . [as it] 

looks like Yu is probably the only person subject to general or specific jurisdiction.”  See Hr’g Tr. at 39:6-8 (Nov. 1, 
2017) (emphasis added). 

27 For purposes of Section III(D), Defendant Frank Yu is not included in the defined term D&O Defendants. 
Nevertheless, the claims asserted against Mr. Yu are still ripe for dismissal for the reasons stated in Sections III(A)-
(C). 

28 When posed with the same question during the hearing on Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss, Plaintiff’s 
counsel countered, “Well, why not Nevada?”  Hr’g Tr. at 22:22 (Nov. 1, 2017).  Plaintiff’s counsel argued he could 
bring the suit wherever he wanted. See id. at 23:5-7 (“And it’s kind of our choice on where to bring the case. Even if 
California would be slightly better, but Colorado would be arguably slightly better, that doesn’t mean we can’t bring 
the claim in Nevada. And that’s what we did.”). 
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1. Legal Standard on a Rule 12(b)(2) Motion. 

Due process requirements are satisfied if the nonresident defendant’s contacts are 

sufficient to obtain either (1) general jurisdiction, or (2) specific personal jurisdiction, and it is 

reasonable to subject the nonresident defendants to suit in the forum state. Viega GmbH v. Eighth 

Judicial Dist. Court, 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 40, 328 P.3d 1152, 1156 (2014) (citations omitted).   

Courts may exercise general or “all-purpose” personal jurisdiction over a defendant “to hear any 

and all claims against it” only when the defendant’s affiliations with the forum state “are so 

constant and pervasive as to render it essentially at home in the forum State.”  Bauman, 134 S. 

Ct. at 751.  By contrast, specific personal jurisdiction comports with due process only where “the 

defendant’s suit-related conduct” creates “a substantial connection with the forum state.” Walden 

v. Fiore, 571 U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 1115, 1121-22 (2014). 

2. This Court Lacks General Jurisdiction Over the D&O Defendants. 

General jurisdiction over a defendant allows a plaintiff to assert claims against that 

defendant unrelated to the forum.  Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157. General jurisdiction 

approximates physical presence in the forum. Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 

F.3d 797, 801 (9th Cir. 2004). “This is an exacting standard, as it should be, because a finding 

of general jurisdiction permits a defendant to be hailed into court in the forum state to answer for 

any of its activities anywhere in the world.” Id. (emphasis added).  Such broad jurisdiction is 

available only in limited circumstances, when a non-resident defendant’s contacts with the forum 

state are so “‘continuous and systematic’ as to render [it] essentially at home in the forum State.”  

Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).  As recently 

clarified by the United States Supreme Court, “only a limited set of affiliations with a forum will 

render a defendant amenable to general jurisdiction there.” Bauman, 134 S. Ct. at 760.  “For an 

individual, the paradigm forum for the exercise of general jurisdiction is the individual’s 

domicile. . . .”  Id. (citations omitted) (emphasis added).   

The Complaint does not and cannot allege that the D&O Defendants have the “substantial” 

or “continuous and systematic” contacts with Nevada that would warrant the application of 
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general jurisdiction.  See, e.g., Trump, 109 Nev. at 699. The supporting declarations establish that 

with a few isolated exceptions, none of the D&O Defendants: 

 Are residents of Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 3; Ex. B ¶ 3; Ex. C ¶ 3; Ex. D ¶¶ 
1, 4; Ex. E ¶ 3; Ex. F ¶ 3; Ex. G ¶¶ 2-3); 

 Own personal or real property, or have any other personal assets in 
Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 6; Ex. B ¶ 6; Ex. C ¶ 8; Ex. D ¶ 8; Ex. E ¶ 6; Ex. F 
¶ 6; Ex. G ¶ 6); 

 Own or maintain any offices in Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 5; Ex. B ¶¶ 4, 11; 
Ex. C ¶¶ 5, 14; Ex. D ¶¶ 5, 13; Ex. E ¶¶ 4, 12; Ex. F ¶¶ 4, 9; Ex. G 
¶ 10);  

 Hold any Nevada licenses (Ex. A ¶ 8; Ex. B ¶ 9; Ex. C ¶ 12; Ex. D 
¶ 11; Ex. E ¶ 10; Ex. F ¶ 8; Ex. G ¶ 9); 

 Own any interest in any companies or corporations organized in 
Nevada or held any managerial or employment positions with any 
such companies or corporations (Ex. A ¶ 15; Ex. B ¶ 10; Ex. C ¶ 13; 
Ex. D ¶ 12; Ex. E ¶ 11);29 

 Own or maintain any bank accounts in Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 17; Ex. B ¶ 
13; Ex. C ¶ 16; Ex. D ¶ 15; Ex. E ¶ 14; Ex. F ¶ 11; Ex. G ¶ 12); 

 Maintain any telephone, facsimile or telex number in Nevada (Ex. 
A ¶ 18; Ex. B ¶ 14; Ex. C ¶ 17; Ex. D ¶ 16; Ex. E ¶ 15; Ex. F ¶ 12; 
Ex. G ¶ 13); 

 Been required to maintain, or maintained, a registered agent for 
service in Nevada (Ex. A ¶ 19; Ex. B ¶ 15; Ex. C ¶ 18; Ex. D ¶ 17; 
Ex. E ¶ 16; Ex. F ¶ 13; Ex. G ¶ 14); or 

 Been a party to a lawsuit in Nevada, except for the instant case (Ex. 
A ¶ 20; Ex. B ¶ 16; Ex. C ¶ 19; Ex. D ¶ 18; Ex. E ¶ 17; Ex. G ¶ 15).30 

 

The D&O Defendants have only occasionally traveled to Nevada, primarily in fulfilling 

their official corporate duties as board members of Midway. Furthermore, the sections of the SAC 

entitled “Parties” and “Jurisdiction and Venue” do not allege that any of the D&O Defendants 

have any of the kinds of contacts with Nevada that might suffice for the exercise of general 

jurisdiction.  Thus, the D&O Defendants do not have the “continuous and systematic” contacts 

                                                 
29 Mr. Newell has owned an interest in a company organized in the State of Nevada, but his relationship to 

said company has nothing to do with the claims asserted in this lawsuit.  

30 Mr. Newell was a party to a lawsuit in Nevada.  
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with Nevada that would render them essentially at “home” in Nevada, which is necessary to 

support a finding of general jurisdiction.  Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157. 

3. This Court Lacks Specific Jurisdiction Over the D&O Defendants. 

In deciding whether exercising specific personal jurisdiction is appropriate, the Court 

considers a three-prong test: 
 
[1] [t]he defendant must purposefully avail himself of the privilege 
of acting in the forum state or of causing important consequences in 
that state. [2] The cause of action must arise from the consequences 
in the forum state of the defendant's activities, and [3] those 
activities, or the consequences thereof, must have a substantial 
enough connection with the forum state to make the exercise of 
jurisdiction over the defendant reasonable. 

Consipio Holding, BV v. Carlberg, 128 Nev., Adv. Op. 43, 282 P.3d 751, 755 (2012) (quotation 

omitted); see also Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157.  As the United States Supreme Court 

recognized: “whether a forum State may assert specific jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant 

focuses on ‘the relationship among the defendant, the forum, and the litigation.’” Walden, 134 S. 

Ct. at 1122 (internal citations omitted).  For a state to exercise jurisdiction consistent with due 

process, the suit must arise “out of contacts that the ‘defendant himself’ creates with the forum 

State.”  Id. (quoting Burger King Corp., 471 U.S. at 475, 105 S. Ct. at 2174) (emphasis in 

original). 

In this case, Plaintiff has not alleged that the D&O Defendants engaged in any specific 

“suit-related conduct” that would create a substantial connection between them and Nevada.  See, 

generally, SAC.  The only basis for jurisdiction asserted in the SAC is that at least one Defendant, 

i.e., Frank Yu, resided and still resides in Nevada.  SAC ¶ 16.  Each of the claims asserted in the 

SAC arise out of Plaintiff’s reliance upon purported material omissions contained in Midway’s 

SEC filings and press releases.  See SAC ¶¶ 101, 106, 126, 127, 135, 136.  What matters for 

specific jurisdiction purposes is that Plaintiff has not alleged, and cannot allege, that any of the 

D&O Defendants’ allegedly tortious conduct (material omissions in public filings) took place in 

Nevada.  See, generally, SAC.  Indeed, the SEC filings and press releases were entirely drafted 

in and issued from the state of Colorado where Midway’s principal place of business and 

executive offices are located.  They were also received and purportedly acted upon by Plaintiff in 
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the state of California. See SAC ¶ 1. Absent evidence to the contrary, there is no basis for the 

exercise of specific jurisdiction, and dismissal of Plaintiff’s SAC must follow.   

Even if Midway were a Nevada corporation (and it is not), mere affiliation with a Nevada 

operation is not enough to confer jurisdiction on nonresident defendants.  See Southport Lane 

Equity II, LLC v. Downey, 177 F. Supp. 3d 1286 (D. Nev. 2016).  In Southport Lane, a shareholder 

brought direct and derivative action against a corporation’s directors and officers, alleging breach 

of fiduciary, unjust enrichment, and requesting a declaration that a shareholder’s designee is a 

member of the board and to declare void a transaction that diluted the shareholder’s shares, and 

requesting appointment of a receivership.  The non-resident corporate officers and directors each 

moved to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim.  In granting the 

motion to dismiss, the court held that non-resident director and officer defendants’ mere affiliation 

with the Nevada corporation was insufficient for personal jurisdiction. Id. at 1296.  The court 

recognized that “a mere connection between a defendant and a plaintiff that has contacts with the 

forum state or that has been injured in the state is insufficient for personal jurisdiction under the 

Due Process Clause.” Id.  As a result, the court concluded, “[s]ubjecting the directors or officers 

of a corporation to jurisdiction in any forum in which a corporation operates or is incorporated 

when the directors or officers have no personal contacts whatsoever with the forum state denies 

them due process protection.”  Id. The court acknowledged, “what matters most in this analysis 

is not the corporation’s own contacts with Nevada but the individual Defendants’ contacts with 

the State.” Id. (emphasis added). 

Here, the exercise of personal jurisdiction is even more tenuous because Plaintiff is not a 

Nevada citizen and Midway is not a Nevada corporation.  Furthermore, there is nothing in the 

pleadings or declarations that provide this Court with a basis to support a finding that the D&O 

Defendants had any contact with Nevada related to the purportedly wrongful conduct alleged in 

the Complaint.  The D&O Defendants did not perform any of the acts alleged against them in 

Nevada, but rather Colorado.  The only connection the D&O Defendants have to Nevada is 

attending the ceremonial groundbreaking of the Pan Mine and the occasional board meeting.  

However, Plaintiff’s claims do not arise out of or relate to any representations made during the 
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0 
groundbreaking or board meetings in Nevada.  Because no Nevada corporation is involved in this 

suit and the D&O Defendants did not expressly aim any conduct at Nevada associated with 

Plaintiff’s allegations of wrongdoing, this Court has no specific jurisdiction over the D&O 

Defendants and must dismiss the Complaint. 

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

For a second time, Plaintiff raises only conclusory allegations that the D&O Defendants 

concealed material information with respect to the progress of the Pan Mine. But conclusory 

allegations, without more, do not state a claim.  The Court should therefore grant the D&O Motion 

to Dismiss Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint with prejudice. 

Midway is a British Columbian corporation. The internal affairs doctrine requires that the 

law of the forum of incorporation governs Plaintiff’s derivative claims, regardless of the label, 

and therefore, the BCA controls. Sections 232 and 233 of the BCA require Plaintiff to seek leave 

of the Supreme Court of British Columbia before proceeding with its claims for breach of 

fiduciary duty and  aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiff did not seek such leave, 

accordingly, this Court has no subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s derivative claims, and 

such claims should be dismissed.  

California’s state securities law, by its explicit terms, limits claims for misrepresentation 

and omission to those “in connection with a purchase or sale” in California.  Plaintiff failed to 

allege any false statements were made by the D&O Defendants in connection with the “purchase 

or sale” of a security because the exercise of Plaintiff’s stock options are deemed to be “a purchase 

or sale” when the options were granted in 2009, not when they were exercised in 2014, pursuant 

to statute.   

Next, the Court should dismiss with prejudice Plaintiff’s so-called holder claims under 

California law for common law fraud and negligent misrepresentation. Plaintiff fails to 

sufficiently allege reliance, causation, and scienter with the required specificity under Rule 9(b).  

Lastly, this Court continues to have no basis to exercise personal jurisdiction over the 

D&O Defendants as their contacts are insufficient as a matter of law.  D&O Defendants therefore 
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respectfully request that this Court grant the Motion and enter an order dismissing the Second 

Amended Complaint in its entirety, with prejudice. 

DATED this 16th day of March 2018. 
 
 
 

By __/s/ David J. Freeman__________________ 
Robert J. Cassity, Esq. 
David J. Freeman, Esq.  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 

9555 Hillwood Drive, 2nd Floor 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89134     
 
Holly Stein Sollod, Esq. (Admitted Pro Hac Vice)  
HOLLAND & HART LLP 
555 17th Street, Suite 3200 
Denver, CO 80202 
 
Attorneys for Richard D. Moritz,  
Bradley J. Blacketor, Timothy Haddon,  
Richard Sawchak, John W. Sheridan,  
Frank Yu, Roger A. Newell and  
Rodney D. Knutson 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b), I hereby certify that on the 16th day of March, 2018, I 

served a true and correct copy of the foregoing D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO DISMISS 

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT by the following method(s): 
 
[X]  Electronic:  by submitting electronically for filing and/or service with the Eighth Judicial 

District Court’s e-filing system and served on counsel electronically in accordance with 
the E-service list to the following email addresses: 

 
James R. Christensen, Esq. (3861)
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN PC 
601 S. 6th St. 
Las Vegas NV 89101 
Tel: (702) 272-0406 
Fax: (702) 272-0415 
jim@jchristensenlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff Daniel E. Wolfus 
 

Eric B. Liebman, Esq. 
MOYE WHITE LLP 
16 Market Square, 6th Floor 
1400 16th Street 
Denver, CO 80202 
Tel: (303) 292-7944 
Fax: (303) 292-4510 
eric.liebman@moyewhite.com 
 
Attorneys for Kenneth A. Brunk

Mark E. Ferrario, Esq. 
Christopher Miltenberger, Esq. 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Pkwy Ste. 400 
Las Vegas, NV 89169 
Tel:  (702) 792-3773 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com 
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Attorneys for Martin M. Hale, Jr. Trey 
Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC

 
 

  /s/ Valerie Larsen  
An Employee of Holland & Hart LLP 
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ACOM
JAMES R. CHRISTENSEN ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 3861
James R. Christensen PC
601 S. 6th St.
Las Vegas NV 89101
(702) 272-0406
(702) 272-0415 fax
jim@jchristensenlaw.com
Attorney for Plaintiff, DANIEL E. WOLFUS

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT DISTRICT OF NEVADA

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, CASE NO.: A-17-756971-B 
Plaintiff, DEPT NO.: 10

VSvs. CASE NO.: A-17-756971-C 
DEPT NO.:  1-SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D.
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR;
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. HALE,
JR.; TREY ANDERSON; RICHARD
SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; JOHN W.
SHERIDAN; ROGER A. NEWELL;
RODNEY D. KNUTSON; NATHANIEL
KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited
Liability Company; EREF-MID II, LLC, a
Delaware Limited Liability Company;
HCP-MID, LLC, a Delaware Limited Liability
Company; and DOES 1 through 25.

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR 
DAMAGES

Defendants.

COMES NOW Plaintiff DANIEL E. WOLFUS (“Wolfus”) by and through his counsel of

record and hereby alleges, as follows:

NATURE OF THE CASE

1. Defendants caused Midway Gold Corp. (‘Midway”) to make material 

misstatements of fact and to omit material facts necessary to make the statements made, in the 

light of the circumstances under which the statements were made, not misleading. Defendants did 

PA0811



so in public filings and press releases which were relied upon by Wolfus and which caused 

Wolfus to purchase Midway’s common stock and to hold and not sell Midway’s common stock.

2. Wolfus seeks only his own damages. Wolfus does not seek damages for harm 

suffered by Midway or any other shareholder of Midway. All recoveries sought belong solely to 

Wolfus, not to Midway or any other shareholder of Midway.

3. Wolfus brings only his own personal claims and those belonging to his assignors. 

Wolfus does not bring any claim that could be brought against any of the Defendants by Midway.

4. Wolfus brings direct claims, which belong to solely to Wolfus and not Midway or 

any other shareholder of Midway as found in: Parametric Sound Corp. v. Eighth Judicial District 

Court Of The State Of Nevada, 133 Nev. Advance Opinion 59 (September 14, 2017); Tooley v. 

Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette, Inc., 845 A.2d 1031 (Del.2004); Citigroup Inc., v. AHW 

Investment Partnership, 140 A.3d 1125 (Del. 2016); American Master Lease LLC v. Idanta 

Partners, Ltd., 225 Cal.App.4th 1451 (2014); and, Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 30 Cal.4th 167 

(2003).

5. Wolfus alleges five causes of action.

A. The First Cause of Action is for violation of California’s Corporate Securities Act 

of 1968, California Corporations Code §§ 25000 et seq, (the “Act”). Section 25401 makes it 

unlawful for Midway to sell its common stock in California “by means of any written or oral 

communication that includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material 

fact necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which the 

statements were made, not misleading.” Section 25501 states Wolfus may recover personally, 

“the price at which the security was bought plus interest at the legal rate from the date of 

purchase.” Wolfus purchased shares from Midway on January 23, 2014 and again on September 
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19, 2014 for $100,636 and $783,778. Defendants are liable to Wolfus for these damages pursuant 

to Sections 25403 and 25504 of the Act. Only Wolfus is entitled to recover damages for the two 

transactions.

B. The Second Cause of Action is for California common law breach of fiduciary 

duty owed by Midway’s officers and directors directly to Wolfus as held in Meister v. 

Mensinger, 230 Cal.App.4th 381 (2014). This cause of action belongs solely to Wolfus and he is 

entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. While Midway also breached its fiduciary duties owed to 

Wolfus, Midway has not been joined because of the bankruptcy stay. Meister provides that 

Wolfus may recover the market value of the stock owned by Wolfus in February 2014 and the 

amount paid for the shares purchased on September 19, 2014, with interest at 10% per annum.

C. The Third Cause of Action is for California common law aiding and abetting a 

breach of fiduciary duty owed by Midway directly to Wolfus as held in American Master Lease 

LLC v. Idanta Partners, Ltd., 225 Cal.App.4th 1451 (2014). This cause of belongs solely to 

Wolfus and he may keep all recoveries thereon. American Master Lease provides that Wolfus 

may recover the market value of the stock owned by Wolfus in February 2014 and the amount 

paid for the shares purchased on September 19, 2014, with interest thereon at 10% per annum.

D. The Fourth Cause of Action is for California common law fraud committed both 

by Defendants for inducing Wolfus to purchase shares in January and September 2014, and 

inducing Wolfus to hold and not sell the shares in February 2014, as held in Small v. Fritz 

Companies, Inc., 30 Cal.4th 167 (2003). This cause of action belongs solely to Wolfus and he is 

entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. Small provides that Wolfus is entitled to recover the 

market value of the stock owned by Wolfus in February 2014 and the amount paid for the shares 

purchased on September 19, 2014, with interest thereon at 10% per annum.
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E. The Fifth Cause of Action is for California common law negligent 

misrepresentation committed both by Defendants for inducing Wolfus to purchase shares in 

January and September 2014 and inducing Wolfus to hold and not sell the shares in February 

2014, as held in Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 30 Cal.4th 167 (2003). This cause of action 

belongs solely to Wolfus and he is entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. Small provides that 

Wolfus may recover the market value of the stock owned by Wolfus in February 2014 and 

amount paid for the shares purchased on September 19, 2014, with interest thereon at 10% per 

annum.

6. Wolfus does not claim injury from a diminution of value of Midway’s common 

stock, or any equity dilution, caused by issuance of additional shares of stock for inadequate 

consideration.

PARTIES

1. Plaintiff Daniel E. 7. Wolfus (“Wolfus”) is an individual who all relevant times

resides or resided in Los Angeles and Ventura Counties, California. Wolfus brings this action in

his own capacity and as assignee of the rights and claims of The Wolfus Revocable Trust,

Christine Wolfus and Daniel Wolfus (JTWROS), Devoney Wolfus, and Stephanie Wolfus.

Wolfus is the owner of all claims asserted in this action and is entitled to receive and retain all 

recoveries sought in this action. Wolfus does not assert any claim belonging to Midway and does 

not assert any claim for mismanagement of Midway.

2.8. Defendant Kenneth A. Brunk (“Brunk”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed

and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado. While with Midway, 

Brunk’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in 

Nevada.
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3.9. Defendant Richard D. Moritz (“Moritz”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed

and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado. While with Midway, 

Moritz’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in 

Nevada.

4.10. Defendant Bradley J. Blacketor (“Blacketor”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado. While with 

Midway, Blacketor’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at 

home in Nevada.

5.11. Defendant Timothy J. Haddon (“Haddon”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado. While with 

Midway, Haddon’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at 

home in Nevada.

6.12. Defendant Martin M. Hale, Jr., (“Hale”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed

and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of New York. While with Midway, 

Hale’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in 

Nevada.

7.13. Defendant Trey Anderson (“Anderson”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed

and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of New York. While with Midway, 

Anderson’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in 

Nevada.

8.14. Defendant Richard Sawchak (“Sawchak”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Virginia. While with 
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Midway, Sawchak’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at 

home in Nevada.

9.15. Defendant Frank Yu (“Yu”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed and believes

and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Clark County, Nevada.

10.16. Defendant John W. Sheridan (“Sheridan”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Vancouver, Canada.

While with Midway, Sheridan’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to 

render him at home in Nevada.

11.17. Defendant Roger A. Newell (“Newell”) is an individual who Wolfus is informed

and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado. While with Midway, 

Newell’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in 

Nevada.

12.18. Defendant Rodney D. Knutson (“Knutson”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of Colorado.

While with Midway, Knutson’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic 

as to render him at home in Nevada.

13.19. Defendant Nathaniel E. Klein (“Klein”) is an individual who Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges was and now is a resident of New York. While 

with Midway, Klein’s contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him 

at home in Nevada.

14.20. INV-MID, LLC; EREF-MID II, LLC and HCP-MID, LLC (collectively “Hale

Investors”) are each Delaware limited liability companies with their principal places of business

in New York.
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15.21. The true names, identities and capacities of defendants DOES 1 through 25,

inclusive are presently unknown to Wolfus who is informed and believes and thereon alleges that

such defendants are liable to Wolfus in some manner presently undetermined as a result of the

matters complained of herein. Wolfus will seek leave of Court, if necessary, to amend this First

Amended Complaint when the true names, identities and capacities of said fictitiously-named

defendants are identified.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

16.22. Among other reasons, jurisdiction and venue are proper in the District Court of

Nevada, County of Clark in that Defendants, or at least one of them, at all relevant times resided

in and still resides in Clark County, Nevada.

COMMON ALLEGATIONS

17.23. Midway Gold Corp. (‘Midway”) is a Canadian corporation incorporated under the

Company Act of British Columbia on May 14, 1996 under a prior name which was changed to its

current name on July 10, 2002. Midway became a reporting issuer in the Province of British

Columbia on May 16, 1997 and shortly thereafter its common shares were listed on the

Vancouver Stock Exchange, the predecessor of the TSX Venture Exchange. Midway

subsequently became a reporting issue in the Province of Alberta and at all relevant times,

Midway was a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange

Act”). Also during all relevant times, Midway’s common shares were listed on both the NYSE

Amex exchange and Tier 1 of the TSX.V under the symbol. As a reporting company under the

Exchange, Midway has been required to file periodic reports with the Securities and Exchange

Committee (the “SEC”). Those reports are public documents which may be accessed over the

internet at

https://www.sec.govicgigov/cgi-bin/browse-¬edgar?company=midway+gold&owner—=exclude
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&action—=getcompany. This website is commonly called Edgar. At all relevant times,

Midway’s principal executive offices were in Englewood, Colorado; but virtually all of 

Midway’s business operations were in Nevada where its principal mining claims were located.

18.24. Prior to 2008, Midway was an exploration stage company engaged in the

acquisition, exploration, and, if warranted, development of gold and silver mineral properties

primarily in North AmericaNevada. As an exploration stage company, Midway had no revenues

from operations. Instead, Midway relied on capital raised by the sale of its common shares to

fund its operations.

19.25. Prior to November 2008, Midway created its Disclosure Committee comprised of

members of its Board of Directors. Midway reported in public filings that the purpose of the

Disclosure Committee was to ensure that Midway complies with its timely disclosure obligations

as required under applicable Canadian and United States securities laws. No other formal charter

for this committee was ever publicly disclosed.

20.26. In November 2008, Wolfus became a director of Midway. At the time, Wolfus

had 28 years of experience as a banker and investment banker with substantial experience in the

capital markets. As an outside director, Wolfus was appointed to several committees of the

Board.

21.27. In 2009, Wolfus became the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive

Officer of Midway, serving in both capacities until May 18, 2012 when he was replaced by

Brunk. As an officer of Midway, Wolfus ceased to be a member of any of the Board’s

committees.

22.28. At some time prior to April 2011, Midway decided to expand its membership to

include both the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Operating Officer, at which time Wolfus
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again became a member of the Disclosure Committee. Brunk at all relevant times was a member

of the Disclosure Committee.

23.29. Wolfus began purchasing common stock of Midway in the open market in

February 2008. As of May 1, 2012, Wolfus and his assignors owned 1,629,117 shares of Midway

common stock. In January 2014, Wolfus and/or his assignors acquired an additional 200,000

shares of Midway common stock. In September 2014, Wolfus and/or his assignors acquired an

additional 1,000,000 shares of common stock and as of December 23, 2014, and after the sale of

some shares, the combined shareholdings of Wolfus and/or his assignors were 2,402,251 shares

of Midway common stock. Certain of these share purchases were made directly from Midway

after Wolfus ceased to be an officer or director of Midway and were made pursuant to the

exercise of stock options previously granted to Wolfus.

24.30. At the time Wolfus became Chairman of the Board and CEO, Midway had the

following properties in the exploratory stage where gold mineralization had been identified:

Spring Valley, Pan, The Midway and Golden Eagle properties.

Midway’s Thunder Mountain, Roberts Creek, Gold Rock (formerly the Monte) Creek and

Burnt Canyon projects were then in the early stage of gold and silver exploration. Of these

projects, all are in Nevada except the Golden Eagle property in Washington.

25.31. In October 2008, Midway entered into an exploration agreement and possible

joint venture agreement with a subsidiary of Barrick Gold Corporation for its Spring Valley

project. The Spring Valley project was located 20 miles northeast of Lovelock, Nevada.

26.32. Of its remaining properties, Midway’s Pan Gold Project (“Pan”) appeared to be

the most promising. The Pan Gold property was located at the northern end of the Pancake
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mountain range in western White Pine County, Nevada, approximately 22 miles southeast of

Eureka, Nevada, and 50 miles west of Ely, Nevada.

27.33. Yu became a director of Midway also in November 2008 and served in that

capacity at least up through June 2015. During that entire period, Yu served as a member or

chairman of Midway’s Disclosure Committee and Audit Committee.

28.34. Newell became a Director of Midway in December of 2009 and continued in that

capacity until August of 2014. During a portion of his tenure as a director, Newell served as a

member of Midway’s Disclosure Committee and Audit Committee.

29.35. Prior to May, 2010, and based in part on substantial exploration of the Pan

project, Midway made the decision to convert from a purely exploration company into a gold

mining production company using the Pan project as its initial production mine.

30.36. In May, 2010, Brunk was hired by Midway as its President and Chief Operating

Officer with the primary assignment to bring the Pan project into production. In that capacity, 

Brunk was required to personally oversee both mining activities in Nevada and permitting 

activities in Nevada and frequently was in Nevada to perform these duties. Brunk served in that

capacity until May of 2012, at which time he also became the Chairman of the Board and Chief

Executive Officer of Midway, replacing Wolfus in those positions. Brunk continued as Chairman

of the Board until August 2014 and as Chief Executive Officer and President until December

2014. At all times Brunk was a director of Midway, he was also a member of Midway’s

Disclosure Committee. Midway reported in public filings that Brunk holds a degree in

Metallurgical Engineering from Michigan Technological University and throughout his career

had conducted numerous feasibility studies and has been responsible for designing, constructing,

staffing and operating multiple mining operations and improving process efficiencies around the
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world as well. Brunk was initially hired by Midway to take its Pan project, discussed below, into

production.

31.37. On July 20, 2010, Midway publicallypublicly announced the results of a favorable

preliminary economic assessment (“PEA”) for the Pan project. The PEA included an independent

audit of an updated mineral resource estimate prepared by the Midway. The PEA was prepared

by GustaysonGustavson Associates, LLC (“GustaysonGustavson”) and was publicallypublicly

available.

32.38. Moritz was the Senior Vice President of Operations at Midway from July 2010 to

May 2014. Moritz was hired to primarily oversee the Pan project. To perform these duties, 

Moritz was frequently in Nevada to directly oversee mining operations.

33.39. On February 3, 2011, Midway filed an 8-K and Press Release with the SEC in

which Midway reported that it was moving forward with its Pan project with “possible

production as early as 2013” and that Midway was working on a Prefeasibility Study for the Pan

project. In its Annual Report filed on Form 10-K with the SEC at the same time, Midway stated

that it was “currently transitioning itself from an exploration company to a gold production

company with plans to advance the Pan gold deposit located in White Pine County, Nevada

through to production by as early as 2013.”

34.40. On April 4, 2011, Midway issued a press release filed with the SEC in which it

reported that it had secured a “positive Prefeasibility Study” for the Pan Projectproject. Midway

also described in significant detail the method and manner by which Midway intended to mine

the gold using conventional heap leaching methods prior to which the ore would be crushed by

the primary in-pit mobile jaw crusher and secondary and tertiary cone crushers to a nominal 0.5

inches. Barren solution would then be distributed on the leach pad with drip tube emitters. The
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entire Prefeasibility Study performed by GustaysonGustavson was filed with SEDAR and the

SEC and was publicallypublicly available on Edgar.

35.41. In a September 12, 2011 press release filed with the SEC, Midway reported its

engineering team was in the process of completing a mine plan and a Feasibility Study for the

Pan Projectproject and that the environmental team was working to complete a plan of operations

for the proposed mine that will be submitted to the Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”) for

evaluation and development of an Environmental Impact Statement.

36.42. On October 6, 2011, Midway reported in a Press Release that Midway was

negotiating with potential lenders to secure necessary funds for the Pan project.

Several major lenders had expressed interest in providing the necessary funds required for

the Pan project.

37.43. On November 1, 2011, Midway filed with the SEC a favorable Updated Mineral

Resource Estimate for the Pan Projectproject prepared by GustaysonGustavson.

38.44. On November 15, 2011, Midway reported by press release filed with the SEC the

results of the Feasibility Study for the Pan project prepared by GustaysonGustavson (“Feasibility

Study”). Midway stated that its mining plan would be to crush, agglomerate and place the ore on

a heap leach pad with recoveries estimated to average 75%. Midway also reported that the capital

costs to build the mine were estimated to be $99 million, including $8.2 million in working

capital and $6.8 million contingency funds with total production costs projected to be $824/oz. of

gold recovered. At that time, the price of gold was —~$1,700/oz.

39.45. On December 20, 2011, Midway filed the Feasibility Study with the SEC.

Excerpts of that Feasibility Study are attached hereto as Exhibit 1 and incorporated herein by this

reference. Among other items, this Study provides a detailed history of the mineral exploration of
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the Pan project, estimated gold deposits, an extremely detailed mining plan, a budget of -~$100

million for the project along with an extremely detailed breakdown of the needed equipment, and

a projection of anticipated revenues at different levels of gold prices. Midway participated in the

creation of the Feasibility Study. The Feasibility Study was never publicallypublicly updated or

amended and this study formed the basis on which all necessary permits were sought.

40.46. In order to bring the Pan project into production, two major events needed to

occur.

A. First, Midway needed to secure necessary permits, primarily environmentally

related. The most difficult of these permits was the “Record of Decision” on a Final

Environmental Impact Statement processed through the BLM. Additional environmental permits

were also required to be issued by the State of Nevada. No assurances could be made in 2011 that

these permits would be issued but the issuance of the permits would add significant value to

Midway even if Pan was not taken into production. By year-end 2011, Midway had begun the

permitting process for both the BLM and the Nevada Department of Environmental Protection

(“NDEP”). These permits would be issued approving a specific mining plan and material

changes to the plan would require modification or amendment of the environmental permits

received. At all times, Midway sought these permits based upon the detailed mining plan set

forth in the Feasibility Study, which required the three-stage crushing and agglomeration of the

ore before it is placed on the heap leaching pad to a height not to exceed 30’. Generally, the heap

leaching process required allowing a cyanide solution to percolate through the ore allowing the

gold to attach to the cyanide. The resulting gold enriched solution then would go through another

process where the gold was then separated from the cyanide solution after which further

processing would take place. Most of the permitting process occurred in Nevada.
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B. The other event was that Midway would need to generate the necessary capital not

only to fund the plan set forth in the Feasibility Study but also to fund Midway’s other projects

and general overhead. At the time, Midway believed that it would need —$120 million in capital

to fund the foregoing up until the time that the Pan project was generating revenues. Midway was

exploring raising this capital both by securing loans and through the sale of its common stock,

which was the way Midway had historically raised capital.

41.47. On January 9, 2012, Midway issued a Press. Release in which it announced that it

qualified as a Development Stage Entity under SEC guidelines and that it had submitted a mine

plan of operations to the BLM and the NDEP. The mine plan followed the plan set forth in the

Feasibility Study with capital costs of —$100 million.

42.48. Sheridan became a Director of Midway in February 2012 and continued in that

capacity until June 2015. During a portion of his tenure as a director, Sheridan served as a

member or Chairman of Midway’s Disclosure Committee and Audit Committee.

43.49. Prior to May 2012, Midway was approached by Hale, who was the CEO and

Portfolio Manager of Hale Capital Partners, LP who was seeking to negotiate what became a $70

million private placement of preferred stock with investors who Hale would secure. At the time

these negotiations commenced, Wolfus was the CEO and Chairman of the Board of Midway and

was the officer primarily involved in securing capital for Midway to fund its present and future

operations. Moreover, Wolfus had been spending substantial time locating sources to fund the

projected costs of both the Pan project and Midway’s other on-going operations. Wolfus was

opposed to the transaction proposed by Hale and Brunk was an ardent supporter of the

transactions.
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44.50. In May 2012, Midway’s Board of Directors decided to terminate Wolfus as its

Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and replace him with Brunk. This change of

control was effective May 18, 2012, and publicallypublicly reported by Brunk and Midway on

May 21, 2012. Wolfus continued as a director of Midway until its next annual meeting of

shareholders; and, while Wolfus also remained a member of the Disclosure Committee, he was

effectively excluded from all management decisions, excluded from all negotiations involving

the proposed Hale transaction, never provided with any anticipated public disclosures for review

and excluded from information he would need to review to perform any Disclosure Committee

duties. Wolfus did receive board packages consisting of information provided to all directors in

anticipation of a quarterly Board of Directors meeting and did participate in Board of Director’s

meetings which occurred prior to June 2013. From and after May 18, 2012, Wolfus carefully read 

and considered all press releases by Midway and the public filings made by Wolfus usually 

within a day or two following their release. Wolfus relied on this material in making all 

investment decisions concerning Midway including purchasing additional shares of Midway and 

whether to continue holding his and his assignors’ Midway shares even though he was no longer 

involved with the management of Midway. Wolfus’ share holdings were a material part of his 

investment portfolio in equity securities. As part of Wolfus’ transition out of the management of 

Midway, Wolfus and Midway entered into a consulting arrangement primarily for the purpose of 

allowing certain of his stock options to vest. Each of the Defendants then with Midway knew of 

this purpose and knew that Wolfus’ services as a consultant would never be utilized by Midway.

45.51. On August 2, 2012, the Board of Directors of Midway voted to increase the size

of the Board from 5 to 6 members and appoint Klein as a director. Klein at the time was a Vice

President of Hale Capital Partners. At the time of this appointment, Hale and Hale Capital
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Partners, LP were continuing to negotiate the terms of the proposed Hale transaction, which at

the time had not been publicallypublicly disclosed. Klein’s directorship provided Hale and Hale

Capital Partners, LP with access to Midway’s books and records and staff.

46.52. By press release dated August 16, 2012, Midway and Brunk reported that

engineering and permitting for the Pan project was advancing at a “rapid pace.”

47.53. By press release dated September 10, 2012, Midway and Brunk reported that it

was on schedule for “start-up of production in mid-2014” on the Pan project.

48.54. By 8-K filed with the SEC and by Press Release also filed with the SEC and both

dated November 21, 2012, Midway announced that agreements had been signed for the private

placement of $70 million in Series A Preferred Shares of Midway to the Hale Investors and

generally described the terms and conditions of that sale. True and correct copies of that 8-K and

Press Release are attached hereto as Exhibits 2 and 3, respectively, and incorporated hereatherein

by this reference. Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon alleges that at all relevant times

the Hale Investors were controlled by Hale. Moreover, one of the terms of the forgoing

transaction was the creation of a budget and work program committee, on which Hale or another

director selected solely by the Hale Investors were required members. The purpose of this

committee was to review and approve Midway’s annual business and financing plans and capital

and operating budgets or modifications thereto and its decisions had to be unanimous. Wolfus is

informed and believes and thereon alleges that once this committee was formed, Hale and the

Hale Investors acquired effective control of Midway and the Pan project.

49.55. On December 13, 2012, Midway filed an 8-K and Press Release with the SEC, a

true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 4 and incorporated hereatherein by

this reference. Exhibit 4 reports that the Hale transaction had closed, that Hale had become a

PA0826



director of Midway, and that Klein had resigned as a director, although he continued to attend

Board meetings thereafter. In addition, Midway reported the formation of the “Budget Work Plan

Committee as alleged above with Brunk, Hale, Newell and Sheridan as its members. At all

relevant times thereafter, Hale remained a director and a member of the Budget Work Plan

Committee of Midway.

50.56. On March 22, 2013, Midway announced that a draft environmental impact

statement was available for public comment. Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon

alleges that this statement was based on the mining plan set forth in the Feasibility Study.

51.57. On April 19, 2013, Midway issued its Definitive Proxy Statement which was filed

with the SEC. This statement disclosed that the Board had not nominated Wolfus as a director

but had nominated Knutson as a director and had nominated Klein as a director selected by the

Hale Investors.

52.58. On June 20, 2013, Midway held its annual meeting of shareholders. Brunk, Hale,

Newell, Sheridan, Yu, Knutson and Klein were each elected as directors. Wolfus ceased to be a

director at this time, although Wolfus last participation with Midway’s Board ceased some time

before.

53.59. On July 30, 2013, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release dated

July 30, 2013, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 5 and incorporated

herein by this reference. In that release, Midway reported that it was exploring ways to reduce

costs for the Pan project, expected to issue a revised Feasibility Study in the third quarter of

2013, had made significant progress in permitting, was pursuing a combination of project and

equipment financing alternatives, had received proposals from several major commercial funding
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sources to secure the necessary capital to fund the Pan project until a positive cash flow had been

achieved, and expected to pour gold in August 2014.

54.60. On November 17, 2013, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release

dated September 17, 2013, a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 6 and

incorporated hereatherein by this reference. In this release, Midway reported that it had

conducted tests of ore from South Pan and determined that it did not need to be crushed prior to

leaching, and that a 92% recovery rate could be achieved after 58 days of leaching the ore at a

height of 15’. This height is half of the 30’ height which the Feasibility Study called for. Midway

stated that leaching uncrushed ore, called Run of Mine, would avoid the need to secure crushing

equipment until operations moved to other areas of the Pan project. Midway also reported that it

had retained Sierra Partners to assist it in finding the necessary capital to fund operations.

55.61. At year-end 2013 and in addition to Pan, Midway was moving forward with its

Gold Rock project, also in White Pine County Nevada, as its second operating gold mine.

Midway’s Spring Valley project was also progressing primarily funded by Barrick.

56.62. On December 5, 2013, Blacketor became the Chief Financial Officer and Senior

Vice President of Midway. Blacketor was also a member of the Disclosure Committee.

57.63. On December 20, 2013, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release, a

true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 7 and incorporated herein by this

reference. In this release, Midway announced that it had received its Record of Decision for the

Pan project which completes the BLM permitting process.

58.64. As of December 31, 2013, Brunk, Hale, Newell, Sheridan, Yu, Knutson and Klein

were each directors of Midway; Brunk was the Chairman, President and Chief Executive officer

of Midway; Blacketor was a Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Midway;
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Moritz was the Senior Vice President of Operations of Midway; Brunk, Blacketor, Newell, Yu

and Klein were each members of the Disclosure Committee of Midway; Sheridan, Yu and

Knutson were each members of the Audit Committee of Midway; Brunk, Hale, Sheridan, Yu and

Klein were each members of the Budget/Work Plan Committee; and Newell, Sheridan and Yu

were each members of the Environment, Health and Safety Committee. In those capacities, each

was responsible for insuring that Midway publicallypublicly disclosed all material information

concerning the Pan project and that all publicallypublicly disclosed information concerning the

Pan project was true and complete, was not misleading and did not omitted material facts. The

foregoing defendants are collectively referred to as the “2013 Control Defendants.”

59.65. As of December 13, 2013, the 2013 Control Defendants knew each of the

following facts (“2013 Undisclosed Facts”) to be true, knew that each of the following facts

would be material to any reasonable investor in Midway including Wolfus, and knew that none

of those facts had been disclosed to the public generally or to Wolfus:

A. Midway had been unable to raise sufficient cash either in the form of equity or

debt to allow it to complete the Pan project in the manner set forth in the Feasibility Study as

well as fund on-going operations until the Pan project produced sufficient revenues to cover

those expenses;

B. Hale and the Hale Investors had blocked any consideration of the sale of either

Midway’s interest in the Spring Valley project or the Gold Rock project or any other material

assets to generate additional revenues;

C. The environmental and other permits secured by Midway for the Pan project were

based upon and required Midway to conduct mining operations in accordance with the mining

plan submitted which called for the crushing and agglomeration of ore before it was placed on
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the leach pads and Midway had taken no steps to cause those permits to be modified to allow

Midway to proceed using Run of Mine for the South Pit of the Pan project; and

D. Modifying the permits to permit Run of Mine would have been time consuming

delaying the time when Midway could start the leaching process.

60. On66. In late December and in early January 2014, Wolfus needed to decide 

whether to exercise some of his Midway stock options which would soon be expiring. In order to 

make this investment decision, Wolfus carefully reviewed and considered Midway’s press 

releases and public filings, primarily those which were issued after he ceased to be Midway’s 

Chief Executive Officer. At the time, Wolfus had no reason to believe that any of the factual 

statements contained therein were false or that Midway had failed to omit material facts. In 

reliance thereon and on January 7, 2014, Wolfus notified Midway of his intention to exercise

some of his stock options. Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon alleges that

defendantsDefendants, and each of them, were aware of this exercise. At the time Wolfus

exercised these options he was not aware of any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts, had no way of

learning the 2013 undisclosed facts except from the 2013 Control Defendants, would not have

exercised any of his options and would instead have sold his and his assignors’ remaining

Midway common shares. when Midway’s stock peaked in February 2014.

61.67. On January 15, 2014, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release, a

true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 8 and incorporated hereatherein by

this reference. In that release, Midway reported that the Pan project was “fully permitted and

construction is underway with completion estimated for Q3 2014.”
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62.68. Between January 7 and January 23, 2014, neither Midway nor any of the

defendants provided Wolfus with any information not contained in Midway’s then public filings,

including the 2013 Undisclosed Facts.

63.69. On January 23, 2014, Wolfus consummated his stock option exercise purchasing

200,000 shares for $112,000 Canadian dollars which was then $100,636 US dollars.

70. Wolfus thereafter and on a daily basis checked on the market price of Midway’s 

stock. When Midway’s stock peaked on or about February 14, 2014, at $1.391, Wolfus decided to 

continue to hold his Midway shares and his assignors made the same decision based upon 

Wolfus advice. At the time Wolfus and his assignors made this decision to hold and not sell their 

Midway stock, Wolfus remained unaware of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and also the fact that 

the Pan project was not fully permitted. Had Wolfus known any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts or 

that the Pan project was not fully permitted, he and his assignors would have sold all of the 

Midway shares.

64.71. In its March 13, 2014, Annual Report on form 10-K, Midway reported that ore

from the South Pan pit would be process Run of Mine and would not be crushed or agglomerated

as provided in the Feasibility Study or the mining plan submitted to secure the necessary permits

for the Pan project.

65.72. In a Press Release issued the same day, Midway again reported that the Pan

project was fully permitted and that construction was underway.

66.73. On March 19, 2014, Midway announced in a Press Release that it has selected

Ledcor CMI, Inc. as its mining contractor for the Pan project.

67.74. On April 24, 2014, Midway issued a Press Release. But for the hand

interlineations, Exhibit 9 attached hereto and incorporated hereatherein by this reference is a true

1 The high at market closing per Bloomberg.
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and correct copy of that release. In that release, Midway announced its intention to reduce the

capital costs for the Pan project as set forth in the Feasibility Study by using contract miners to

mine the ore and by proceeding Run of Mine on the South Pit of the Pan project. Midway stated

that Moritz had approved the release and that Midway was “well -funded.”

68.75. On May 16, 2014, Midway reported that Moritz had resigned.

69.76. Midway’s intention to use contract mining and Run of Mine was repeated in its

May 21, 2014, quarterly report filed on Form 10-Q with the SEC.

70.77. On May 22, 2014, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release, a true

and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 10 and incorporated herein by this

reference. This release announced the execution of a $55 million credit facility with

Commonwealth Bank of Australia for the Pan project.

71.78. On May 30, 2014, Midway filed with the SEC a prospectus for the sale of —~$25

million worth of common stock in a prearranged sale. The prospectus updated an earlier

registration statement. The funds were to be used in substantial part for the Pan project. Under

applicable securities laws, this prospectus was required to disclose all material facts related to the

Pan project, among other disclosures. However, this prospectus failed to disclose any of the 2013

Undisclosed Facts or any of the 2014 Undisclosed Facts alleged below. In June 2014, Midway

reported in a Press Release filed with the SEC that it completed this sale transaction.

72.79. On June 19, 2014, Sawchak became a director of Midway and Knutson ceased to

be a director of Midway. During a portion of his tenure as a director, Sawchak served as

Chairman of Midway’s Audit Committee.

73.80. On July 21, 2014, Midway issued and filed with the SEC a Press Release

announcing that it had closed on its Credit Facility from Commonwealth Bank of Australia.
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Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon alleges that this Credit Facility was the largest loan

Midway was able to secure.

74.81. In July 2014, there was a flood at the Pan project which delayed the project. The

flood was not reported until Midway’s September 15, 2014, press release filed with the SEC.

75.82. In its August 6, 2014, quarterly report filed on Form 10-Q with the SEC, Midway

reported that it had made a 5-year contract mining deal with Ledcor and had paid a $500,000

mobilization fee. On September 15, 2014, Midway reported in a Press Release filed with the SEC

that Ledcor had in fact mobilized on site on July 21, 2014. At no time did Midway disclose what

control, if any, it had over the timing of Ledcor’s mining operations or the control that it had over

Ledcor’s loading ore on the leach pads. Loading of the ore on the leach pads according to the

applicable permits then effect had to be carefully monitored and supervised by qualified

individuals and only after the ore had been crushed and agglomerated in the manner described in

the Feasibility Study and the mining plan. Even if the ore was to be loaded on the leach pads Run

of Mine, it still had to be carefully monitored and supervised by qualified individuals and only to

a height not exceeding 15’. Additional ore could not be loaded on the leach pad until the

approximately 2 month leaching process had occurred. Wolfus was not aware of these facts until

after June 2015.

76.83. By Press Release dated August 6, 2014, and filed with the SEC, Midway

announced that Brunk would be leaving Midway but he remained with Midway until December

2014.

77.84. By Press Release dated August 19, 2014 and filed with the SEC, Midway

announced the “retirement” of Newell and the appointment of Haddon as Chairman of the Board,
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replacing Brunk in that role. Haddon also became a member of the Environment, Health and

Safety Committee of Midway.

78.85. As of August 31, 2013, Brunk, Hale, Sawchak, Sheridan, Yu, Haddon and Klein

were each directors of Midway; Haddon was Chairman of the Board, Brunk was the President

and Chief Executive officer of Midway; Blacketor was a Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer of Midway;; Brunk, Blacketor, Yu and Klein were each members of the

Disclosure Committee of Midway; Sheridan, Yu and Sawchak were each members of the Audit

Committee of Midway; Brunk, Hale, Sheridan, Yu and Klein were each members of the

Budget/Work Plan Committee; and Haddon, Sheridan and Yu were each members of the

Environment, Health and Safety Committee. In those capacities, each was responsible for

insuring that Midway publicallypublicly disclosed all material information concerning the Pan

project and that all publicallypublicly disclosed information concerning the Pan project was true

and complete, was not misleading and did not omitted material facts. The foregoing defendants

are collectively referred to as the “2014 Control Defendants.”

79.86. As of August 31, 2014, the 2014 Control Defendants knew each of 2013

Undisclosed Facts and the following addition facts (“collectively the 2014 Undisclosed Facts”) to

be true, knew that each of those facts would be material to any reasonable investor in Midway

including Wolfus, and knew that none of those facts had been disclosed to the public generally or

to Wolfus:

A. Ledcor was poised to commence mining operations at Pan loading ore directly on

the leach pads but Midway did not have either a “qualified” person or a knowledgeable employee

on site to supervise the loading of the ore on the leach pads;
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B. Midway had not sought or received modified permits to allow it to deviate from

the mining plan submitted for the permits and as contained in the Feasibility Study; and

C. Midway did not have the necessary facilities to process the gold solution once the

leaching had been completed and it would be a considerable period before those facilities were

constructed and permitted for operation.

80. On87. In late August and early September 2014, Wolfus needed to decide 

whether or not to exercise some of his Midway stock options which would soon be expiring. In 

order to make this investment decision, Wolfus carefully reviewed and considered Midway’s 

press releases and public filings, primarily those which were issued after he purchase shares in 

January 2014. At the time, Wolfus had no reason to believe that any of the factual statements 

contained therein were false or that Midway had failed to omit material facts. In reliance thereon 

and on September 5, 2014, Wolfus notified Midway of his intention to exercise some of his stock

options. Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon alleges that defendants and each of them

were aware of this exercise. At the time Wolfus exercised these options he still was not aware of

any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts or the 2014 Undisclosed Facts, had no way of learning the 

2014 Undisclosed Factsthose facts except from the 2014 Control Defendants, would not have

exercised any of his options had he known those facts.

81.88. Between September 5 and 19, 2014, neither Midway nor any of the defendants

provided Wolfus with any information not contained in Midway’s then public filings, including

the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014 Undisclosed Facts.

82.89. On September 19, 2014, Wolfus consummated his stock option exercise

purchasing 1,000,000 shares for $860,000 Canadian dollars which was then $783,778 US dollars.
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83.90. On September 15, 2014, Midway announced by Press Release filed with the SEC

that Ledcor had commenced mining operations. The release further suggested that the facilities to

process the mine would be ready by the end of September.

84.91. On October 14, 2014, Midway announced that William Zisch would become

President and Chief Executive Officer of Midway on or about December 10, 2014 and that Brunk

would depart Midway on Mr. Zisch’s start date.

85.92. By Current Report filed on form 8-K with the SEC and dated November 4, 2014,

Midway announced the resignation of Klein and the appointment of Anderson as a director by the

Hale Investors. Anderson also became a member of the Budget/Work Plan Committee of

Midway.

86.93. In its November 16, 2014, quarterly report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC,

Midway again provided only favorable information concerning the Pan project.

87.94. By Press Release dated December 1, 2014 and filed with the SEC, Midway

reported that it had begun receiving funds on its Credit Facility.

88.95. On June 22, 2015, Midway announced that it w3aswas filing a voluntary petition

for relief under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and shortly thereafter filed for bankruptcy.

89.96. As a result of the Midway Bankruptcy, all or virtually all of Midway’s assets have

been sold and there will beare no funds or recoveries by common shareholders of Midway.

90.97. Following the bankruptcy filing, Wolfus has learned or is otherwise informed and

believed and thereon alleges that the following facts are true:

A. As of the end of 2013, Midway lacked sufficient resources in the form of capital

or debt financing to bring the Pan project to a successful mining operation;
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B. Hale and the Hale Investors blocked Midway from selling assets to create

necessary capital;

C. In late 2013 or early 2014, material disagreements arose between Brunk and Hale,

which resulted in Hale taking effective control of Midway and the Pan project even though Hale

lacked the ability to manage the Pan project;

D. The ore in the entire Pan project was extremely clayey and would need to be

crushed and agglomerated prior to leaching in order to profitable and timely extract gold; but

rather than cut other costs so that the crushing and agglomeration equipment could be acquired,

defendants, and each of them, decided not to purchase this necessary equipment;

E. Costly equipment was purchased by Midway which was not permitted to be used

on the Pan project resulting in costly delays;

F. Midway never received the appropriate permits for Run of Mine operations;

G. Midway allowed Ledcor to overload the leach pads in a manner which violated its

operating permits and resulted in an inability to successfully leach the gold from the ore;

H. Midway allowed Ledcor to begin loading the leach pads before it was capable of

either performing the necessary heap leaching or capable of processing and refining for sale the

resulting gold solution.

91.98. Effective June 2, 2016, Wolfus, Brunk, Moritz, Blacketor, Haddon, Hale,

Anderson, Sawchak, Yu, Sheridan, Newell, Knutson and Klein entered into a tolling agreement,

a true and correct copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit 11 and incorporated herein by this

reference. This agreement tolled the statute of limitations on all claims from June 2, 2016

through September 25, 2016.
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FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(SECURITIES FRAUD AGAINST

THE 2013 AND 2014 CONTROL DEFENDANTS)

92.99. Wolfus realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 9198 as

though fully set forth hereatherein.

93.100. This is a claim for securities fraud based upon the California Corporate

Securities Law of 1968, California Corporations Code § 25000, et seq. (the “Act”)94. At all 

relevant times, Wolfus was and now is a resident of California. All purchases of Midway’s 

common stock were made by Wolfus either for his own account or for his assignors. All 

purchases of Midway’s common stock were made by Wolfus in California.. Section 25401 of the 

Act makes it unlawful for Midway to sell its common stock in California “by means of any 

written or oral communication that includes an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to 

state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances 

under which the statements were made, not misleading.” Section 25501 Act creates a private 

right of action for a purchaser and makes Midway, as the seller, liable to Wolfus, as the 

purchaser, for “the price at which the security was bought plus interest at the legal rate from the 

date of purchase.” Wolfus purchased shares from Midway on January 23, 2014 and again on 

September 19, 2014 for $100,636 US dollars and $783,778, respectively and the legal rate of 

interest thereon is at 10% per annum. In addition to Midway, Defendants, and each of them, are 

liable for these damages pursuant to Sections 25403 and 25504. Only Wolfus is entitled to 

recover these damages for these two transactions. Defendants, and each of them, knew that at the 

time of purchase, Wolfus was a California resident entitled to pursue relief under the Act. All 

purchases of Midway’s common stock were made by Wolfus in California.
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95.101. Midway’s common shares are securities as defined in California

Corporations Code § 25019.

96. As of October 8, 2013, Wolfus or his assignors owned 1,609,117 shares of 

Midway’s common stock.

97.102. On January 23, 2014, Wolfus purchased in California 200,000 shares of

Midway’s common stock directly from Midway through the exercise of stock options at a

purchase price of $.56 Canadian dollars per share or approximately $.50 US dollars per share. At

that time, Midway’s common stock was selling on the NYSE Amex exchange at $1.27 US

dollars per share and its price was rising reaching nearly $1.50 US dollars per share within the 

next 30 days.

98.103. Midway was the issuer of the 200,000 shares purchased by Wolfus and as

such was liable for any written or oral communication contained in its public filings that included

any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which the statements were made, not

misleading.

99.104. Each of the 2013 Control Defendants are jointly and severally liable to

Wolfus with Midway because of their positions as officers, directors and committee members of

Midway and as such are deemed to be “controlling persons” under the Act. Moreover, each of the

2013 Control Defendants controlled Midway and had the ability and duty to ensure that its public

filings were true, correct and complete, were not misleading and did not fail to disclose material

facts.

100.105. In violation of California Corporations Code § 25401, the 2013 public

filings by Midway which discussed the Pan project were materially false and misleading by
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failing to timely disclose each of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the failure by the 2013 Control

Defendants to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts was intentional and was done to encourage

investors to retain and purchase Midway’s common stock.

101. In exercising his options106. In purchasing the 200,000 shares in January 2014,

Wolfus had carefully read and reviewed and relied on the public filings of Midway and was

unaware of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts. Had Wolfus known any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts,

Wolfus would not have exercisedpurchased any optionsshares in January 2014 or thereafter and 

would have sold both his and his assignors common stock when the stock reached its peak in

February 2014.

102.107. On September 19, 2014, Wolfus purchased in California 1,000,000 shares

of Midway’s common stock directly from Midway through the exercise of stock options at a

purchase price of $.86 Canadian dollars per share, which was approximately $.78 US dollars per

share. At that time, Midway’s common stock was selling on the NYSE Amex exchange at $1.03 

per share and its price was rising reaching nearly $1.20 per share within the next 30 days.

103.108. Midway was the issuer of the 1,000,000 shares purchased by Wolfus and

as such was liable for any written or oral communication contained in its public filings that

included any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to

make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which the statements were made,

not misleading.

104.109. Each of the 2014 Control Defendants are jointly and severally liable to

Wolfus with Midway because of their positions as officers, directors and committee members of

Midway and as such are deemed to be “controlling persons” under the Act. Moreover, each of the

2014 Control Defendants controlled Midway and had the ability and duty to ensure that its public
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filings were true, correct and complete, were not misleading and did not fail to disclose material

facts.

105.110. In violation of California Corporations Code § 25401, the pre-September

2014 public filings by Midway which discussed the Pan project were materially false and

misleading by failing to timely disclose each of the 2014 Undisclosed Facts and the failure by the

2014 Control Defendants to disclose the 2014 Undisclosed Facts was intentional and was done to

encourage investors to retain and purchase Midway’s common stock.

106. In exercising his options111. In purchasing shares in September 2014, Wolfus

carefully reviewed and relied on the public filings of Midway and was unaware of the 2013 

Undisclosed Facts or any of the 2014 Undisclosed Facts. Had Wolfus known any of the 2014

Undisclosed Facts or any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts, Wolfus would not have

exercisedpurchased any optionsshares in September 2014 and would have sold both his and his 

assignors remaining common stock when the stock reached its peak in October 2014.

107. All of the common stock owned by Wolfus and his assignors has become 

valueless except to the extent sold after January 23, 2014.

108.112. As a result of misrepresentations and omissions of material facts, Wolfus

has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, but no event less than $3,000,000. Wolfus 

is entitled toof $884,414.00 plus interest thereon at 10% per annum from date of purchase and

reasonable attorney fees.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

AGAINST THE 2013 AND 2014 CONTROL DEFENDANTS)

109.113. Wolfus realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 91, 94, 

96, 97, 101,98, 102, 106 and103, 105 through 107 and 111, as though fully set forth hereatherein.

PA0841



110.114. This is a claim for breach of fiduciary duty against the 2013 Control

Defendants arising out of their failure to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts prior to Wolfus

stock option exercisepurchase in January 2014 and against the 2014 Control Defendants for their

failure to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014 Undisclosed Facts prior to Wolfus

stock option exercise in September 2014.purchase in September 2014. This claim is based on 

California common law arising out of breaches of fiduciary duty owed by Midway’s officers and 

directors directly to Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors as so held in Meister v. Mensinger, 230 

Cal.App.4th 381 (2014). This is a cause of action which belongs solely to Wolfus and Wolfus’

assignors who are entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. While Midway also breached its 

fiduciary duties owed to Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors, Midway has not been joined as a 

culpable defendant because of the bankruptcy stay precluding Wolfus from doing so. California 

law, as set forth in Meister, provides that Wolfus is entitled to recover all damages proximately 

caused by the breach which is the market value of the stock then owned by Wolfus and Wolfus’

assignors in February 2014 and the consideration paid by Wolfus for the shares purchased on 

September 19, 2014, together with interest thereon at 10% per annum.

111.115. Each of the 2013 Control Defendants and 2014 Control Defendants were

fiduciaries and owed Wolfus the fiduciary duty of full disclosure of all material facts then

existing prior to Wolfus’ exercise of his stock options in 2014.

112.116. Each of the 2013 Control Defendants and 2014 Control Defendants

breached their fiduciary duties to Wolfus by failing to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts prior

to January 1, 2014 and by failing to disclose the 2014 Undisclosed Facts prior to September

2014.
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117. Had Wolfus known any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts, Wolfus would have sold 

all of his shares of Midway and all of his assignors’ shares of Midway in February 2014, when 

Midway’s stock reached its peak and would not have purchased any additional shares in January 

or September 2014.

113.118. As a result of defendants’ breach of their fiduciary duties to Wolfus,

Wolfus has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, but no event less than $3,000,000.

Wolfus is entitled to interest at 10% per annum.

114.119. Defendants conduct was fraudulent entitling Wolfus to an award of

punitive damages in an amount to be proven at trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(AIDING AND ABETTING A BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY AGAINST ALL
DEFENDANTS)

115.120. Wolfus realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 91, 94, 

96, 97, 101, 102, 106, 107 and 11498, 102, 103, 105 through 107, 111, 115, 117 and 119, as

though fully set forth hereatherein.

116. This is a claim for aiding and abetting Midway in breaching its fiduciary duties of 

full disclosure of all material facts then existing related to the Pan project prior to Wolfus’

exercise of his stock options in 2014.121. This is a claim for California common law aiding 

and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by Midway directly to Wolfus and Wolfus’

assignors for which Defendants, and each of them, aided and abetted as so held in American 

Master Lease LLC v. Idanta Partners, Ltd., 225 Cal.App.4th 1451 (2014). This is a cause of 

action which belongs solely to Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors who are entitled to keep all 

recoveries thereon. While Midway also breached its fiduciary duties owed to Wolfus and 

Wolfus’ assignors, Midway has not been joined as a culpable defendant because of the 
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bankruptcy stay precluding Wolfus from doing so. California law, as set forth in American 

Master Lease, provides that Wolfus is entitled to recover all damages proximately caused by the 

breach which is the market value of the stock then owned by Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors in 

February 2014 and the consideration paid by Wolfus for the shares purchased on September 19, 

2014, together with interest thereon at 10% per annum.

117.122. Wolfus is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Does 1 through

220 are the underlying beneficial owners of the Hale Investors and as such indirectly through

Hale controlled the Pan project and Midway at all times from and after June 2013.

118.123. Midway at all times after Wolfus ceased to be a member of Midway’s

Board of Directors owed Wolfus of full disclosure of all relevant facts related to the Pan project

prior to selling 1.200,000 shares of Midway’s common stock. to Wolfus in 2014.

119.124. Midway breached its fiduciary duties to Wolfus in 2014 by failing to

disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts prior to January 2014 and by failing to disclose the 2014

Undisclosed Facts prior to September 2014.

120.125. Defendants, and each of them, knew of Midway’s fiduciary duties to

Wolfus and materially aided and abetted Midway in breaching its fiduciary duties.

121.126. Wolfus has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, but no event

less than $3,000,000. Wolfus is entitled to interest at 10% per annum.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(FRAUD AGAINST THE 2013 AND 2014 CONTROL DEFENDANTS)

122. Wolfus realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 91, 94, 96, 97, 

101, 102, 106, 107 and 114 as though fully set forth hereat.127. Wolfus realleges the 

allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 98, 102, 103, 105 through 107, 111 and 109, as 

though fully set forth herein.
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123. This is a claim for common law fraud for failing to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed 

Facts and the 2014 Undisclosed Facts related to the Pan project prior to Wolfus’ exercise of his 

stock options in 2014.

128. This is a claim for California common law and statutory fraud committed both by 

Midway and Defendants, and each of them, for inducing Wolfus to purchase shares in January 

and September 2014 and inducing Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors to hold and not sell their shares 

in February 2014. This claim is based on the holding in Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 30 

Cal.4th 167 (2003). This is a cause of action which belongs solely to Wolfus and Wolfus’

assignors who are entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. While Midway also defrauded Wolfus 

and Wolfus’ assignors, Midway has not been joined as a culpable defendant because of the 

bankruptcy stay precluding Wolfus from doing so. California law, as set forth in Small, provides 

that Wolfus is entitled to recover all damages proximately caused by the fraud which is the 

market value of the stock then owned by Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors in February 2014 and the 

consideration paid by Wolfus for the shares purchased on September 19, 2014, together with 

interest thereon at 10% per annum.

129. In late December and in early January, Wolfus carefully reviewed all public 

filings and press releases of Midway issued after he ceased to be Midway’s Chief Executive 

Officer in order to decide whether he should purchase additional shares of Midway or whether he 

should not make any further purchases and instead sell both his Midway shares and those of his 

assignors. Wolfus’ assignors are immediate family members who totally relied on Wolfus’

investment decisions. Wolfus was primarily concerned with the status of the Pan project and the 

likelihood that this project would begin profitably mining gold and be revenue positive. Wolfus 

determined from those public statements and the absence of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts that 
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profitable mining operations would result in a substantial increase in the value of their combined 

Midway shares.

130. Following Wolfus’ share purchases in January 2014, Wolfus continued to review 

and rely upon Midway’s public filings and press releases and closely monitored the market price 

of Midway’s shares. When the market price of those shares peaked in February 2014, Wolfus 

was again called upon to decide whether to hold his shares and those of his assignors or whether 

to sell those shares. Wolfus determined from the publicly available information from Midway 

that he and his assignors should continue to hold their Midway shares. Had Wolfus learned of 

any of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts, he would have sold all of his Midway shares and his 

assignor’s Midway shares in February 2014 when Midway’s stock price began to fall from its 

peak.

131. In late August or early September, 2014, Wolfus again needed to make a decision 

as to whether to purchase additional Midway shares or refrain from making any further purchases 

and instead sell his shares and those of his assignors. Wolfus again carefully reviewed all public 

filings and press releases issued by Midway since December 2013. Had Wolfus learned of any of

the 2013 Undisclosed Facts or any of the 2014 Undisclosed Facts at that time, he would have 

sold all of his Midway shares and his assignor’s Midway shares in October 2014 when Midway’s 

stock price began to fall from its peak.

132. Wolfus’ reliance on the statements of fact contained in Midway’s public filings 

and press releases and the absence of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014 Undisclosed Facts 

in those filings was reasonable.

124.133. The 2013 Control Defendants intentionally defrauded Wolfus by failing to

disclose or causing Midway to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts.
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125.134. The 2014 Control Defendants intentionally defrauded Wolfus by failing to

disclose or causing Midway to disclose the 2014 Undisclosed Facts.

126.135. Wolfus was ignorant of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts in January 2014, had

no ability to learn the 2013 Undisclosed Facts prior to January 2014, and relied upon the absence

of any disclosure of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts in exercising his stock options in January 2014

and in not selling all of his and his assignors’ shares of Midway common stock prior to March,

2014.

127.136. Wolfus was ignorant of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014

Undisclosed Facts in September 2014, had no ability to learn any of those facts prior to

September 2014, and relied upon the absence of any of any disclosure of those facts in exercising

his stock options in September 2014 and in not selling all of his and his assignors’ shares of

Midway common stock prior to November, 2014.

128.137. Wolfus first learned of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014

Undisclosed Facts after June 2015.

129.138. Wolfus has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, but no event

less than $3,000,000. Wolfus is entitled to interest at 10% per annum.

FOURTHFIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION

AGAINST THE 2013 AND 2014 CONTROL DEFENDANTS)

130.139. Wolfus realleges the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 91, 94, 

96, 97, 101, 102, 106, 107 and 11498, 102, 103, 105 through 107, 111, 109, 129 through 132 and 

135 through 137, as though fully set forth hereatherein.

131. This is a claim for common law negligent misrepresentation for negligently failing 

to disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014 Undisclosed Facts related to the Pan project 
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prior to Wolfus’ exercise of his stock options in 2014.140. This is a claim for California 

common law and statutory negligent misrepresentation committed both by Midway and 

Defendants, and each of them, for inducing Wolfus to purchase shares in January and September 

2014 and inducing Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors to hold and not sell their shares in February 

2014. This claim is brought pursuant to the holding in Small v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 30 Cal.4th 

167 (2003). This is a cause of action which belongs solely to Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors who 

are entitled to keep all recoveries thereon. While Midway also made negligent misrepresentations 

and omissions to Wolfus and Wolfus’ assignors, Midway has not been joined as a culpable 

defendant because of the bankruptcy stay precluding Wolfus from doing so. California law, as set 

forth in Small, provides that Wolfus is entitled to recover all damages proximately caused by the 

negligent misrepresentation which is the market value of the stock then owned by Wolfus and 

Wolfus’ assignors in February 2014 and the consideration paid by Wolfus for the shares 

purchased on September 19, 2014, together with interest thereon at 10% per annum.

132.

141. The 2013 Control Defendants negligently failed to disclose or cause Midway to

disclose the 2013 Undisclosed Facts to Wolfus prior to his exercise of stock options in January

2014.

133.

142. The 2014 Control Defendants negligently failed to disclose or cause Midway to

disclose the 2014 Undisclosed Facts to Wolfus prior to his exercise of stock options in

September 2014.
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134.143. Because of their status, the 2013 Control Defendants and the 2014 Control

Defendants owed Wolfus a duty of full disclosure of all relevant facts related to the Pan project

prior to causing or allowing Midway to sell common stock to Wolfus.

135.144. Wolfus was ignorant of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts in January 2014, had

no ability to learn the 2013 Undisclosed Facts prior to January 2014, and relied upon the absence

of any disclosure of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts in exercising his stock options in January 2014

and in not selling all of his and his assignors’ shares of Midway common stock prior to March,

2014.

136.145. Wolfus was ignorant of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014

Undisclosed Facts in September 2014, had no ability to learn any of those facts prior to

September 2014, and relied upon the absence of any of any disclosure of those facts in exercising

his stock options in September 2014 and in not selling all of his and his assignors’ shares of

Midway common stock prior to November, 2014.

137.146. Wolfus first learned of the 2013 Undisclosed Facts and the 2014

Undisclosed Facts after June 2015.

138.147. Wolfus has been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial, but no event

less than $3,000,000. Wolfus is entitled to interest at 10% per annum.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Wolfus prays judgment against Defendants, as follows:

1. For damages in excess of $15,000.00,10,000.00, according to proof;

2. For exemplary or punitive damages, according to proof;

3. For interest thereon at 10% per annum;

3.4. For attorneys’ fees;

4.5. For costs of suit; and
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5.6. For such other and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

Dated this  2  (  5th day of June, 2017.February, 2018.

/s/ James IZ. Christensen
James R. C istensenChristensen Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 3861
James R. Christensen PC
630 S. Third St.601 S. 6th Street
Las Vegas NV 89101
(702) 272-0406
(702) 272-0415 fax
jim@jchristensenlaw.com Attorney for Plaintiff
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XZJTTOTJ ROQMSTJ
bJ[SMOP
cJ[ad
eMTf ROQMSTJ
g[\Zdhijklm
nopqrj
s
t
uqvwox
yijv
zi{|
t
}i{
~���t��t����
��IV\
HIJK
L
HMNMOP�
��TJW
SMJTZ\IJ�
IYYMZTJ
IJ
IfOTJ
IY
KIJT
\d[O
\TO
aTJZTO\
IY
[
ZN[QQ
IYT�VM\W
QTZVJM\MTQ
JTPMQ\TJTS
VOSTJ
XTZ\MIO
��
IY
\dT
��L
�Z\
KVQ\
YMNT
fM\d
\dT
��X�
XTZVJM\MTQ
[OS��Zd[OPT
�IKKMQQMIO
�X���
[
Q\[\TKTO\
IY
IfOTJQdMa
JTP[JSMOP
QVZd
QTZVJM\W�
bdT
MOM\M[N
YMNMOPMQ
IO
HIJK
�
[OS
Zd[OPTQ
[JT
JTaIJ\TS
IO
HIJK
L�
bdT
�OOV[N
X\[\TKTO\
IY
�TOTYMZM[N
IfOTJQdMaIY
QTZVJM\MTQ
MQ
IO
HIJK
��
bdT
YIJKQ
ZIO\[MO
MOYIJK[\MIO
IO
\dT
JTaIJ\MOP
aTJQIO�Q
JTN[\MIOQdMa\I
\dT
ZIKa[OW
[OS
IO
aVJZd[QTQ
[OS
Q[NTQ
IY
QVZd
T�VM\W
QTZVJM\MTQ���
HIJK
L
MQ
Q\IJTS
MO
X���Q
��c�_
S[\[�[QT�
��c�_
MQ
�NTZ\JIOMZ
�[\[
c[\dTJMOP�
�O[NWQMQ
[OS_T\JMT�[N
XWQ\TK�
R\
MQ
[
JTPMQ\TJTS
\J[STK[Ĵ
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IY
\dT
X���
XTZHIJKL��IK
MQ
OI\
[YYMNM[\TS
fM\d
IJ
[aaJI�TS
�W
\dT
��X�
XTZVJM\MTQ
[OS
��Zd[OPT
�IKKMQQMIO
�X����
bTJKQ
IY
�QT
õ
]JM�[ZW
X\[\TKTO\
õ
PA0854



EXHIBIT J 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT J 

PA0855



��������� ��	
��
�
�
�
������
������
�
�
������
����
 �
!
�
��

���"��"���

#$$!%�����&��	��
��&	��������'���(�"��"�����"�������"����(�)&#$� ���

*+,-
.
/01234-5
.
60+78195
.
/:+89
.
;+<9=19
.
>/?
. @-A
B5-0C
D3E<
BF
.
D3E<
G<HIJK
L
HMNMOPQ ROQMSTJ
UVWQ XMPOMYMZ[O\
UVWQ ]TOOW
X\IẐQ
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MDSM 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; 
RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; 
JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A 
NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 
NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; 
EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25. 
 
                                      Defendants. 

 

 Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.:  XXVII 
 

MOTION TO DISMISS AND JOINDER 
TO D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
 

 Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 

EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC (collectively, the “Hale Defendants”), by and through 

their counsel of record, Greenberg Traurig LLP, hereby move to dismiss Plaintiff Daniel E. 

Wolfus’ (“Plaintiff”) Second Amended Complaint pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(2) for lack of 

personal jurisdiction. Just like his misguided complaints before this one, Plaintiff fails to plead 

Case Number: A-17-756971-B

Electronically Filed
3/16/2018 4:41 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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any facts demonstrating that this Court can properly exercise personal jurisdiction over any of 

the Hale Defendants. None of the claims at issues in Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint 

arise in any way out of the Hale Defendants’ purported contacts with the State of Nevada and the 

Hale Defendants have not otherwise purposefully vailed themselves of this Court’s jurisdiction. 

This Court cannot properly exercise jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants as a result and 

the Second Amended Complaint must be dismissed as to each of them pursuant to NRCP 

12(b)(2). 

 Further, pursuant to EDCR 2.20(d), the Hale Defendants also join in all of the arguments 

raised in the remaining D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint (the 

“D&O Motion”). As set forth therein, this Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the claims 

and Plaintiff has otherwise failed to plead his claims in compliance with the law. As such, even if 

this Court could exercise jurisdiction over the Hale Defendants, which it cannot, dismissal of the 

Second Amended Complaint is proper under NRCP 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(5). 

This Motion and Joinder is made pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(1), (2) and (5) and is based 

upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the Declarations of Messrs. Hale, 

Anderson and Klein attached hereto, the Memorandum of Points and Authorities set forth in the 

D&O Motion, the pleadings and papers file in this action, and any argument of counsel the Court 

may allow at the time of hearing on this Motion and Joinder and the D&O Motion. 

 DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Christopher R. Miltenberger    
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
 
Counsel for Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the undersigned counsel will bring the following 

MOTION TO DISMISS AND JOINDER TO D&O DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 

DISMISS SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT on for hearing before Department XXVII, 

District Court, Clark County, Nevada on the ____ day of _________________, 2018, at 

________ .m or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.  

 DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Christopher R. Miltenberger    
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
 
Counsel for Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 

 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Having now had three attempts to plead his claims against any of the Defendants, 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint still falls woefully short. While all of Plaintiff’s claims 

are deficient as a matter of law as set forth in the D&O Motion, Plaintiff’s continued effort to 

assert claims against Martin M. Hale, Jr., Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 

EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC1 (the “Hale Defendants”) in this jurisdiction is 

particularly egregious. None of the Hale Defendants reside in Nevada, transact business within 

this state, or otherwise demonstrate any indicia as to how exercise of jurisdiction over them 

could possibly be reasonable under the circumstances. Nor do any of the claims set forth in the 

                                                 
1 INV-MID, LLC, EREF-MID II, LLC and HCP-MID, LLC (the “Investment Entities”) are sole-purpose entities 
serving as investment vehicles that were organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. See Hale Decl.,  

2                         May
10:30 a
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Second Amended Complaint arise out of any of the Hale Defendants’ minimal, Nevada-related 

activity.  In light of the incontrovertible facts, this Court should, at a minimum, dismiss the 

Second Amended Complaint as against each of the Hale Defendants for lack of personal 

jurisdiction. 
 
II. SUMMARY OF ALLEGATIONS RELEVANT TO THE HALE DEFENDANTS2,3 

 Midway is a Canadian corporation incorporated under the Company Act of British 

Columbia.  Second Amended Complaint (“SAC”), ¶ 23.  Historically, Midway was engaged in 

the acquisition, exploration and potential development of gold mineral properties throughout 

North America, but primarily from mines located in Nevada and Washington.  See, e.g., id. at ¶¶ 

24, 30.  

Plaintiff is and at all relevant times was a resident of the State of California. Id. at ¶ 7. 

Plaintiff served as a member of Midway’s Board of Directors from November 2008 through June 

2013, including serving as the company’s Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief 

Executive Officer from sometime in 2009 through May 18, 2012.  Id. at ¶¶ 26-27, 49. Both prior 

to, during, and after serving as a member of Midway’s Board of Directors and its CEO, Plaintiff 

either purchased Midway’s common stock on the open market or by exercising certain stock 

option grants issued during his tenure with the company. See id. at ¶  29. Plaintiff does not allege 

that he purchased any common stock or was granted any stock option grants directly from any of 

the Hale Defendants or was solicited by any of the Hale Defendants in connection with any of 

his purchases or exercises of his grants. See id. at ¶¶ 29, 69-70, 87, 89. 

In 2012, while Plaintiff was still Chairman of Midway’s Board of Directors and the 

Company’s CEO, Hale Capital Partners, LP (“HCP”) began investigating making a substantial 

                                                 
2 The Hale Defendants incorporate by reference the Factual Background set forth in Section II of the D&O Motion 
as if fully set forth herein. 
 
3 While the Hale Defendants dispute many of Plaintiff’s factual allegations, the summary set forth herein accepts 
such allegations as true simply for the purpose of this motion to the extent required by NRCP 12(b)(5).  See Simpson 
v. Mars, Inc., 113 Nev. 188, 190, 929 P.2d 966, 967 (1997).   
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investment in Midway. Am. Compl., ¶ 49. In August 2012, Nathaniel Klein (“Klein”), then a 

Vice President at HCP, was appointed to Midway’s Board of Directors. Id. at ¶ 51.  

On November 21, 2012, Midway announced via a press release and a Schedule 8-K filed 

with the SEC, that the Company had reached an agreement whereby the Investor Entities (INV-

MID, LLC, as lead investor, and EREF-MID II, LLC and HCP-MID, LLC, as investors) would 

acquire $70 million in Series A Preferred Shares of Midway for $70 million, pursuant to certain 

stipulations and agreements.  Id. at ¶ 54. This transaction closed on December 13, 2012. Id. at ¶ 

55.  That day, Martin M. Hale, Jr. (“Hale”), HCP’s CEO and portfolio manager, was appointed 

to Midway’s Board of Directors, and Klein resigned his directorship. Id. at ¶ 49, 55. Klein was 

reelected to Midway’s Board of Directors on June 20, 2013, id.. ¶ 58, but later resigned from the 

Board on November 4, 2014. Id. at ¶ 92.  Trey Anderson (“Anderson”) was appointed to serve as 

a director, filling the spot vacated by Klein. Id.  Plaintiff does not allege that he acquired any 

stock in Midway or otherwise exercised stock option grants at any time after Anderson’s 

appointment to the Board. See id. at ¶¶ 92-95.4 

It bears repeating that Plaintiff does not allege that any statements made in any of the 

press releases or Schedule 8-Ks issued by Midway relating to the HCP transaction, or, in fact, 

relating to Midway at all, ever originated from Nevada as opposed to Midway’s executive offices 

in Colorado. See generally SAC. He also concedes that he received any such statements in 

California, not Nevada.  See id. at ¶ 7. Although it is his burden to establish jurisdiction over 

each of the Defendants, Plaintiff makes no attempt to demonstrate by alleging facts, as opposed 

to hollow legal conclusions, as to how the Hale Defendants have subjected themselves to 

jurisdiction within this State.  See id at ¶¶ 12-13, 19 (asserting the legal conclusion that Hale, 

Anderson and Klein’s “contacts with Nevada were so continuous and systematic as to render him 

                                                 
4 Notably, Plaintiff admits that Anderson was not responsible for any of the alleged misleading statements or 
omissions for which he basis any of his misguided claims. See SAC, ¶¶ 64, 85 (defining the 2013 and 2014 “Control 
Defendants” as alleged by Plaintiff). Nevertheless, Plaintiff includes Anderson as a defendant in this action without 
asserting any conduct whatsoever on his behalf related in any way to his claims.  
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at home in Nevada.”); see, e.g., id. at ¶ 20 (making no allegations with respect to any contacts of 

the Investment Entities with the State of Nevada).  

III. ANALYSIS  
 

A. Plaintiff Bears the Burden of Establishing Jurisdiction over Each Defendant. 

The party seeking to invoke the Court’s jurisdiction bears the burden of presenting the 

Court with competent evidence sufficient to establish a prima facie showing of jurisdiction as to 

each defendant.  Trump v. District Court, 109 Nev. 687, 693, 857 P.2d 740, 744 (1993) (“The 

plaintiff must produce some evidence in support of all facts necessary for a finding of personal 

jurisdiction, and the burden of proof never shifts to the party challenging jurisdiction.”). A 

plaintiff cannot establish jurisdiction by simply resting on its allegations, particularly when those 

allegations are mere statements of legal conclusions.  See Trump, 109 Nev. at 692, 857 P.2d at 

743.  Plaintiff has not and cannot present sufficient facts to demonstrate that the exercise of 

personal jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants is proper in this case. 

The Nevada Supreme Court has long held that in order for a court within this state to 

exercise personal jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant, the plaintiff must demonstrate: (1) 

that the requirements of the state’s long-arm statute have been satisfied, and (2) that due process 

is not offended by the exercise of jurisdiction. Trump, 109 Nev. at 698, 857 P.2d at 747.  

However, for all practical purposes, “since Nevada’s long-arm statute has been construed to 

extend to the outer reaches of due process, the two inquiries…may be collapsed into one.”  See 

id. and Baker v. District Court, 116 Nev. 527, 532, 999 P.2d 1020, 1023 (2000) (Nevada’s long-

arm statute, NRS 14.065, reaches the limits of due process set by the United States Constitution). 

Accordingly, under Nevada law, the essential inquiry is whether the exercise of personal 

jurisdiction satisfies due process. 

The due process requirement protects a nonresident from binding judgments in forums 

with which it has established no meaningful contacts, ties, or relations.  International Shoe Co. v. 

Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 319 (1945). In order for a Nevada court to exercise personal 

jurisdiction over a nonresident defendant, the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment 
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requires that the defendant have “minimum contacts” with the forum state such that the 

maintenance of the suit does not offend ‘traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.’”  

Baker, 116 Nev. at 532, 999 P.2d at 1023 (citing Mizner v. Mizner, 84 Nev. 268, 270, 439 P.2d 

679, 680 (1968) (citing International Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945))).  

Importantly, the forum state’s exercise of jurisdiction over a defendant must be reasonable.  Id. 
 
1. This Court Cannot Exercise General Jurisdiction Over the Hale 

Defendants. 
 

Plaintiff’s Amended Complaint failed to allege facts to support the exercise of 

jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants and Plaintiff’s perfunctory revisions to his Second 

Amended Complaint do nothing to remedy that fatal flaw.  For the Court to exercise general 

jurisdiction, Plaintiff must establish facts demonstrating that each of the Hale Defendants’ 

contacts with the State of Nevada are “substantial” or “continuous and systematic” such that 

hailing them into this court is reasonable as they may, in effect, be deemed to be present in the 

forum. Budget Rent-A-Car v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 108 Nev. 483, 485, 835 P.2d 17, 19 

(1992) citing Helicopteros Nacionales de Columbia, S.A. v. Hall, 466 U.S. 408, 416 (1984). As 

the United States Supreme Court recently explained, general jurisdiction should only be 

exercised when the defendant’s contacts with the forum state “are so constant and pervasive as to 

render it essentially at home in the forum State.”  Daimler AG v. Bauman, -- U.S. --, --, 134 S.Ct. 

746, 751 (2014).  

As the Nevada Supreme Court has recognized, “[t]he level of contact with the forum state 

necessary to establish general jurisdiction is high.”  Budget Rent-A-Car, 108 Nev. at 485, 835 

P.2d at 19; see also Trump, 109 Nev. at 699.  In determining if exercising jurisdiction is proper, 

the Court should look to factors such as whether the defendant is incorporated or licensed to do 

business in the forum state, has offices, property, employees or bank accounts there, pays taxes 

in the state or whether the defendant advertises, solicits business, or makes sales in the state. 

Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer Studios Inc. v. Grokster, Ltd., 243 F. Supp. 2d 1073, 1083 (C.D. Cal. 

2003) (citing cases), aff’d, 380 F.3d 1154 (9th Cir. 2004), cert. granted, 73 U.S.L.W. 3247 (U.S. 
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Dec. 10, 2004). The Hale Defendants have no such contacts and the Court cannot properly 

exercise general jurisdiction over any of them.  

With respect to Hale, Klein and Anderson, Plaintiff alleges that each of them has contacts 

with Nevada that were “so continuous and systematic as to render him at home in Nevada.” See 

SAC at ¶¶12-13, 19. Stating such a legal conclusion does not make it so.  Contrary to Plaintiff’s 

baseless allegations, Hale, Klein and Anderson have little if any contacts with the State of 

Nevada.  None of them reside in the State of Nevada, nor have they ever been a resident of this 

state.  Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶ 5; Ex. B, Klein Decl., ¶ 5; Ex. C, Anderson Decl., ¶ 5.  Nor do they 

own any real or personal property within the state, or hold any personal assets within the state.  

Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶ 6; Ex. B, Klein Decl., ¶ 6; Ex. C, Anderson Decl., ¶ 6.  Neither Hale, Klein, 

nor Anderson maintain any offices, bank accounts, telephone or fax numbers, or registered 

agents within the State of Nevada.   Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶¶ 7, 10, 11 and 12; Ex. B, Klein Decl., ¶¶ 

7, 10, 11 and 12; Ex. C, Anderson Decl., ¶¶ 7, 10, 11 and 12. In fact, Hale, Klein and Anderson 

do not hold any licenses issued by any regulatory or administrative body in the State of Nevada, 

any interests in any companies organized under the laws of Nevada, or any managerial or 

employment positions with any such companies.  Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶¶ 8 and 9; Ex. B, Klein 

Decl., ¶¶ 8 and 9; Ex. C, Anderson Decl., ¶¶ 8 and 9. In short, Hale, Klein and Anderson’s 

minimal interactions with the State of Nevada relate to the rare vacation with friends and family, 

occasional attendance at a trade show or seminar, and perhaps a few visits to Midway’s Nevada 

operations for a board meeting, a groundbreaking, or general observations. Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶¶ 

14 and 15; Ex. B, Klein Decl., ¶¶ 14 and 15; Ex. C, Anderson Decl., ¶¶ 14 and 15.  Such 

infrequent and inconsequential contacts do not satisfy the due process requirements to enable this 

Court to exercise general jurisdiction over them or for the Court to consider any of them to be “at 

home” in this state.  Bauman, 134 S.Ct. at 751; Viega GmbH v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct., 130 Nev. 

Adv. Op. 40, 328 P.3d 1152, 1157 (2014). 

Notably, Plaintiff makes no effort to plead any facts claiming that any of the Investment 

Entities has any contacts with the State of Nevada, let alone continuous and systematic ones as 
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would be required to exercise general jurisdiction.  See SAC at ¶ 20. Instead, and as Plaintiff 

concedes in his Second Amended Complaint, each of the Investment Entities is a limited liability 

company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware. SAC at ¶ 20; Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶ 

16. Each of the Investment Entities is a sole-purpose entity formed for the purpose of making 

investments in Midway. Ex. A, Hale Decl., ¶ 17. None of the individual members or managers of 

any of the Investment Entities are residents of the State of Nevada or entities organized under the 

laws of the State of Nevada. Id. at ¶18. In light of the nature of those entities, none of the 

Investment Entities owns property in Nevada, maintains offices, telephone numbers, or 

registered agents in Nevada, holds any licenses in Nevada, or otherwise conducts business in the 

State of Nevada. Id. at ¶¶ 20 - 24. Again, none of the Investment Entities could be considered to 

be “at home” in this state, and this Court cannot exercise general jurisdiction over any of them. 

Bauman, 134 S.Ct. at 751; Viega GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157. 
 

2. This Court Cannot Exercise Specific Jurisdiction over any of the Hale 
Defendants. 

 

Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint fails to allege any facts with respect to the Hale 

Defendants that would permit this Court to exercise personal jurisdiction over any of them. This 

Court may only invoke specific jurisdiction over a defendant when the plaintiff establishes 

through facts each of the following: (1) that the defendant purposefully availed itself of the 

privilege of serving the market in the forum or of enjoying the protection of the laws of the 

forum; (2) that plaintiff’s claim asserted in the complaint arises from the defendant’s purposeful 

contact with the forum state; and, (3) that the exercise of jurisdiction as a result is reasonable 

under the circumstances.  Budget Rent-A-Car, 108 Nev. at 487, 835 P.2d at 20; see also Viega 

GmbH, 328 P.3d at 1157.  Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not contain facts to meet 

its burden with respect to any of these elements. 

No Purposeful Availment.  To survive a motion to dismiss, Plaintiff must demonstrate 

that the Hale Defendants purposefully availed themselves of Nevada’s laws or markets by 

intentionally directing their conduct toward Nevada.  Trump, 109 Nev. at 702, 857 P.2d 750.  
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Plaintiff’s Second Amended Complaint does not contain any allegations that any of the Hale 

Defendants directed any of their actions towards Nevada, as opposed to the operations of a 

Canadian company  Importantly, having a relationship with a company that may conduct some 

business operations in Nevada is not enough to establish specific jurisdiction over a nonresident 

defendant. See Southport Lane Equity II, LLC v. Downey, 177 F.Supp.3d 1286 (D. Nev. 2016).  

Further, any of the other Defendants’ purported contacts with the State of Nevada cannot be 

attributed to any of the Hale Defendants or a basis to find them subject to this Court’s specific 

jurisdiction.  See Downey, 177 F.Supp.3d at 1296 (“[W]hat matters most in this analysis is not 

the corporations own contacts with Nevada but the individual Defendants’ contacts with the 

state.”)  Plaintiff cannot satisfy the threshold element of identify any conduct that purports to 

represent the Hale Defendants purposefully availing themselves to the jurisdiction of this state.  

No Claim Arising from Forum Related Activity.  A plain reading of the Second Amended 

Complaint demonstrates that none of the claims asserted therein arise out of the Hale 

Defendants’ purported limited contacts with the State of Nevada.  Instead, all of Plaintiff’s 

claims are based on his allegations that Midway, in its public filings and press releases, either 

misrepresented statements or omitted statements from those statements. See e.g., id. at ¶¶ 59, 90. 

Even if those statements could somehow be attributed to any of the Hale Defendants, which they 

cannot, all such filings and press releases were disseminated from Midway at its 

Englewood/Denver, Colorado executive headquarters. In fact, the Second Amended Complaint 

allege that any of the Hale Defendants made any representations at all, let alone directly to 

Plaintiff in the State of Nevada.  Rather, Plaintiff alleges that he received any representations 

upon which he bases his claims from the company in his home in California.  See SAC at ¶7. In 

short, Plaintiff cannot articulate how his claims purportedly arise out of the Hale Defendant’s 

transient contacts with the state and jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants is improper as a 

result.   

Exercise of jurisdiction is unreasonable.  Even if Plaintiff could somehow demonstrate 

that the Hale Defendants had purposefully availed themselves of the privilege of doing business 
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in Nevada, or that his claims arose out of the Hale Defendant’s incidental contacts with the State, 

this Court should still not exercise jurisdiction over them as it would be unreasonable to do so 

under the circumstances.  As the United States Supreme Court noted in long ago in International 

Shoe Co., exercise of personal jurisdiction over a defendant is only appropriate if there are 

sufficient “minimum contacts” between the nonresident defendant and the forum state so that the 

maintenance of the suit does not “offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.”  

International Shoe Co., 326 U.S. at 316. As expressed above at length, none of the Hale 

Defendants have any sufficient “minimum contacts” with the State of Nevada that would render 

exercise of jurisdiction reasonable in any situation. See also Ex. A, Hale Decl.; Ex. B, Klein 

Decl.; Ex. C, Anderson Decl. 

Nevertheless, even if there were “minimum contacts” for this Court to consider, exercise 

of specific jurisdiction over any of the Hale Defendants would still be unreasonable.  The 

Nevada Supreme Court has held that the Court should consider the following factors in 

determining if exercise of jurisdiction would be reasonable:  (1) the interstate judicial system’s 

interest in obtaining the most efficient resolution of controversies; (2) the forum state’s interest 

in adjudicating the dispute; (3) the plaintiff’s interest in obtaining convenient and effective relief; 

and (4) the interest of several states in furthering substantive social policies.  Trump, 109 Nev. at 

701, 857 P.2d at 749 (citing World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 292 

(1980)).  None of these factors weigh in favor of exercising jurisdiction and dragging the Hale 

Defendants into Court in Nevada. Nevada has no interest, let alone a compelling interest, in 

adjudicating a dispute between a non-resident Plaintiff and non-resident defendants. This is 

particularly the case where none of the alleged conduct at the heart of the Second Amended 

Complaint took place in Nevada and where the harm was not suffered in Nevada. Nor does this 

Court have any interest in adjudicating claims Plaintiff pleads under the laws of the State of 

California.    
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As the Hale Defendants lack contacts with the State of Nevada, and after weighing the 

relevant factors, exercise jurisdiction in this situation would offend “traditional notions of fair 

play and substantial justice” such that dismissal is proper.     
 

B. The Arguments in the D&O Motion Apply Equally to the Hale Defendants. 

Although Plaintiff was granted leniency by the Court and permitted to amend his 

complaint for a third time, he failed to remedy the same fatal flaws that the Court found in the 

Amended Complaint and as otherwise previously addressed by the parties’ in their prior motions 

to dismiss. Plaintiff’s failure to cure these defects in his latest pleading demonstrates why his 

Second Amended Complaint should be dismissed with prejudice. 

In the interests of judicial economy and efficiency, the Hale Defendants hereby joint in 

the D&O Motion in its entirety.  In doing so, the Hale Defendants hereby adopt and incorporate 

the arguments set forth therein by reference in this Motion in their entirety. The Hale Defendants 

reserve the right to argue the legal arguments and positions set forth in the D&O Motion at the 

time of the consolidated hearing on this Motion and Joinder and the D&O Motion. 

IV.   CONCLUSION 

Plaintiff’s latest effort to replead his claims against the Defendants fails on both the law 

and facts. As set forth in the D&O Motion, Plaintiff lacks standing to pursue his claims as they 

are derivative in nature and his claims are otherwise insufficiently pled. Regardless, even if his 

claims were adequately pled, this Court should still dismiss all of the Hale Defendants from this 

case as this Court has no jurisdiction over any of them.  Either way, Plaintiff’s Second Amended  

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 

/ / / 
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Complaint fails and it should be dismissed in its entirety.   

 DATED this 16th day of March, 2018. 

GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
 
/s/ Christopher R. Miltenberger     
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
 
Counsel for Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 Pursuant to Nev. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(2)(D) and E.D.C.R. 8.05, I certify that on this 16th day 

of March, 2018, I caused a true and correct copy of the foregoing Motion to Dismiss and 

Joinder to D&O Defendants Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint to be filed and e-

served via the Court’s E-Filing System on all parties with an email address on record this action.  

The date and time of the electronic proof of service is in place of the date and place of deposit in 

the U.S. Mail. 
 
 

/s/ Andrea Lee Rosehill 
An employee of GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
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DECL 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; 
RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; 
JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A 
NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 
NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; 
EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25. 
 
                                      Defendants. 

 

 Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.:  XXVII 
 

DECLARATION OF MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR. IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 
TO DISMISS AND JOINDER TO D&O 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
 

 I, Martin M. Hale, Jr., declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the United States 

and the State of Nevada as follows:  

 1. I am a Defendant in the above-captioned matter.  This Declaration is made and 

based upon my own personal knowledge. If called upon to testify to the contents of this 

Declaration, I am legally competent to testify to its contents in a court of law. 
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2. I make this Declaration in support of the Hale Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and 

Joinder to D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint filed 

contemporaneously herewith. 

3. I have served as a member of Midway Gold Corporation’s (“Midway”) Board of 

Directors since December 13, 2012. 

4. Plaintiff’s allegation in the Second Amended Complaint that while with Midway 

my contacts with the State of Nevada were “so continuous and systematic as to render [me] at 

home in Nevada” is patently false and without any basis in fact as demonstrated herein. 

5. I am not now, nor have I ever been, a resident of the State of Nevada. 

6. I do not own any personal or real property in the State of Nevada, nor do I have 

any personal assets in the State of Nevada. 

7. I do not own or maintain any business or personal offices in the State of Nevada. 

8. I do not hold any licenses from any agency, governing body, or regulatory agency 

within the State of Nevada for any purpose. 

9. I do not own any interest in any companies organized under the laws of the State 

of Nevada or having its principal place of business in the State of Nevada. Nor do I hold any 

managerial or employment positions with any such companies or organizations. 

10. I do not maintain any bank accounts in the State of Nevada. 

11. I do not have or maintain any telephone or facsimile numbers in the State of 

Nevada. 

12. I have never been required to maintain, nor have I maintained, a registered agent 

for service in the State of Nevada. 

13. I have never been a party to any lawsuits in the State of Nevada, except for the 

instant case. 

14. My interactions with Nevada are very limited. Between December 2012 and the 

present, I traveled to Nevada on approximately four occasions in connection with my position as 

a member of Midway’s Board of Directors or in connection with the investments made in 
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Midway by INV-MID, LLC, EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC (the “Investment 

Entities”). These visits included attending one board meeting in the State of Nevada, visiting 

Midway’s Nevada operations for a groundbreaking ceremony, and perhaps on one or two other 

occasions to generally observe Midway’s Nevada operations. 

15. Outside of the rare visit to Nevada in connection with observation of Midway’s 

Nevada operations, my interactions with the State of Nevada are even more limited.  Over the 

last decade, I have traveled to Nevada, and in particular Las Vegas, on a few occasions for 

personal vacations with friends and family and attended an hour of one personal development 

seminar that included two colleagues from work in addition to a few friends and approximately 

100 other attendees.   

 16. Each of the Investment Entities named as Defendants in the above-captioned 

action is a limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Delaware.  

 17. Each of the Investment Entities is a sole-purpose entity formed for the purpose of 

making an equity investment in Midway, a publicly traded Canadian corporation incorporated 

under the laws of British Columbia with its principal executive offices located in Englewood, 

Colorado. 

 18. None of the individual members of any of the Investment Entities are residents of 

the State of Nevada.  INV-MID, LLC is managed by Hale Fund Management, LLC, a Delaware 

limited liability company, and its other member is neither a resident of Nevada or entities 

organized under the laws of Nevada. EREF-MID, LLC is managed by Hale Fund Management, 

LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and its other members are neither residents of 

Nevada or entities organized under the laws of Nevada. HCP-MID, LLC is solely owned by Hale 

Capital Partners, LP, is a Delaware limited partnership with its principal place of business in 

New York, New York. 

 19. None of the Investment Entities conducts any business in the State of Nevada. 

 20. None of the Investment Entities owns any personal or real property in the State of 

Nevada.   
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21. None of the Investment Entities owns or maintains any offices in the State of 

Nevada. 

22. None of the Investment Entities hold any licenses from any agency, governing 

body, or regulatory agency within the State of Nevada for any purpose. 

23. None of the Investment Entities hold any telephone or facsimile numbers in the 

State of Nevada. 

24. None of the Investment Entities have ever been required to maintain, nor have 

they maintained, a registered agent for service in the State of Nevada. 

25. None of the Investment Entities have ever been a party to any lawsuits in the State 

of Nevada, except for the instant case. 

26. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the 

State of Nevada that the foregoing is true and correct and that I signed this declaration on this 

16th day of March, 2018. 

 

 
      /s/ Martin M. Hale, Jr.                                

    MARTIN M. HALE, JR. 
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DECL 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; 
RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; 
JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A 
NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 
NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; 
EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25. 
 
                                      Defendants. 

 

 Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.:  XXVII 
 

DECLARATION OF NATHANIEL 
KLEIN IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 
DISMISS AND JOINDER TO D&O 
DEFENDANTS’ MOTION TO 
DISMISS SECOND AMENDED 
COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
 

 I, Nathaniel Klein, hereby declare as follows:  

 1. I am a Defendant in the above-captioned matter.  This Declaration is made and 

based upon my own personal knowledge. If called upon to testify to the contents of this 

Declaration, I am legally competent to testify to its contents in a court of law. 

 2. I make this Declaration in support of the Hale Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and 
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Joinder to D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint filed 

contemporaneously herewith. 

3. I served as a member of Midway Gold Corporation’s (“Midway”) Board of 

Directors from August 8, 2012 until December 13, 2012, and again from June 20, 2013 until 

approximately November 4, 2014. 

4. Plaintiff’s allegation in the Second Amended Complaint that while with Midway 

my contacts with the State of Nevada were “so continuous and systematic as to render [me] at 

home in Nevada” is patently false and without any basis in fact as demonstrated herein. 

5. I am not now, nor have I ever been, a resident of the State of Nevada. 

6. I do not own any personal or real property in the State of Nevada, nor do I have 

any personal assets in the State of Nevada. 

7. I do not own or maintain any business or personal offices in the State of Nevada. 

8. I do not hold any licenses from any agency, governing body, or regulatory agency 

within the State of Nevada for any purpose. 

9. I do not own any interest in any companies organized under the laws of the State 

of Nevada or having its principal place of business in the State of Nevada. Nor do I hold any 

managerial or employment positions with any such companies or organizations. 

10. I do not maintain any bank accounts in the State of Nevada. 

11. I do not have or maintain any telephone or facsimile numbers in the State of 

Nevada. 

12. I have never been required to maintain, nor have I maintained, a registered agent 

for service in the State of Nevada. 

13. I have never been a party to any lawsuits in the State of Nevada, except for the 

instant case. 

14. My interactions with Nevada are very limited. Between 2012 and 2014, I traveled 

to Nevada on approximately four occasions in connection with my position as a member of 

Midway’s Board of Directors or in connection with the investments made in Midway by INV-
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MID, LLC, EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC (the “Investment Entities”). These visits 

included conducting due diligence relating to the potential investment by the Investment Entities, 

attending one board meeting in the State of Nevada, visiting Midway’s Nevada operations for a 

groundbreaking ceremony, and perhaps on one or two other occasions to generally observe 

Midway’s Nevada operations. 

15. Outside of the rare visit to Nevada in connection with observation of Midway’s 

Nevada operations, my interactions with the State of Nevada are even more limited.  Over the 

last decade, I have traveled to Nevada, and in particular Las Vegas, on a few occasions for 

personal vacations with friends and family.  While I have attended a few industry trade shows 

and conventions in Las Vegas, Nevada over the past decade, I have not conducted any business 

in the State of Nevada other than attending such conventions. 

16. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the 

State of Nevada that the foregoing is true and correct and that I signed this declaration on this 

16th day of March, 2018. 

 
      /s/ Nathaniel Klein                                

    NATHANIEL KLEIN 
 

PA0879



 

LV 419863888v1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
              
 

EXHIBIT C 
 

              

 

PA0880



 

Page 1 of 3 
FTL 111665199v1 

G
R

E
E

N
B

E
R

G
 T

R
A

U
R

IG
, L

L
P

 
37

73
 H

ow
ar

d 
H

ug
he

s 
P

ar
kw

ay
, S

ui
te

 4
00

 N
or

th
 

L
as

 V
eg

as
, N

ev
ad

a 
89

16
9 

T
el

ep
ho

ne
:  

(7
02

) 
79

2-
37

73
 

F
ac

si
m

il
e:

  (
70

2)
 7

92
-9

00
2 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

DECL 
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 1625 
CHRISTOPHER R. MILTENBERGER, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar No. 10153 
GREENBERG TRAURIG, LLP 
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway 
Suite 400 North 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169 
Telephone: (702) 792-3773 
Facsimile:  (702) 792-9002 
ferrariom@gtlaw.com  
miltenbergerc@gtlaw.com 
 
Counsel for Defendants Martin M. Hale, Jr., 
Trey Anderson, Nathaniel Klein, INV-MID, LLC, 
EREF-MID II, LLC, and HCP-MID, LLC 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 

DANIEL E. WOLFUS, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
KENNETH A. BRUNK; RICHARD D. 
MORITZ; BRADLEY J. BLACKETOR; 
TIMOTHY HADDON; MARTIN M. 
HALE, JR.; TREY ANDERSON; 
RICHARD SAWCHAK; FRANK YU; 
JOHN W. SHERIDAN; ROGER A 
NEWELL; RODNEY D. KNUTSON; 
NATHANIEL KLEIN; INV-MID, LLC; a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; 
EREF-MID II, LLC, a Delaware Limited 
Liability Company; HCP-MID, LLC, a 
Delaware Limited Liability Company; and 
DOES 1 through 25. 
 
                                      Defendants. 

 

 Case No.:  A-17-756971-B 
Dept. No.:  XXVII 
 

DECLARATION OF TREY 
ANDERSON IN SUPPORT OF 
MOTION TO DISMISS AND 
JOINDER TO D&O DEFENDANTS’ 
MOTION TO DISMISS SECOND 
AMENDED COMPLAINT 
 
 
 
 

 I, Trey Anderson, declare under penalty of perjury of the laws of the United States and 

the State of Nevada as follows:  

 1. I am a Defendant in the above-captioned matter.  This Declaration is made and 

based upon my own personal knowledge. If called upon to testify as to the contents of this 

Declaration, I am legally competent to testify to its contents in a court of law. 
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 2. I make this Declaration in support of the Hale Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss and 

Joinder to D&O Defendants’ Motion to Dismiss Second Amended Complaint filed 

contemporaneously herewith. 

3. I have served as a member of Midway Gold Corporation’s (“Midway”) Board of 

Directors since November 4, 2014. 

4. Plaintiff’s allegation in the Second Amended Complaint that while with Midway 

my contacts with the State of Nevada were “so continuous and systematic as to render [me] at 

home in Nevada” is patently false and without any basis in fact as demonstrated herein. 

5. I am not now, nor have I ever been, a resident of the State of Nevada. 

6. I do not own any personal or real property in the State of Nevada, nor do I have 

any personal assets in the State of Nevada. 

7. I do not own or maintain any business or personal offices in the State of Nevada. 

8. I do not hold any licenses from any agency, governing body, or regulatory agency 

within the State of Nevada for any purpose. 

9. I do not own any interest in any companies organized under the laws of the State 

of Nevada or having its principal place of business in the State of Nevada. Nor do I hold any 

managerial or employment positions with any such companies or organizations. 

10. I do not maintain any bank accounts in the State of Nevada. 

11. I do not have or maintain any telephone or facsimile numbers in the State of 

Nevada. 

12. I have never been required to maintain, nor have I maintained, a registered agent 

for service in the State of Nevada for any purpose. 

13. I have never been a party to any lawsuits in the State of Nevada, except for the 

instant case. 

14. My interactions with Nevada are very limited. As a member of Midway’s Board 

of Directors, I attended one board meeting and a few site visits in the State of Nevada. 

15. My interactions with the State of Nevada other than in connection with my 
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membership on Midway’s Board of Directors are even more limited.  Over the last decade, I 

have traveled to Nevada on a few occasions for personal vacations with friends and family and 

attended a personal development seminar that included two colleagues from work in addition to a 

few friends and approximately 100 other attendees.  While I have attended a few industry trade 

shows and conventions in Las Vegas, Nevada, and one or two site visits for an unrelated project 

outside of Reno, Nevada over the past decade, I have not personally conducted any business in 

the State of Nevada. 

16. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States and the 

State of Nevada that the foregoing is true and correct and that I signed this declaration on this 

16th day of March, 2018. 

 
        /s/ Trey Anderson     

    TREY ANDERSON 
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